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we help companies to grow their business in new and existing markets.
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our continuing sustainable and profitable growth. The majority of our products we
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contributing to the resilience of our business model.

DKSH AR Cover_FINAL.indd 2

5/14/15 2:16 PM

> DKSH Holdings (Malaysia) Berhad: Annual Report 2014

Contents

2

Corporate information

40

Directors’ report

3

Chairman’s statement

44

Statement by Directors

6

Management discussion and analysis

44

Statutory declaration

9

DKSH at a glance

45

Independent auditors’ report

9

Financial highlights

47

Statements of comprehensive income

11

Corporate profile

49

Statements of financial position

17

Directors’ profiles

51

Statements of changes in equity

21

Corporate structure

53

Statements of cash flows

23

Corporate governance statement

57

Notes to the financial statements

35

Statement on risk management and
internal control

117 Analysis of shareholdings
120 Notice of Annual General Meeting

37

Audit Committee report
		Proxy Form

39

Statement of Directors’ responsibility

1

> DKSH Holdings (Malaysia) Berhad: Annual Report 2014

Corporate information

Board of Directors
Michael Lim Hee Kiang

Independent Non-Executive Chairman

James Armand Menezes

Independent Non-Executive Director

Datuk Haji Abdul Aziz bin Ismail

Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

Alexander Stuart Davy

Independent Non-Executive Director

Jason Michael Nicholas McLaren

Non-Independent Executive Director/Group Finance Director

John Peter Clare

Non-Independent Executive Director

Lian Teng Hai

Non-Independent Executive Director

Audit Committee
James Armand Menezes

Chairman of the Audit Committee

Michael Lim Hee Kiang

Member

Datuk Haji Abdul Aziz bin Ismail

Member

Nominating Committee
Michael Lim Hee Kiang

Chairman of the Nominating Committee

James Armand Menezes

Member

Alexander Stuart Davy

Member

Registered office
Address: 74 Jalan University, 46200 Petaling Jaya,
Selangor Darul Ehsan

Phone +60 3 7966 0288
Fax +60 3 7956 0401

Auditors
Ernst & Young, Chartered Accountants
Address: Level 23A, Menara Milenium, Jalan Damanlela,
Pusat Bandar Damansara, 50490 Kuala Lumpur

Phone +60 3 7495 8000
Fax +60 3 2095 9076 / 2095 9078

Share registrar
Tricor Investor Services Sdn Bhd
Address: Level 17, The Gardens North Tower, Mid Valley City,
Lingkaran Syed Putra, 59200 Kuala Lumpur

Phone +60 3 2264 3883
Fax +60 3 2282 1886

Stock Exchange listing
Listed on Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad
(Main Market) since December 13, 1994
Company Secretaries
Chew Ann Nee, MAICSA 7030413
Andre’ Chai P’o-Lieng, MAICSA 7062103
Principal bankers
Deutsche Bank (Malaysia) Berhad
HSBC Bank Malaysia Berhad
Malayan Banking Berhad
Public Bank Berhad

2

Stock name: DKSH
Stock code: 5908

> DKSH Holdings (Malaysia) Berhad: Annual Report 2014

Chairman’s statement

The segment “Others” was impacted by a more competitive retail
market, which affected the performance of the Famous Amos
business. Despite this more challenging retail environment, we
remained committed to further investments in the retail outlets and
grew the Famous Amos outlets to 95 nationwide. These investments
were taken to continue strengthening the brand awareness and
enable future sales growth for Famous Amos.
Investments into the infrastructure
After five years of strong and continued profit growth, the Group
further strategically invested into its infrastructure. Our new
Healthcare distribution center in Shah Alam, which we commissioned
at the end of 2013 and which had been fully operational throughout
2014, enabled us to continue the strong growth in the Logistics
segment and bring in new clients in this promising healthcare market.
The new Healthcare distribution center has also set new benchmarks
in our regulatory services as well as supply chain capabilities and
service offering, catering to the increasing requirements of the
pharmaceutical and medical devices industry.

Michael Lim Hee Kiang
Chairman, DKSH Holdings (Malaysia) Berhad

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I am pleased to present the
Annual Report and the audited financial statements of DKSH
Holdings (Malaysia) Berhad (“the Group”) for the financial year
ended December 31, 2014.
Continued net sales growth
In 2014, the Group’s net sales grew by 5% from RM 5.09 billion
to RM 5.34 billion, in line with our focus to deliver sustainable,
profitable sales growth. Compared to previous years, our core client
portfolio showed a stronger sales performance, whilst certain large,
but low margin clients saw declining sales.
In line with our corporate strategy, the focus in 2014 was on
enhancing organic growth through expanding business with
existing clients and new business development. The Group’s two
largest business segments, Marketing and Distribution as well as
the Logistics segment, both recorded good sales growth primarily
by growing sales and market share for the Group’s more than
170 clients. Moreover, during the year under review, the Logistics
segment also saw successful business development, which led to
acquiring new clients and new growth opportunities for the Group.

During the year under review, we also prepared for the relocation
of our distribution center for fast moving consumer goods and
healthcare products in Kota Kinabalu, Sabah. Given the market
opportunities and promising growth rates in the East Malaysia
market, the Group committed to a larger distribution center which
is equipped with upgraded and more modern facilities to allow us to
strategically grow. The new distribution center and the new offices
in Kota Kinabalu have become fully operational in April 2015.
Apart from investing in new infrastructure, the Group has also
remained focused on operational efficiencies to convert economies
of scale into continued profit growth. The Group’s SAP platform,
as well as its sales force automation systems, remain an integral
part of our IT system and allow us to engage closely with clients,
presenting and exchanging information on a real time basis, an
increasingly important criteria for clients in selecting their preferred
Market Expansion Services provider.
Good organic sales growth and efficiencies further supported the
financial performance of the Group.
In 2013, profit before tax was positively impacted by the sale of
the Group’s property and the disposal of DKSH Transport
Agencies, which resulted in extraordinary gains of RM 97.3
million and RM 8.6 million respectively. Profit after tax from
continuing operations declined by 65.0% from RM 171.2 million
to RM 59.9 million in 2014, due to the extraordinary gains in 2013.
After eliminating the extraordinary gains in 2013 and the related
tax impact, profit after tax declined marginally by 3.4% from
RM 62.0 million to RM 59.9 million.
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Chairman’s statement

(continued)

Sustainability
The Group remains committed to high ethical standards and good
corporate governance which we view as a key differentiator and a
business advantage. In 2014, we updated and extended polices and
established training programs for all employees.
We also continued the implementation of our corporate sustainability
framework which is centered on community initiatives and
philanthropy. We continued to support local charity programs
through donation and volunteering efforts of our local employees.
One of the highlights included our annual Fantree Club Alladdin
Charity Run, where more than 600 employees participated to raise
funds for local charities.
With a focus on our most valuable asset, our employees, we
continued and extended learning and development programs,
empowering high performing individuals throughout the Group to
grow their careers with DKSH. During the year 2014, we created job
opportunities by increasing our employee base by 6.8% to 2,800.
Our approach in growing our business has also always been one
of mutual success between DKSH, its clients and customers with a
focus on environmental aspects.
Dividends
The Board of Directors is pleased to recommend a final single tier
dividend of 9.5 sen per ordinary share for shareholders’ approval at
the Company’s twenty-third Annual General Meeting in June 2015.
This reflects a continued dividend payout rate and a total payout of
approximately RM 15.0 million.
Outlook
The Group takes a positive outlook on 2015, based on new business
development with sizeable new clients which have commenced at
the end of 2014 and beginning of 2015, supporting the underlying
sales growth of the existing client base. Our investments in
distribution centers in 2014 and the move to new offices in mid-2015
are crucial and timely to support this growth. The move to a new,
scalable and efficient head office in Kelana Jaya with an investment
of RM 22.1 million in capital expenditure will further strengthen our
position as an employer of choice in the Malaysian market.
The Group was well prepared for the implementation of the Goods
and Services Tax (GST) on April 1, 2015.
The growth prospects in our markets and Business Segments remain
promising. Our diversified client and customer portfolio supports
sustainable sales growth, whilst our marketing and distribution
infrastructure with a capillary distribution reach sets us apart from
peers in a fragmented industry, which we expect to consolidate.
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Operational risk management processes and controls, supported
by an industry leading IT system, continue to support the Group’s
existing businesses as well as new clients.
With our highly diversified and scalable business model, DKSH
is ideally positioned to benefit from the growing middle class in
Malaysia which supports the demand for consumer goods and
healthcare products, and increased outsourcing to specialist services
providers like DKSH.
Acknowledgements
2014 was an exciting and rewarding year, as we strategically invested
in the Group’s infrastructure for sustainable, profitable growth. What
we have achieved would not have been possible without the hard
work of the management team and the 2,800 specialists at our 23
business locations throughout Malaysia. On behalf of the Board, I
would like to express my sincere appreciation for their passion and
commitment. I would also like to thank our clients and customers
for their continued trust and support in growing our mutual business
throughout Malaysia and Brunei.
Our well diversified Board of Directors has been further strengthened.
I would like to take this opportunity to welcome Lian Teng Hai and
Jason Michael Nicholas McLaren to the Board and I am convinced
the Board will benefit from the extensive experience both gentlemen
bring to the Company. I wish to also extend my appreciation to my
fellow Board members for their counsel and valuable contribution.
In March 2015, John Peter Clare has taken on a new role as Vice
President, Business Unit Healthcare in DKSH Thailand. We thank
him for his contribution and dedication in his four years as Group
Finance Director of the Company and wish him all the best in his
future endeavors.
In December 2014, the Company celebrated its 20th anniversary
of listing on Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. With this, I would
also like to thank you, our valued shareholders, for your continued
trust in our Company.

Michael Lim Hee Kiang
Chairman
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Management
discussion and
analysis
The management review of the Group outlines an in-depth
analysis of the financial year 2014 and provides an outlook
into DKSH’s further growth.
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Management discussion
and analysis
Summary
In 2014, the Group continued the
implementation of its strategy for
sustainable, profitable growth. Net sales
grew by 5% from RM 5.09 billion in 2013 to
RM 5.34 billion in 2014. While the Group’s
core client portfolio recorded a solid sales
growth, certain large, lower-margin clients
experienced a declining sales performance
in a competitive market environment,
which affected the Group’s overall net sales
growth.
The net sales growth of the Group’s core
client portfolio was primarily a result of
organic sales growth from the more than
170 clients, whilst its two main business
segments, Marketing and Distribution and
Logistics additionally contributed to the
growth. The Healthcare business under the
Logistics segment was especially successful in
acquiring numerous and sizeable new clients
from strong new business development.
As the leading Market Expansion Services
provider in Malaysia, our 2,800 specialists
continue to be our most important asset to
secure continued business growth for our
clients and the Group. In 2014, we have
continued to invest in our training and
development programs with the aim to
improve skills and capabilities.
Investments into infrastructure
to support future sustainable,
profitable growth
In 2014, our focus was on the investments
into our infrastructure and capacity to
continue enabling the strong growth the
Group had shown in the last five years. In
2013, the Group had approved and initiated
the move into a new Healthcare distribution
center in Shah Alam, which became fully
operational in 2014. Strategically located
with easy access, the distribution center
serves the Group’s Healthcare customers
nationwide, including hospitals, clinics,
dental centers, pharmacies and retail outlets.
It has also set quality assurance benchmarks,
which are increasingly important to our
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Healthcare clients, by being the first
service provider to be awarded the Good
Distribution Practice for Medical Devices
certification by Malaysia’s Medical Device
Authority in 2014.
During 2014, we also prepared for our
head office relocation to The Ascent at
the Paradigm in Kelana Jaya. The move, a
significant infrastructure upgrade provided
by the adjacent Paradigm Mall, will take
place in mid-2015 and will involve 1,200
employees. The new and modern offices
with an investment of RM 22.1 million in
capital expenditure will further strengthen
our position as an employer of choice in the
Malaysian market.
Another infrastructure project focusing on
a strategic geographic market in Malaysia
was the investment in a new distribution
center in Kota Kinabalu, Sabah. This larger
and more advanced facility is expected
to support the growth potential in the
promising and growing East Malaysian
market for both our Consumer Goods as
well as our Healthcare businesses.
In summary, 2014 was an investment
year for DKSH, in line with strategic plans
to secure a strong platform for future
sustainable, profitable growth. The 2014
performance also needs to be considered in
the context of an extraordinary year in 2013,
where the Group’s profits were positively
impacted by the sale of land and property
and the sale of its non-core subsidiary,
DKSH Transport Agencies, which resulted in
extraordinary gains of RM 97.3 million and
RM 8.6 million respectively. Profit before tax
from continuing operations decreased by
57.8% from RM 190.4 million in 2013 to
RM 80.4 million in 2014. After elimination
of the extraordinary gains in 2013, profit
before tax declined marginally by 4.9% from
RM 84.5 million in 2013 to RM 80.4 million
in 2014. Profit after tax from continuing
operations declined by 65.0% from RM
171.2 million to RM 59.9 million, again due
to the extraordinary gains in 2013. After

eliminating these extraordinary gains and
the related tax impact, the profit after tax
declined only by 3.4% from RM 62.0 million
to RM 59.9 million.
This performance is attributed to investments
undertaken in the Healthcare distribution
center and additional costs mainly from
the relocation of the distribution center,
as well as the new rental costs from the
Group’s offices, which we no longer own.
Based on a continued rigorous focus on the
Group’s working capital, we also maintained
a positive operating cash flow of RM 56.5
million in 2014.
Marketing and Distribution segment
For the Marketing and Distribution segment,
the Group provides the full range of
services along the value chain. The service
portfolio ranges from marketing and sales,
to distribution and logistics, invoicing and
credit control, handling of inventory and
trade returns and other value added services.
This segment comprises the Fast Moving
Consumer Goods business and on a smaller
scale, the Performance Materials business.
In 2014, net sales for this segment grew
by 5.6% to RM 2.40 billion from RM 2.27
billion in 2013. Against the backdrop of
a very strong performance and better
margin mix in 2013, this segment showed
a marginal decline in operating result of
2.7% from RM 61.4 million to RM 59.8
million in 2014.
The net sales performance in this segment
was delivered primarily through the existing
client portfolio. Whilst new business
development was a key focus, new clients
only commenced sales in the last month of
2014 and are therefore expected to support
growth in 2015.
The Group’s Performance Materials business
made steady progress, both through
growing existing clients and businesses
as well as winning new clients. The focus
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Management discussion
and analysis
(continued)

on a solutions-oriented business model,
combined with new business development
had been successful.

and ensures the integrity in the strongly
regulated value chain for pharmaceutical
and medical device products.

The Group remains positive on the continued
growth in this segment–fueled by the
increasing demand for consumer goods
by the rising middle class in Malaysia, as
well as a trend for companies to outsource
non-core activities. Moreover, new business
development resulted in clients appointing
DKSH to support them with Market
Expansion Services at the end of 2014 which
is expected to support a positive momentum
in 2015.

The rising middle class in Malaysia continues
to be a growth driver for the Healthcare
business as it creates more demand
for pharmaceuticals, over-the-counter
products and medical devices. In addition,
pharmaceutical companies are increasingly
focusing on their core competencies and
are relying on specialist service providers to
expand sales in new and existing markets.

Logistics segment
For the Logistics segment, the Group
provides supply chain services ranging from
warehousing and distribution, to order
processing and sales collections. Sales
and marketing services for clients in this
segment are generally not provided by the
Group, but are mostly run by its clients. The
businesses represented under this segment
include the Healthcare business and supply
chain focused parts of the Consumer Goods
business.
Net sales from continuing operations grew
by 4.7% from RM 2.75 billion in 2013 to
RM 2.88 billion in 2014. Operating result
from continued operations for this segment
improved strongly by 13.3% from RM 19.8
million to RM 22.4 million.
The Healthcare business under this segment
saw strong organic growth with existing
clients. Furthermore, the Group’s business
development initiatives had been successful
and resulted in a number of new clients,
which further supported growth. These
initiatives were complemented by enhancing
operational processes and efficiencies,
economies of scale, expanding our service
offering and further strengthening the fullservice solutions business in all channels. The
new dedicated Healthcare distribution center
in Shah Alam further supports the increasing
need for quality and regulatory services

Separately, the telephone cards business
under this segment, which accounts for a
material part of net sales, had a challenging
year and recorded declining sales, which
affected the overall sales performance of
this segment.
Segment “Others”
This segment consists most notably of
the Famous Amos chocolate chip cookie
retail chain, as well as unallocated central
overheads.
The Famous Amos business was impacted
by a challenging retail environment and
continued investments into the branding
and retail footprint of the business. Net
sales declined slightly by 1.3% from RM
61.9 million to RM 61.1 million. The
operating result for this segment dropped
by 99.2% from RM 105.1 million in 2013
to RM 0.9 million in 2014. This decline is
a consequence of the sale of the Group’s
property in the fourth quarter 2013, a
reduction in corresponding rental income
in this segment after the sale, as well as
continued investments in the retail footprint
and infrastructure of Famous Amos to secure
further long-term sales growth.
Strategy for sustainable
profitable growth
The cornerstone for our strategy for
sustainable, profitable growth is the
continuous expansion and improvement of
our successful business model. We continue

to what we do best by doing more of the
same, more efficiently. Our initiatives in
2014 have focused primarily on growing our
existing client portfolio and investing in our
infrastructure to continue the strong growth
shown in the last five years.
Additionally, we have focused on new
business development which will support
further growth in 2015. We will continually
strengthen and expand our range of service
offerings for our clients across the value
chain, whilst striving to be the sales channels’
partner of choice of our customers.
We are committed to being a strategic,
proactive and strong partner, who helps
our clients and customers to secure and
increase their market share and to grow
their business.
Outlook
We maintain a generally positive outlook
for the Group. The Group provides a
comprehensive portfolio of services along
the entire value chain, integrated and
tailored to the needs of our business
partners. Well-diversified and highly scalable
in terms of products, services and client
portfolios, our business is resilient and has
high entry barriers.
During 2014, we have also laid the
foundations for future growth by investing
into our infrastructure. New business
development across the segments Marketing
and Distribution and Logistics also looks
promising and will complement our main
focus on growing existing client businesses.
As we grow, we are also continuously
focused on rigorous efficiency programs
and economies of scale. Furthermore, our
operational risk management processes and
internal controls, supported by a strong IT
system platform, will continue to drive cost
savings and support the business.
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Management discussion
and analysis
(continued)

The Group was also well prepared for the
implementation of the Goods and Services
Tax (GST) in Malaysia and saw a positive
go live on April 1, 2015. As the leading
Market Expansion Services provider of
choice, we worked closely with our clients
and customers in the implementation of
GST, which also culminated in a seminar
DKSH organized for 200 business partners
and employees with the Royal Malaysian
Customs.
Two market trends additionally support the
promising growth prospects for the Group.
Firstly, the rising middle class in Malaysia
creates increased demand for consumer
goods and pharmaceutical products.
Secondly, manufacturers are increasingly
focusing on their core competencies and
outsourcing other elements of the value
chain to specialist service providers like
DKSH.

John Peter Clare
Non-independent Executive Director
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DKSH at a glance

We help companies to grow their business in new and existing markets. We expand their access to knowledge, their sourcing base,
their revenue opportunities and their market shares. Providing business partners with a comprehensive package of services to reach their
individual goals is what we call Market Expansion Services.

Net sales:
RM 5.3 billion
2,800
specialists
23 business
locations
4 ISO-certified distribution centers
and 8 regional distribution centers
Network of more than 170 clients
and 13,000 customers

Financial highlights
Consolidated results of DKSH Holdings (Malaysia) Berhad Group (RM’000)
2010

2011

3,867,610

4,260,749

4,724,726

1

Profit before tax

45,556

67,687

94,014

1

Net profit attributable to owners of
the parent

27,963

44,346

77,762		

1,107,605

1,240,147

184,909

222,182

Net sales

Total assets employed
Shareholders’ equity

2012		

1,283,469		
290,810		

2013		
5,085,623

2

2014
5,339,481

190,445		

80,415

174,828		

59,911

1,384,023		
449,187		

1,495,561
473,633

Notes:
1
The comparatives for the financial year 2012 have been restated to exclude the disposed subsidiaries namely DKSH Transport Agencies (M) Sdn Bhd and
Macro Consolidators (M) Sdn Bhd.
2
The comparatives for the financial year 2013 have been restated to conform to current year’s presentation.
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Unique
value
We offer our clients the services they need most,
tailor-made to their specific requirements.
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Corporate profile

What we do
As the No.1 Market Expansion Services
provider with a focus on Asia, DKSH helps
companies to grow their business in new
and existing markets. We do this by offering
our business partners tailor-made solutions
along the value chain to support them in
successfully achieving their goals.
Deeply rooted in Malaysia
DKSH is one of the oldest and largest Market
Expansion Services providers in Malaysia. Its
first branch office was established in 1923
in Penang. The Company has since grown
from strength to strength employing a
workforce of over 2,800 specialists. Today,
DKSH’s new office in Kelana Jaya, Selangor
and its 23 business locations serve more than
170 clients and 13,000 customers across
Malaysia, providing unparalleled market
coverage nationwide.

DKSH Holdings (Malaysia) Berhad was
incorporated on December 24, 1991. On
December 13, 1994, the Company was
publicly listed on the Main Board of Bursa
Malaysia Securities Berhad. In 2014, the
Group celebrated its 20th anniversary listing
on Bursa Malaysia.
DKSH Holdings (Malaysia) Berhad is majorityowned by the DKSH Group of Switzerland.
DKSH Group of Switzerland
As the industry leader in Asia, DKSH is the first
choice for clients seeking a trust-worthy and
reliable Market Expansion Services partner
who can guarantee the integrity of their value
chain and the quality of their services.
Publicly listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange
since March 2012, DKSH is a global company
headquartered in Zurich. With 750 business

locations in 35 countries - 720 of them in
Asia – and 27,600 specialized staff, DKSH
generated net sales of CHF 9.8 billion in 2014.
In 2015, DKSH celebrates its 150th
anniversary. With strong Swiss heritage,
the Company has a long tradition of doing
business in and with Asia, and is deeply
rooted in communities and businesses across
Asia Pacific.
The Company offers a tailor-made,
integrated portfolio of sourcing, marketing,
sales, distribution, and after-sales services. It
provides business partners with expertise as
well as on-the-ground logistics based on a
comprehensive network of unique size and
depth. Business activities are organized into
four specialized Business Units that mirror
DKSH fields of expertise: Consumer Goods,
Healthcare, Performance Materials, and
Technology.

Touching the daily lives of millions of Malaysians, DKSH provides a vast portfolio of products for daily use, including many well-known local and international brands.
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Corporate profile

(continued)

Our business segments
Our business segments focus on the
fields of consumer goods, healthcare
and performance materials, and offer a
comprehensive range of Market Expansion
Services to business partners in their
respective areas.
Marketing and Distribution segment
Under this business segment, the Group
provides a comprehensive portfolio of services
ranging from marketing, to providing sales
force, distribution and logistics, invoicing
and credit control, handling of inventory
and returned goods and other value-added
services. The businesses represented under
this segment are Consumer Goods and
Performance Materials.
The keystone to the Group’s full-service
business model lies in its broad range of sales
and marketing services, deep market-access
insights and knowledge, long-established
relationships in the country, and unique
distribution reach achieved through an
Our sales force is equipped with mobile handheld devices allowing our field-based sales force to instantly
execute sales orders and review inventory application for total sales force effectiveness.

extensive and experienced sales force
network of 23 regional offices covering key
market locations in West and East Malaysia
as well as Brunei.
Core to the Group’s Marketing and
Distribution infrastructure is an ISO-certified
550,000 square feet distribution center at
Jalan Sungai Jati in Shah Alam which has a
capacity of 55,000 pallets for ambient and
temperature controlled products catering for
Consumer Goods.

DKSH’s field marketers keeping track of OldTown
White Coffee in-store.
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The strength of our sales force is reinforced
by an extensive supply chain infrastructure
that is unique in size and depth, while
local distribution teams ensure products
represented by DKSH are widely accessible
in hyper and supermarkets, shops, kiosks,
medical halls, and pharmacies throughout
Malaysia.

The majority of DKSH’s sales team is
equipped with handheld devices using a
powerful web-based IT application that is
linked directly to the Group’s SAP system
to access live inventory information and
remotely process orders at any time.
Alternatively, orders are also placed by
customers directly through the centralized
call center.
Logistics segment
The Group’s Logistics services focuses on
supply chain services ranging from import to
forwarding, warehousing and distribution,
order processing and collections. The
businesses represented in this segment are
primarily Healthcare and parts of Consumer
Goods, which are entirely supply chaincentric. This also includes the distribution
of prepaid telephone cards.
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Corporate profile

(continued)

The new Healthcare distribution center in Shah Alam underlines DKSH’s commitment to continue its investment and growth in Malaysia. It will increase operational
efficiencies, enhance our capabilities and drive our business expansion.

The Logistics segment continues its growth
course with the opening of a new distribution
center in Shah Alam in 2014. The Healthcare
distribution center is strategically located with
easy access for fast inbound and outbound
transportation in Hicom Industrial Estate,
Shah Alam. Serving more than 13,000
customers, including hospitals, clinics,
dental centers, pharmacies and retail outlets
throughout Malaysia, the distribution center
provides a significant capacity upgrade
with 130,000 square feet of space which
stores more than 11,000 pallets. The
distribution center is currently a leading
service provider for clinical trial supply chain
activities, addressing the increasingly complex
clinical trial supply packaging, labeling and
distribution requirements. Its technologicallyadvanced cold chain and redressing facilities
has industry leading standards storage of
vaccines and bio-tech products.

for Medical Devices (GDPMD) certification
issued by the Medical Device Authority
of Malaysia, strengthening the Group’s
capabilities and service offerings along the
entire value chain.
To reach more customers in a timely
manner nationwide, the Marketing and
Distribution and the Logistics segments’
two main distribution centers are further
supported by ten branches in East Malaysia
(including Brunei) which have their own
Consumer Goods distribution centers, while
two additional ISO-certified Healthcare

distribution centers in Kuching and Kota
Kinabalu ensure the highest standards of
operational and supply chain efficiencies.
Segment “Others”
The primary business activity in this segment
is the Famous Amos chocolate chip
cookie business and also includes central
unallocated overheads. Famous Amos is a
retailer of chocolate chip cookies as well
as selected assortment of complementary
products such as hampers, gifts, chocolates
and confectionery items. In 2014, there were
a total of 95 Famous Amos outlets located
in West and East Malaysia.

Built in line with DKSH’s dedication to quality
and compliance, the facility complies with
Good Distribution Practices (GDP) and Good
Manufacturing Practices (GMP) as well as
adheres to strict ISO 9001:2008 and ISO
13485:2003 international standards.
In 2014, the distribution center has set
quality assurance benchmarks by being
the first service provider in Malaysia to be
awarded the Good Distribution Practice

Freshly baked in store throughout the day, our Famous Amos business has extensive presence in Malaysia
with 95 outlets in shopping malls and airports across the country.
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Corporate profile

(continued)

Comprehensive portfolio of services along the value chain
Market
analysis and
research

Marketing
and
sales

Distribution
and
logistics

After-sales
services

Customers

Clients

Sourcing

Tailor-made, integrated service portfolio
Backflow of information from customers to clients
enabled by fully integrated and centralized IT platform
Blanket market coverage across Asia Pacific

DKSH offers companies integrated and
tailor-made Market Expansion Services along
their entire value chain:

training and run acceptance tests. We turn
our market insight into strategic advice for
our business partners.

We provide access to a global
sourcing network
Our unique sourcing network and a deep
industry experience enable us to provide
any materials and products our customers
need. We offer the perfect mix of cost
effectiveness, quality and dependable
supply. With DKSH, business partners can
expand their sourcing base and focus on
growing their business.

We open up new revenue
opportunities for business partners
We offer a complete array of marketing
and sales services for consumer goods,
healthcare products and performance
materials. We have a long-standing track
record in brand-building and service all
relevant channels to market, customers and
outlets. In Malaysia, we offer comprehensive
market coverage to help our business
partners grow their business.

We enable business partners
to innovate for growth
In our application, formulation and product
development laboratories, we generate new
product ideas and develop and customize
them. We work on new ingredients and
technology applications, provide hands-on
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We deliver what our business partners
need, at the right time and place
With our unmatched logistics infrastructure
and state-of-the-art distribution centers,
we transport, store and distribute clients’
products efficiently and professionally across

the country. As part of our comprehensive
package of Market Expansion Services, we
provide many additional specialized services,
including supply chain management,
regulatory support, logistics, invoicing and
cash collection.
We are at our business partners’ service
throughout the entire lifespan of their
products
We provide a broad range of after-sales
services and support that ensures top quality
standards, fast problem resolution and the
ability to establish a high-value image.
We offer real added value to clients and
customers alike.
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By working closely with our business partners, we enable them to benefit from market insights, reduced time-to-market intervals and new revenue opportunities.

How we work with our partners
At DKSH, our business partners are either
clients or customers, depending on their
position in the value chain and the services
we provide to them. Our business model
is centered on DKSH’s role as the key link
between clients and customers. We help
our partners in growing and adding value to
their business and enable them to achieve
lasting success.
As a result of our position as the leading
Market Expansion Services provider with a
focus on Asia, we benefit from economies
of scale, unique cross-regional and crossindustry synergies and significant bargaining
power with the trade.

Leveraging on our strong market presence,
clients can capitalize on the superior
commercial terms and conditions made
available by DKSH. On the other hand, our
scope and scale allows us to provide our
customers a comprehensive portfolio of
products and services. Our business partners
recognize that growth is more profitable if
they focus on their core competencies and
outsource other elements of the value chain
to specialist services providers such as DKSH.
Our clients
Our clients – manufacturers of fast moving
c o n s u mer goods , pharmac euti c al s ,
consumer health products and medical

devices and specialty chemicals – wish to
sell their products in markets with high
entry barriers.
Strategically, our clients want to grow their
business by increasing sales in existing
markets, enhancing efficiency and margins,
or launching into new markets. We offer
Market Expansion Services to clients from
Europe and the Americas, and increasingly
also for clients originating in Asia.
We support our clients in marketing, selling
and distributing their products, as well as
providing after-sales services and market
insight.
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Our customers
Our customers are either retailers such as
supermarkets, department stores, momand-pop stores, doctors, hospitals or
pharmacies who resell the products we
provide to end customers, or manufacturers
to whom we provide raw materials.
Strategically, our customers want to increase
their sourcing base, market shares and
revenue opportunities.
We support our customers in obtaining the
best products, brands and raw materials at
the best price, while providing them with
knowledge and market insight.

In Malaysia, DKSH represents over 170 clients and distributes their products to over 13,000 customers ranging
from local sundry shops to hypermarkets, from medical halls to pharmacies and hospitals, and from animal
farms to highly specialized science laboratories.

Consumer goods, healthcare products

Client

Customer

B2B/B2C
Market insight

Market insight

Manufacturer

Retailer
Manufacturer

B2B
Specialty chemicals and ingredients
We support our clients in marketing, selling
and distributing products, provide after-sales
services and market insight in new and
existing markets.
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We support our customers in getting the
best products, brands and raw materials
at the best price, and we provide them
with knowledge and market insights.
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Michael Lim Hee Kiang
Aged 67, Malaysian
Independent Non-Executive Chairman
Member of the Audit Committee
Chairman of the Nominating Committee

Mr Michael Lim Hee Kiang was appointed
as Director of DKSH Holdings (Malaysia)
Berhad on December 24, 1991 and as
Chairman of the Board on January 1, 1999.
He continued to serve as a member of the
Audit Committee after he relinquished
his position as Chairman of the Audit
Committee on December 10, 2004. He was
appointed as a member of the Nominating
Committee on February 26, 2013 and
subsequently re-designated as Chairman
of the Nominating Committee on February
25, 2014.
Mr Lim, an advocate and solicitor, was a
partner of Messrs Shearn Delamore & Co.
for 30 years, and subsequently a consultant
before he retired from the firm. Mr Lim is
now a consultant to Messrs Jeff Leong,
Poon and Wong, a leading law firm in
Malaysia. He graduated with a Bachelor of
Laws (Hons.) degree in 1972 and obtained a

Mr James Armand Menezes was appointed
as an Independent Non-Executive Director
and a member of the Audit Committee of
DKSH Holdings (Malaysia) Berhad on July
19, 2004. He was subsequently appointed
as the Chairman of the Audit Committee
on December 10, 2004 and a member of
the Nominating Committee on February
25, 2014.

James Armand Menezes
Aged 69, Malaysian
Independent Non-Executive Director
Chairman of the Audit Committee
Member of the Nominating Committee

Mr Menezes, a qualified Certified
Public Accountant (CPA) and Chartered
Accountant, spent 25 years with Ernst &
Young of which he was a partner for 13
years. He was the Managing Partner of the
Kuala Lumpur office of Ernst & Whinney
(now known as Ernst & Young) for five years
before he retired from the firm on June
30, 1990. He was also a partner of Ernst &
Young, Hong Kong, Singapore, Brunei, and
Indonesia. Mr Menezes represented those
offices in Ernst & Young’s international
Technical Committee for five years and was
also the Chairman of the Far East Technical
and Training Committee. During his term

Master of Laws degree with distinction from
the Victoria University of Wellington, New
Zealand in 1973. On returning to Malaysia
in 1974, Mr Lim was admitted to the High
Court of Borneo and subsequently to the
High Court of Malaya in 1978. He was a
lecturer at the Law Faculty, University of
Malaya from 1975 to 1977.
Mr Lim sits on the boards of the various
subsidiaries of DKSH Holdings (Malaysia)
Berhad. He also sits on the boards of
Paragon Union Berhad, Selangor Properties
Berhad, Sumatec Resources Berhad and
Hektar Real Estate Investment Trust.
Mr Lim does not have any family relationship
with any Director and/or major shareholder
of DKSH Holdings (Malaysia) Berhad, nor
any conflict of interest with the Company.
He has had no convictions for any offences
within the past ten years.

in office, he undertook quality control
assignments at Ernst & Young’s offices in
other parts of the world. On his retirement
from Ernst & Young in 1990, he set up a
company under the name of JA Menezes
& Associates Sdn Bhd which was later
dissolved in 2001 when he fully retired from
practice.
During the ten years from 1990 to 2000,
Mr Menezes held board positions in private
and public listed companies in the United
Kingdom, Australia, Singapore, Hong
Kong and Malaysia. He is an active council
member, on a voluntary basis, of Hospis
Malaysia, a non-governmental organization
limited by guarantee.
Mr Menezes does not hold any directorship
in other public companies. He does not
have any family relationship with any
Director and/or major shareholder of DKSH
Holdings (Malaysia) Berhad, nor any conflict
of interest with the Company. He has had
no convictions for any offences within the
past ten years.
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Datuk Haji Abdul Aziz bin Ismail was
appointed as a Non-Independent NonExecutive Director and a member of the
Audit Committee of DKSH Holdings
(Malaysia) Berhad on July 19, 2007.

Datuk Haji Abdul Aziz bin Ismail
Aged 62, Malaysian
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director
Member of the Audit Committee

Datuk Haji Abdul Aziz graduated with a
Master of Business Administration from
Eastern Illinois University, United States of
America and with a Bachelor of Arts in
Business Administration from Augustana
College, United States of America. He also
holds an Advanced Diploma in Information
Systems from the Canberra University
Australia on a Colombo Plan Scholarship.
In 1993, he attended the Advanced
Management Program at Wharton University
of Pennsylvania, United States of America,
and participated in the INSEAD Advanced
Management Program at Fontainebleau,
France, in July 2005.
Datuk Haji Abdul Aziz is currently the
General Manager of Perbadanan Perwira

Mr Alexander Stuart Davy was appointed
to the Board of DKSH Holdings (Malaysia)
Berhad on January 28, 2008 as a NonIndependent Non-Executive Director and as
a member of the Nominating Committee
on February 26, 2013. Mr Davy was
re-designated as an Independent NonExecutive Director on February 25, 2014
having fulfilled the criteria of independent
director as set out in the Main Market Listing
Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities
Berhad.
Alexander Stuart Davy
Aged 57, British
Independent Non-Executive Director
Member of the Nominating Committee
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Mr Davy graduated from the University of
Bristol with a Bachelor of Science degree
in Economics in 1978. He is a member of
the Institute of Chartered Accountants
(ACA) in the United Kingdom with 30
years of experience in the finance field.
After qualifying in the UK, he worked for
Price Waterhouse in the United States of
America and Hong Kong. He subsequently
joined First Pacific Group for eight years,
initially at its corporate office in Hong Kong

Harta Malaysia, a subsidiary corporation
of Lembaga Tabung Angkatan Tentera
(“LTAT”), a post he assumed since May 9,
2011. He was formerly the Deputy Chief
Executive of LTAT from January 6, 2001
till May 8, 2011 and also served as the
General Manager of the Ex-Serviceman
Affairs Corporation (PERHEBAT), a subsidiary
corporation of LTAT from January 1995
till December 2000. Prior to joining LTAT,
he was a Senior Auditor attached to the
Auditor-General’s office of Malaysia from
April 1977 to May 1985. He was formerly a
director of Affin Fund Management Berhad
and Boustead Al-Hadharah REIT.
Datuk Haji Abdul Aziz does not hold any
directorship in other public companies. He
does not have any family relationship with
any Director and/or major shareholder of
DKSH Holdings (Malaysia) Berhad, nor any
conflict of interest with the Company. He has
had no convictions for any offences within
the past ten years.

for the first three years before he transferred
to Berli Jucker, a listed company on the
Stock Exchange of Thailand and served as
its Chief Financial Officer and as a director
for the next five years. Mr Davy joined the
DKSH Group in 1998 as the Chief Financial
Officer of Diethelm Thailand, the Group’s
largest operation and was the Group Chief
Financial Officer from 2005 to 2011 based
initially in the corporate office in Zurich and
later in the DKSH Group Finance Center in
Singapore. Presently, Mr Davy is a director of
Angkor Hospital for Children in Siem Reap,
Cambodia.
Mr Davy does not hold any directorship in
other public companies. He does not have
any family relationship with any Director
and/or major shareholder of DKSH Holdings
(Malaysia) Berhad, nor any conflict of
interest with the Company. He has had no
convictions for any offences within the past
ten years.
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Mr Jason Michael Nicholas McLaren was
appointed to the Board of DKSH Holdings
(Malaysia) Berhad on February 26, 2015 as
a Non-Independent Non-Executive Director.
Mr McLaren was subsequently re-designated
as a Non-Independent Executive Director on
April 15, 2015 following his appointment as
the Group Finance Director of the Company.

Jason Michael Nicholas McLaren
Aged 39, Australian
Non-Independent Executive Director/
Group Finance Director

John Peter Clare
Aged 44, British
Non-Independent Executive Director

Mr McLaren graduated with a Master of
Commercial Law and Master of Business
Administration from Deakin University,
Australia and with Bachelor of Financial
Administration and Bachelor of Arts (Political
Science) from University of New England,
Australia. He is a Certified Practicing
Accountant, CPA Australia. Mr McLaren
has more than 13 years of collective
international exposure and experience in
financial management as country finance
director, financial controller, management
accountant and financial reporting analyst
in diverse industries and several continents.

He joined DKSH Singapore in 2011 where
his last position was Head of Country
Management – DKSH Singapore and
Indonesia, Country Finance Director – DKSH
Singapore and President Director – DKSH
Indonesia, overseeing DKSH’s operations
in Singapore and Indonesia. Before that,
he worked for Fosroc International Limited
from 2009 to 2011 as Regional Financial
Controller, during which he took on a
regional role and had responsibility for all
finance related functions in eight countries
across Asia.
Mr McLaren sits on the boards of the various
subsidiaries of DKSH Holdings (Malaysia)
Berhad. He does not hold any directorship
in other public companies. He does not
have any family relationship with any
Director and/or major shareholder of DKSH
Holdings (Malaysia) Berhad, nor any conflict
of interest with the Company. He has had
no convictions for any offences within the
past ten years.

Mr John Peter Clare was appointed as the
Group Finance Director of DKSH Holdings
(Malaysia) Berhad on March 1, 2011. In
March 2015, he took on the responsibility
to lead the Business Unit Healthcare in
DKSH Thailand as Vice President Business
Unit Healthcare. Mr Clare subsequently
relinquished his position as the Group
Finance Director of the Company on April
15, 2015 but continues to serve as a member
of the Board.

department out of Hong Kong. In this
capacity, he has overseen the audit activities
of the world-wide DKSH Group and has
over the years supported various corporate
initiatives and projects. Since the end of
2008, Mr Clare has headed the Group’s Risk
Management department based in Hong
Kong. In November 2010, he took on the
responsibility for DKSH’s finance activities
in Malaysia as the Country Finance Director
and relocated to Kuala Lumpur.

Mr Clare graduated from the Swiss business
school of St. Gallen with a Master of
Arts (Major in Finance and Accounting).
Thereafter he worked for three years in the
Corporate Audit department of Roche, a
Swiss pharmaceutical company. In 1999,
he joined Diethelm Thailand in Internal
Audit and has since 2003 headed the
world-wide DKSH Group Internal Audit

Mr Clare does not hold any directorship in
other public companies. He does not have
any family relationship with any Director
and/or major shareholder of DKSH Holdings
(Malaysia) Berhad, nor any conflict of
interest with the Company. He has had no
convictions for any offences within the past
ten years.
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Mr Lian Teng Hai was appointed to the
Board of DKSH Holdings (Malaysia) Berhad
on February 26, 2015 as a Non-Independent
Executive Director.

Lian Teng Hai
Aged 61, Malaysian
Non-Independent Executive Director
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Mr Lian holds a Diploma in Marketing from
the Chartered Institute of Marketing, United
Kingdom. He is presently the Regional Vice
President of the DKSH Group. Prior to this,
he was responsible for the sales, distribution
and supply chain of fast moving consumer
goods, telecommunication products and the
operation of food retail chain stores in the
position as Head of Business Unit Consumer
Goods. Mr Lian has 41 years of experience in
several industries covering industrial products
distribution, fast moving consumer goods,
printing and photo imaging, timepieces and
vehicle fleet management. He previously
held various positions within Jasa Kita
Engineering Sdn Bhd, a company involved
in the manufacturing, assembling and
distribution of electric motors, power tools
and other industrial equipment from 1975
to 1988. He joined The East Asiatic Co (M)
Berhad in 1988 where his last position was

General Manager of Technical Marketing
Division and Consumer Product Division in
1992. From 1992 to 1996, Mr Lian was an
Executive Director of Marco Corporation
(M) Sdn Bhd, a company specializing in
distribution and chain store retailing of
timepieces. In 1996, he was invited by
Spanco Sdn Bhd to head a privatization
project involving vehicle fleet management
of all the saloon vehicles of the Government
of Malaysia. Mr Lian was formerly an
Independent Director and Chairman of the
Audit Committee of Marco Holdings Berhad
(2003 to 2011) and GPA Holdings Berhad
(2011 to 2013). He is an honorary advisor
to the Kuala Lumpur and Selangor Watch
Association since 1994.
Mr Lian sits on the boards of the various
subsidiaries of DKSH Holdings (Malaysia)
Berhad. He also sits on the board of Jasa Kita
Berhad. Mr Lian does not have any family
relationship with any Director and/or major
shareholder of DKSH Holdings (Malaysia)
Berhad, nor any conflict of interest with the
Company. He has had no convictions for any
offences within the past ten years.
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DKSH Holdings (Malaysia) Berhad

100%

100%

DKSH Malaysia
Sdn Bhd

The Famous Amos
Chocolate Chip Cookie
Corporation (M)
Sdn Bhd

DKSH Logistics
Services Sdn Bhd

DKSH Management
Malaysia Sdn Bhd

DKSH Distribution
Malaysia Sdn Bhd

DKSH Central Services
Malaysia Sdn Bhd

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

DKSH Marketing
Services Sdn Bhd

100%

DKSH (B) Sdn Bhd
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DKSH’s Board of Directors has committed itself to maintaining the
highest standards of integrity and transparency in its governance.
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We believe that good corporate governance
and sustainable business performance are
intertwined. The Board of Directors of the
Company (“the Board”) is committed to
upholding high standards of corporate
governance and ensuring comprehensive
application of the principles and
recommendations set out in the Malaysian
Code on Corporate Governance 2012 (“the
Code”). In this process, the Board and
Management are furthermore supported
by the initiatives of the international DKSH
Group of Switzerland (“DKSH Switzerland”).
The Board is pleased to report to shareholders
on the Group’s corporate governance
practices during the financial year ended
December 31, 2014 in accordance with
the Code and the Main Market Listing
Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities
Berhad (“Listing Requirements”).
Board matters
Board composition and size
The Board consists of seven members: an
Independent Non-Executive Chairman, two
Independent Non-Executive Directors, a
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director
and three Non-Independent Executive
Directors, of which one is also the Group
Finance Director.
The Board composition and size are
periodically assessed by the Board through
the Nominating Committee. The Board had
two new members appointed to the Board
on February 26, 2015 with the view on
strengthening the Board composition, size
and diversity required to meet the current
and future needs of the Company. The
Independent Directors which constitute
more than one-third of the composition of
the Board, provide a check and balance in
the functioning of the Board and enhance its
effectiveness. All members of the Board have
extensive professional background, bringing
with them vast experience and knowledge.
Their profiles are set out on pages 17 to 20
of this Annual Report.

Roles and responsibilities of the Board
The Board has the overall responsibility
for the Company’s strategic planning and
direction, and for overseeing the conduct
of the Company’s business, corporate
governance, investor relations, risks
management practices and internal controls.

Board balance and effectiveness
The Board has the right mix of skills,
experience and knowledge relevant
to effectively direct and supervise the
Company’s business activities and ensure
that the interests of all stakeholders are
adequately protected.

The Board has adopted a Board Charter which
formalizes clear roles and responsibilities for
the discharge of the Board’s fiduciary and
leadership functions. The Board Charter is
subject to review by the Board as necessary
to determine its adequacy for current
circumstances, the Company’s policies
and applicable rules and regulations and is
available on the Company’s website at www.
dksh.com.my

The Independent Directors provide
an effective check and balance in the
functioning of the Board. Their presence is
essential in providing unbiased, objective
and impartial opinion, advice and judgment
to the Board deliberations, mitigating risks
of any possible conflict of interest or undue
influence from interested parties.

In executing its responsibilities, the Board
has established dedicated committees
and functions, and conducts respective
performance reviews. Notwithstanding
the delegation of specific authority to the
Board Committees, the Board remains
responsible for its fiduciary duties. The Board
also ensures the senior management is of
sufficient caliber to implement the Board’s
strategies and corporate objectives and
promote sustainability, taking into account
the interest of various stakeholders.
As the Company is majority-owned by
DKSH Switzerland, it practices a world-wide
executive management program covering
succession planning, including appointing,
training, fixing the compensation of and
where appropriate, rotating and replacing
senior management.
The Board also establishes a corporate
culture which ensures that ethical conduct
is permeated throughout the Company. The
Company’s Code of Conduct complemented
by Group Policies and Guidelines, clearly
express the Company’s expectations as an
employer and provides detailed guidance to
employees on expected business and ethical
behaviour. The Code of Conduct includes
an internal reporting process for events
of non-compliance and is available on the
Company’s website at www.dksh.com.my

The Independent and Non-Executive
Directors play key roles in the Board
Committees, namely Audit and Nominating
Committees in shaping, contributing ideas
and assisting the Board in making informed
decisions towards the development and
strengthening of the governance structures
of the Company. None of the Non-Executive
Directors participate in the day-to-day
management of the Group.
There is a distinct division of roles and
responsibilities of the Chairman of the
Board and the Group Finance Director. The
Chairman of the Board is an Independent
Non-Executive Director who provides
leadership at Board level and is responsible
for encouraging overall Board and individual
Directors effectiveness, drawing their
respective knowledge, strength, experience
and skills. The Group Finance Director, who
is also an Executive Director, has overall
responsibilities over the Group’s operational
and business units organisation effectiveness
and implementation of strategies, policies
and matters approved by the Board are
effectively implemented. The Group Finance
Director is responsible for the management
of the Group’s business and also functions
as the intermediary between the Board and
Management.

23

> DKSH Holdings (Malaysia) Berhad: Annual Report 2014

Corporate governance statement

Appointment to the Board
The Nominating Committee is responsible
for the nomination and election process
and for making recommendations to the
Board for appointment of new Directors. The
Board, after reviewing recommendations of
the Nominating Committee, evaluates the
suitability of an individual to be appointed.
The Board sets out expectations on the
character, knowledge, experience, integrity,
competence and time commitment for its
members and protocols when assessing
new appointments. As recommended
by the Nominating Committee, a Board
Diversity Policy was adopted by the Board
in 2015, taking into account the provisions
under the Code. The Policy articulates the
diversity attributes and needs of the Board
and the approach it would take to address
such needs and in the process strengthen
its composition. The Policy plays an integral
role in the selection of candidates for Board
membership. Whilst the Board recognises
and embraces the benefits of Board diversity,
the Board believes in providing equal
opportunities to all based on merit as well
as complementing and expanding the skills,
knowledge and experience of the Board as
a whole.
Re-election/Election of Directors
In line with the Listing Requirements,
all Directors of the Company shall retire
from office at least once every three
years whilst pursuant to the Company’s
Articles of Association, one third of the
Directors will retire by rotation at the
Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the
Company. A retiring Director shall be eligible
to offer himself for re-election subject to
shareholders’ approval.
Two Directors, namely Michael Lim Hee
Kiang and Alexander Stuart Davy are due
for retirement at the forthcoming AGM
pursuant to Article 105 of the Company’s
Articles of Association and having both
been last re-elected at the 2012 AGM. Being
eligible, both have expressed their intention
to seek re-election at the forthcoming AGM.
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The Board is satisfied that both the
retiring Directors who are independent
Directors, will continue to bring to bear
their knowledge, experience and skills
and contribute effectively to the Board’s
discussions, deliberations and decisions and
that they continue to fulfil the criteria for
independence as prescribed in the Listing
Requirements. In February 2015, the Board
approved the recommendation of the
Nominating Committee that both Directors
are eligible to stand for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM.
Jason Michael Nicholas McLaren and Lian
Teng Hai who were appointed by the Board
in February 2015, are subject to election
at the forthcoming AGM pursuant to
Article 101 of the Company’s Articles of
Association. The Nominating Committee
also reviews the Directors who are subject
to election to ensure they will continue to
contribute. The Board has approved the
Nominating Committee’s recommendation
to support their election.
The profiles of the retiring Directors standing
for re-election/election at the forthcoming
AGM of the Company, is set out on pages
17 to 20 of this Annual Report.
Board assessment
The Nominating Committee is responsible
to conduct an annual assessment on
the effectiveness of the Board, Board
Committees, as well as the performance of
individual Directors and his independence
where applicable. The assessment aims at
ensuring the Board members, individually
and collectively, work efficiently and
effectively in achieving their responsibilities
as set out in the Board Charter or the
respective terms of reference of the Board
Committees.
The assessment of the Board was structured
to ensure a balanced and objective review
by the Directors in key areas. The internally
developed criteria used in the assessment
are guided by the Corporate Governance
Guide issued by Bursa Malaysia Securities

(continued)

Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) and customized
to meet the expectations of the Board and
the Company. Where appropriate, the
Nominating Committee will review the
assessment criteria.
The assessment questionnaires are designed
using rating scales to assist the evaluation
process. All Board members completed
the assessment questionnaires on a
confidential basis. The Directors’ responses
are collated and a comprehensive summary
of the findings and recommendations is
submitted to the Nominating Committee
for evaluation, after which, the findings and
recommendations are escalated to the Board
for its consideration and proposed actions
based on the Nominating Committee’s
recommendations. All Directors’ responses
from the annual assessment conducted were
formally and properly documented.
Independence of Directors
One of the recommendations of the
Code sets out that the tenure of an
Independent Director should not exceed
a cumulative term of nine years, and if an
Independent Director continues to serve
on the Board upon completion of the nine
years, he is subject to be re-designated as
a Non-Independent Director. The Code also
recommends that the Board must justify and
seek shareholders’ approval in the event it
retains an Independent Director who has
served in that capacity for more than nine
years without re-designation as a NonIndependent Director.
The Board takes the view that the ability of
an Independent Director to serve effectively
is a function of his conduct, judgement,
caliber and integrity in discharging his
responsibilities in the best interest of the
Company and various stakeholders.
The Board also acknowledges that significant
advantages are gained from the long-serving
Directors who possess valuable insights and
sound knowledge of the Group’s business
affairs and operations. In addition, the Board
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does not set any term limit for Directors
as the Board is of the opinion that the
independence of a Director should not be
determined merely on the basis of his tenure
of service which does not in any way impair
his independent judgement nor his ability to
act in the best interests of the Group.
In view of the above, the Board has
adopted alternative practices as detailed
below. The Board, taking into account the
assessment conducted by the Nominating
Committee, reviews the independence
of all Independent Directors annually.
The Nominating Committee adopts
the assessment criteria provided in the
Bursa Securities’s Corporate Governance
Guide. Further, an annual confirmation
of independence is obtained from the
respective Independent Directors affirming
that they are independent of management
and free from any business or other
relationship which could interfere with
the exercise of independent judgement
or the ability to act in the best interests
of the Group as prescribed in the Listing
Requirements.
For the year under review, the Nominating
Committee and the Board had, after
evaluating the aforesaid annual assessment
and considering the annual declaration

made by Independent Directors, concluded
that all Independent Directors of the
Company had satisfied the criteria for an
independent director as prescribed in the
Listing Requirements. The Board is also
satisfied with the level of independence
demonstrated by these Directors in the
management, and objective in expressing
their views and in participating in
deliberations and decision making of the
Board and Board Committees.

(continued)

annual Schedule of Meetings is circulated
to allow Directors to plan ahead.
All Directors have demonstrated their time
commitment towards fulfilling their roles
and responsibilities as Directors of the
Company, evidenced by the attendance
record of the Directors at Board and
Board Committee meetings. During 2014,
four Board meetings were held and the
attendance of each Director thereat is set
out in the table below.

The Board justified that two of the
Independent Directors of the Company,
namely Michael Lim Hee Kiang and James
Armand Menezes, each of whom have
served in the capacity of Independent
Directors for more than nine years, shall
continue to serve on the Board without redesignation as Non-Independent Directors
or the need for shareholders’ approval.

Matters specifically reserved for the Board’s
decision, including quarterly interim financial
results, are forwarded to its members prior
to the meetings. The Board is given sufficient
time to evaluate reports and proposals and
if necessary, request additional information
to enable the Board to make informed and
effective decisions.

Board meetings and supply of Board
information
The Board meets at least four times a year,
with additional meetings convened on
an ad-hoc basis as and when decisions
on urgent matters are required between
scheduled meetings. The meetings of the
Board and Board Committees are scheduled
in advance of the calendar year and an

The Chairman of the Board and Board
Committees ensures that all its members
are given ample opportunity to express
their views and opinions during meetings.
Discussions, decisions and conclusions are
duly recorded in the minutes of meetings,
which are circulated to Board members and
subsequently confirmed by the Chairman of
the meeting.

The Board : Composition and attendance at the Board meetings held in 2014
Directors

Designation

Michael Lim Hee Kiang

Independent Non-Executive Chairman

4/4

James Armand Menezes

Independent Non-Executive Director

4/4

Datuk Haji Abdul Aziz bin Ismail

Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

4/4

Alexander Stuart Davy

Independent Non-Executive Director

4/4

John Peter Clare

Non-Independent Executive Director/
Group Finance Director

4/4

Thon Lek
(Resigned on February 25, 2014)

Independent Non-Executive Director

1/1*

*

No. of meetings attended

Total number of meeting held prior to resignation.
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The Chairman of the respective Board
Committee informs the Directors at Board
meetings of any salient matters raised at
the respective Board Committee meetings
which require the Board’s notice or direction.
There are no restrictions for Directors,
individually or collectively, to obtain
independent professional advice at the
Company’s expense in furtherance of their
duties, as and when the need arises. The
Board also has access to information on
the affairs the Group which allows it to
oversee the Company’s business affairs and
performance, and has access to the advice
and services of senior management and the
Company Secretaries.
Support of Company Secretaries
The Company Secretaries are qualified
Chartered Secretaries and support the Board
in carrying out its roles and responsibilities.
They play an advisory role to the Board
and facilitate overall compliance with the
relevant requirements, codes or guidance
and legislations including communication
of key decisions and recommendations

between the Board, Board Committees and
Management. They also ensure statutory
records of the Company are properly
maintained and relevant disclosures,
submissions and filings are made in a timely
fashion to the regulators on behalf of the
Company and the Board.
Directors’ training
All Directors including the newly appointed
Directors have attended and completed
the Mandatory Accreditation Programme
as prescribed by Bursa Securities and
are aware of the continuing education
program requirement pursuant to the Listing
Requirements.
The Board evaluates the training needs of the
Directors on a continuous basis and ensures
its members have access to appropriate
continuing education programs to enhance
their business acumen and professionalism
in discharging their duties. The Directors
devote sufficient time to regularly expand
their knowledge and enhance their skills
to enable them to actively participate
and contribute in their deliberations,

(continued)

discussions and decisions at Board and
Board Committee levels. The Board is also
kept informed of the requirements and
updates issued by Bursa Securities and other
regulatory authorities. The Board takes a
strong view of the importance of developing
a better understanding of the business of the
Group and conducts site visits.
During the financial year under review, all
Directors attended a number of training
and seminar programs covering topics
on finance, governance, corporate and
global business and industry developments,
which they have individually or collectively
considered as relevant in the discharge of
their duties as Directors of the Company.
The Company Secretaries facilitate the
organization of internal training programs
and Directors’ attendance at external
programs including keeping Directors
informed of relevant external programs. A
complete record of all internal and external
programs attended by the Directors are kept
and maintained by the Company Secretaries.

Details of internal and external training programs, seminars, briefings etc attended by the Directors in 2014:
• Briefing on 2013 Bank Negara Malaysia Annual Report/Financial Stability
and Payment Systems Report
• Goods and Services Tax Seminar
• Annual Director Duties, Governance and Regulatory Updates Seminar 2014
• Board Chairman Series: The Role of the Chairman
• Overview of ESG Index and Industry Classification Benchmark
• Briefing on Goods and Services Tax
• Appreciation & Application of ASEAN Corporate Governance Scorecard
• CAAANZ-MICPA Audit Forum: Risk Management – Walking the Talk
• Seminar on amendments and changes to several MFRS standards applicable
in 2014 and IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers
Notes:
DAA		
JAM		
JC		
ML		
SD		
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Datuk Haji Abdul Aziz bin Ismail
James Armand Menezes
John Peter Clare
Michael Lim Hee Kiang
Alexander Stuart Davy

March, 20 2014

JC

April 19, 2014
April 22, 2014
June 23, 2014
August 20, 2014
August 26, 2014
August 27, 2014
September 5, 2014
September 30, 2014

JAM
DAA & JAM
ML
JC
ML, JAM, DAA, SD & JC
SD
JAM
JC
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Directors’ remuneration
The determination of the remuneration
of the Directors is a matter of the Board
as a whole. The remuneration payable to
Non-Executive Directors is proposed by
the Board and is subject to shareholders’
approval at the Annual General Meeting
of the Company. The remuneration shall
be commensurate with the experience,
expertise and responsibilities undertaken
and role played by the individual Director
concerned.
As the Company is majority-owned by
DKSH Switzerland, the remuneration of
the Executive Director is based on DKSH
Switzerland’s own world-wide remuneration
policy and procedures which are set in line
with international standards. Hence, the
Board is of the opinion that a remuneration
committee is not required. The Executive
Director’s remuneration is established by
evaluating the scope of his function within
the context of the Malaysian market, and the
responsibilities and skills required to perform
the role successfully subject to the annual
internal performance review. In addition,
the remuneration of the Executive Director
is also directly linked to the achievement
of actual financial results and financial key
performance indicators of the Group.
Details of Directors’ remuneration (both
Executive and Non-Executive) is shown
under Note 6 of the Company’s audited
financial statements for the financial year
ended December 31, 2014 on page 76
of this Annual Report. The aggregate
remuneration of Directors for the financial
year ended December 31, 2014 analysed
into the appropriate bands of RM 50,000 is
set out in the table below.

Range of remuneration

Board Committees
Nominating Committee
The Nominating Committee of the
Company was established by the Board in
February 2013. The Nominating Committee
comprises three Independent Non-Executive
Directors and exclusively of Non-Executive
Directors. The Board had designated
Michael Lim Hee Kiang, Chairman of the
Nominating Committee as the Senior
Independent Director to whom concerns
may be conveyed.
Duties and responsibilities of the Nominating
Committee are set out in its terms of
reference approved by the Board which are
available on the Company’s website at www.
dksh.com.my
The Nominating Committee met once
during the year under review with full
attendance of its members. Details of the
activities undertaken by the Nominating
Committee in discharging its duties during
2014 are set out as below:
(i)

Evaluated the proposed re-designation
of Alexander Stuart Davy from a NonIndependent Non-Executive Director
to an Independent Non-Executive
Director having fulfilled the criteria of
independent director as set out in the
Listing Requirements for its approval by
the Board;
(ii) Reviewed and recommended for the
Board’s approval of the proposed change
of membership in the Nominating
Committee following the resignation
of Thon Lek as a Director on February
25, 2014 and the relinquishment of
his position as the Chairman of the
Nominating Committee;
(iii) Assessment of the training needs of
Board Members through the assessment
of individual Directors;

(continued)

(iv) Evaluated the eligibility of the retiring
Directors by rotation to stand for reelection at the previous Annual General
Meeting held in 2014. Criteria used in
this assessment are guided by the Bursa
Securities’s Corporate Governance
Guide; and
The Nominating Committee also
evaluates the nomination and election
of Board and Board Committee
members, and makes recommendations
to the Board for its approval. Criteria
used in the selection process takes into
account the current and future needs
of the Company. During the financial
year under review, there was no Board
nomination, election or appointment of
a new Director to the Board.
(v) Conducted annual assessments of the
Board, Board Committees, individual
Directors and the independence of
Independent Directors. Criteria used
in these assessments are guided
by the Bursa Securities’s Corporate
Governance Guide after taking into
consideration the current and future
needs of the Company.
The annual assessment of each
individual Director enables the Board to
ensure that each of the Board members
including the Group Finance Director
has the character, experience, integrity,
competence and time to effectively
discharge the respective role.
The Nominating Committee was
satisfied that the Board has the right
size and the Board composition is
well balanced having considered the
appropriate mix of skills, experience,
strength and independence and the
diversity required to meet the current
and future needs of the Company.

No. of Executive Director

No. of Non-Executive Director

RM 50,000 and below

–

4

RM 50,001 to RM 100,000

–

1

RM 1,350,001 to RM 1,400,000

1

–

Note:
Remuneration paid to Executive Director includes salary and bonus, as well as other employee benefits.
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Audit Committee
The Audit Committee of the Company
was established by the Board in September
1994 and comprises solely of Non-Executive
Directors, two of whom are Independent
Directors. The Chairman of the Audit
Committee, an Independent Director, is
a qualified Chartered Public Accountant
and Chartered Accountant. The Audit
Committee engages on a continuous
basis with the senior management of
the Company, as well as the internal and
external auditors.
During 2014, the Audit Committee met four
times with full attendance of its members.
Details of the activities undertaken by the
Audit Committee during the financial year
under review and the summary of duties
and responsibilities as outlined in the Audit
Committee’s terms of reference approved by
the Board are set out in the Audit Committee
Report on pages 37 and 38 of this Annual
Report. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee are available on the Company’s
website at www.dksh.com.my
Accountability and audit
Financial reporting
The Board is responsible for ensuring that
the financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of the affairs of the
Company and the Group.
The Board, assisted by the Audit Committee,
oversees the Group’s financial reporting
process, compliance with applicable
accounting standards and the quality of
its financial reporting. Based on the Audit
Committee’s recommendation, the Board
approves the quarterly and annual financial
statements of the Group for disclosure to the
shareholders and the regulatory authorities.
The Statement of Directors’ Responsibility in
respect of the Audited Financial Statements
for the year ended 2014 is set out on page
39 of this Annual Report.
Relationship with the Auditors
Through the Audit Committee, the Board
maintains a formal and professional
relationship with the internal and external
auditors and ensures the Company has
transparent procedures with the auditors
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in line with the auditors’ professional
requirements. The role of the Audit
Committee in relation to both auditors is
described in the terms of reference of the
Audit Committee which is available on the
Company’s website at www.dksh.com.my
The Audit Committee reviews and discusses
with the external auditors any issues arising
from the interim and final audits, audit
plans, audit findings and other matters of
concern. The Audit Committee members
meet with the external auditors at least once
a year without the presence of any Executive
Director and Management.
For the financial year under review, the
external auditors confirmed that they are
and have been independent throughout the
audit engagement. The Audit Committee
makes its own annual assessment of their
suitability and independence in connection
with the recommendation to retaining them
as auditors and also ensures that provisions
of other non-audit services rendered by them
are not in conflict with their audit function.
Risk management and internal controls
T h e B o a rd m a i n t a i n s a s o u n d r i s k
management framework and internal
control system to safeguard shareholders’
investment and the Group’s assets. The
Board recognises its overall responsibility
for the Group’s internal control system
and its effectiveness including reviewing its
adequacy and integrity.
The Group adopts a balanced and pragmatic
risk management approach in achieving its
objectives. An overview of the state of risk
management and internal controls of the
Group is set out in the Statement on Risk
Management and Internal Control on pages
35 and 36 of this Annual Report.
Shareholder communication and
investor relations
The Company acknowledges the need for
shareholders to be informed of all material
business matters affecting the Company. The
Company observes a corporate disclosure
policy in accordance with Bursa Securities’s
Corporate Disclosure Guide and has in place
appropriate corporate communications
policies and procedures when liaising

(continued)

with shareholders and investors to ensure
dissemination of information that is factual,
accurate and clear in a timely manner.
In addition to various announcements
made during the year, the timely release
of quarterly financial results provides
shareholders and the investing public with
an overview of the Group’s performance
and operations. Shareholders and the
investing public may also obtain the upto-date information and activities of the
Company and/or the Group, corporate
announcements, quarterly results and annual
reports by accessing the Company’s website.
The Company maintains and ensures that its
website is current, informative and contains
information relevant to all shareholders.
The AGM is the principal platform of
communication with shareholders of
the Company. The Board encourages
shareholders’ participation during question
and answer sessions at the AGM and provides
sufficient opportunity for shareholders to
communicate their concerns. The external
auditors are invited to the meeting to
provide their professional and independent
view to shareholders, if required.
The Board will ensure that any votes of
shareholders required to be taken on a poll
at the general meeting are provided for and
complied with.
At the last AGM, the Group Finance Director
provided an overview of the business
and outlook including explanation of the
operational and financial performance of
the Group to enable shareholders to make
an informed decision. The Group Finance
Director also shared with shareholders
the Company’s responses to questions
submitted in advance of the AGM by the
Minority Shareholder Watchdog Group.
The Group’s Investor Relations function plays
an important role in providing proactive
engagements and communication with
shareholders and investors. The Company
conducts regular investor relations meetings,
and welcomes the visit of investors for
dialogue or discussions on the performance
of the Group. The Group Finance Director is
available for such meetings and queries or
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issues regarding the Company and/or the
Group may be conveyed to him.
Additional compliance information
pursuant to the Listing Requirements
Utilization of proceeds raised
from corporate proposals
There were no proceeds raised from
corporate proposals during the financial
year under review.

Recurrent related party transactions of
a revenue or trading nature (“RRPTs”)
At the last AGM of the Company held on
June 24, 2014, the Company had obtained
approval from shareholders to allow the
Group to enter into RRPTs as specified in the
Circular to Shareholders of the Company
dated May 30, 2014.

Nature of RRPTs

(continued)

In accordance with Paragraph 3.1.5 of
Practice Note 12 of the Listing Requirements,
the details of RRPTs conducted during the
financial year 2014 pursuant to the aforesaid
shareholders’ mandate are set out in the
table below.

Transacting
companies
with whom
DKSH Group
transacts

Interested
Directors
and major
shareholders
(as defined
hereinunder)*

Amount
transacted
during the
financial year
2014
RM’000

(i)

Hosting and support of system applications, data
processing applications, provision of infrastructure and
support facilities, provision of IT and organizational
consultancy services by the transacting company to DKSH
Holdings (Malaysia) Berhad and its subsidiaries (“DKSH
Group”)

DKSH Corporate
Shared Services
Center Sdn Bhd
(“CSSC”)

DKSH Resources 1
DKSH Asia 2
DKSH Holding Ltd 3
JPC 4

12,071

(ii)

Sale of goods by DKSH Group to transacting companies

DKSH Holding Ltd
and its subsidiaries

DKSH Resources 1
DKSH Asia 2
DKSH Holding Ltd 3
JPC 4

2,331

(iii) Provision of distribution and logistics services by DKSH
Group to transacting companies

DKSH Holding Ltd
and its subsidiaries

DKSH Resources 1
DKSH Asia 2
DKSH Holding Ltd 3
JPC 4

49,246

(iv) Provision of Merchandising Services and Promotion
Services by transacting companies for products
distributed by DKSH Group

DKSH Holding Ltd
and its subsidiaries

DKSH Resources 1
DKSH Asia 2
DKSH Holding Ltd 3
JPC 4

9,414

(v)

Lembaga Tabung
Angkatan Tentera
(“LTAT”)

LTAT 5
DAA 6

8,874

Lease/tenancy of land and/or premises and/or properties,
and provision of related/administrative facilities from the
transacting company +

*Notes:
1
DKSH Resources (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd (“DKSH Resources”) is a major shareholder of DKSH Holdings (Malaysia) Berhad (“DHMB”) (74.31% direct interest as at April 30, 2015)
and a wholly-owned subsidiary of DKSH Asia.
2
DKSH Holdings (Asia) Sdn Bhd (“DKSH Asia”) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of DKSH Holding Ltd and the holding company of DKSH Resources. DKSH Asia is a person connected
with DKSH Resources, DKSH Holding Ltd and JPC.
3
DKSH Holding Ltd is the holding company of DKSH Asia and CSSC. DKSH Holding Ltd is a person connected with DKSH Resources, DKSH Asia and JPC.
4
John Peter Clare (“JPC”) is a Non-Independent Executive Director and has been nominated to the Board of DHMB by DKSH Resources. JPC is a person connected with DKSH
Resources, DKSH Holding Ltd and DKSH Asia. He was also a Director of DKSH Resources, DKSH Asia and CSSC.
5
LTAT is a body corporate established under the Tabung Angkatan Tentera Act 1973. LTAT is a related party by virtue of LTAT being a person connected with DAA.
6
Datuk Haji Abdul Aziz bin Ismail (“DAA”) is a Non-Independent Non-Executive Director and has been nominated to the Board of DHMB by LTAT. DAA is deemed interested in
the transaction.
+
Lease of premises and properties at Geran 20004 (Lot 10394), Geran 20062 (Lot 10452) and Geran 35910 (Lot 10451), all in Mukim Klang, State of Selangor (now amalgamated
and held under HS(D) 66055, PT 66619, Mukim Klang, Daerah Klang, Negeri Selangor) from LTAT for a term of six years commencing from April 1, 2013 to March 31, 2019
with rental payable on a monthly basis.
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Share buy-backs
During the financial year under review, the
Company did not have any share buy-back
exercise.

Depository receipt program
The Company did not sponsor any depository
receipt program during the financial year
under review.

Options, warrants or convertible
securities
No options, warrants or convertible securities
were issued by the Company during the
financial year under review.

Imposition of sanctions and/or penalties
There were no sanctions and/or penalties
imposed on the Company and its subsidiaries,
Directors or Management by the relevant
regulatory bodies for the financial year
under review.

Variation in results
There was no significant variation between
the results for the financial year under review
and unaudited results previously released
by the Company. The Company had not
released or announced any estimated profit,
financial forecast and projection for the
financial year ended December 31, 2014.

Non-audit fees
During the financial year under review,
non-audit fees of RM 162,194 were paid
to the external auditors of the Company in
connection with the services rendered to the
Company and/or the Group.

(continued)

Profit guarantees
No profit guarantees were given by the
Company during the financial year under
review.
Employees’ share option scheme
(“ESOS”)
The Company does not have any ESOS.
Share issuance scheme (“SIS”)
The Company does not have any allocation
of options or shares pursuant to SIS.
Material contracts
Save as disclosed in the table below, neither
the Company nor its subsidiaries had
entered into any material contract which
involves interests of Directors and/or major
shareholders and is still subsisting at the end
of the financial year under review.

Material contract which involves Director’s interest

Date
May 2,
2013

30

Transacting
parties

Nature of
transaction

Consideration
(RM)

DKSH Malaysia
Sdn Bhd
(“DMSB”)
and
Lembaga Tabung
Angkatan Tentera
(“LTAT”)

Lease of premises
and properties by
LTAT to DMSB

• Monthly rental of
RM 739,500 per
month for the period
from April 1, 2013 to
March 31, 2016
• Monthly rental of
RM 790,500 per
month for the period
from April 1, 2016 to
March 31, 2019

Mode of
settlement of
consideration
Cash

Nature of
relationship
between the
Director and the
transacting party
LTAT is a person
connected with
Datuk Haji Abdul Aziz
bin Ismail, a Director of
the Company
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At DKSH, our people shape the longterm growth of our business as part of an
energetic and successful team, and positively
touch the lives of millions of Malaysians by
providing them products that meet their
daily needs.

Our corporate values
Our employees receive training, knowledge
In a world where products, processes and
and opportunities to develop themselves.
technologies become easier to duplicate,
Our capillary distribution network enhances
true competitive advantage stems not just
the quality of life
of millions
of Malaysians
Our
corporate
values
from organizational capabilities, but requires
as we distribute consumer goods and
a corporate culture that is hard to imitate
healthcare products to meet their daily
or reproduce.
needs.
To achieve
our vision
of being known as the to
We also actively
seek
opportunities
world‘s leading company in Market Expanparticipate in CSR
initiatives
and we
sion Services
in Asia, we consistently
striveare
to live up to our corporate values, which recommitted to making
a positive contribution
flect our unique culture and are reinforced
all aspects of ourare
business.
values
at all levels. Our inemployees
alsoOur
involved
guide our priorities and our behavior, inspiin a variety of CSR
activities
allow
them
ring us
to deliver thethat
best possible
services
to our clients and customers, and helping
to reach out a helping
hand
to
those
who
them to grow their businesses.
need it, or to pledge their efforts to a good
DKSH’s reputation is based on our
cause.
authentic, pragmatic, and entrepreneurial
approach to finding tailor-made solutions.
Our commitment and passion drive the

Workplace: people, values and
employer value proposition
Our people are the most valuable asset we
have. It is their ideas, initiatives and decisions
that drive our success. United by a shared
corporate culture, we empower the best
professionals in our industry to grow in their
careers and to work together to achieve
Think Asia. Think DKSH.
our vision of being known as the leading
company in Market Expansion Services in
Malaysia.

Success in our business requires people
with an entrepreneurial mindset who can
easily adapt to change, self-starters with
leadership qualities and high potential. True
to the spirit of our founders, our business
model leaves employees a great deal of
entrepreneurial freedom to run the business
within a centrally-managed framework
providing IT, Finance, Legal and Compliance,
Communications and HR.
At DKSH, our incentive systems and
performance management are geared to
recognize achievement and development
opportunities for high-performing
individuals.

In 2013, the Group
putbusiness
in place
a we
corporate
sustainable
results
achieve
for our business partners and ourselves.
sustainability framework
that provided the
basis for a clear focus on our CSR initiatives
and practices in the areas of community
involvement, workplace, environment and
marketplace.
In 2014, we continued to demonstrate this
commitment to local communities through
new and existing initiatives as well as
supporting local charity programs through
donation and volunteering efforts of our
employees.

Unique opportunities for unique people
Given the complexity of DKSH’s business and
the dynamic markets in which we operate,
coupled with the ever-evolving needs of our
business partners, we depend on employees
who can live up to the challenges we face
every day.

Five meaningful values reflect our corporate
culture and are reinforced in all aspects of
our business. DKSH’s reputation is based on
our authentic, pragmatic and entrepreneurial
approach to finding tailor-made solutions.
Our commitment and passion drive the
sustainable business results we achieve for
our business partners and ourselves.
Business partners and colleagues can
depend on us because we always act in a
straight-forward way. Just like the founders
of DKSH, we share a pioneering spirit and
are passionate to drive growth. We are
ambitious, open to change and embrace
progress. At the same time, we take charge
and are accountable for our actions and
outcomes. At DKSH, we enjoy our work and
are passionate about what we do.

Diversity comes naturally
Operating a business in a way that respects
the inherent values and differences between
cultures is an essential success factor for a
multinational company like DKSH. From
the very beginning, DKSH’s Swiss founders
embraced cultures new and foreign to them
and this legacy is reflected today in the
highly diverse composition of our workforce.
We have been successful in maintaining
a balanced representation of women in
management positions. Currently, women
make up more than 45% of middle and
top management levels. Our male to
female employee ratio shows a distribution
of 44:56. In 2014, our 2,800 people work
together in 23 locations across Malaysia,
serving clients and customers alike.
08/2013

Corporate social responsibility (“CSR”)
At DKSH, being a responsible corporate
citizen has been the foundation of our
success. We do business in a way that is
profitable while also taking care of and
having a positive impact on society.

(continued)

Empowering growth
Having enough of the best fitting people
is crucial to enabling our strategy for
sustainable, profitable growth to happen.
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(continued)

At DKSH, our people are our greatest asset, and we invest in them by creating an environment of continuous learning and personal development that enables them
to deliver their best.

DKSH is dedicated to empowering its people
to grow professionally and aims to attract
and retain top talents in the businesses and
markets it serves.
Human Resources activities are designed to
attract and recruit the best fitting people
through efficient and effective recruiting
and smooth integration processes. With a
view to strengthening DKSH’s performanceoriented culture, employees’ job goals are
aligned with the Group’s overall objectives.
Being part of the global DKSH Group in
Switzerland also allows us to leverage
on DKSH Fantree Academy, an in-house
corporate training and development center
which provides a broad series of programs
to develop the capabilities of our employees.
The DKSH Fantree Academy offers a
focused Group-wide aligned architecture
that bundles our development needs into
customized programs. It has two main
branches: leadership and skill programs.
The leadership programs focus on developing
core leadership competencies required at the
different levels of seniority: from front line
managers in their first leadership roles, right
up to our DKSH country management team.
The programs aim at establishing a common
DKSH leadership culture, strengthening
our capabilities for strategy execution as
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well as supporting the development of our
internal pool of talents at all levels of the
organization.
The skills programs support staff members
to further develop specific competencies
relevant to their respective functions and
areas of development. The essential skill
programs cover the soft skills required at
various levels across different functions, like
“presentation” and “operational finance”.
In line with building our talent pipeline
for strategic growth and developing our
people as all-round leaders, the Group’s
middle-management training program aims
to equip high-performing individuals with
experience-based knowledge and skills to
lead their respective teams, to develop
business acumen and entrepreneurial skills,
to enhance their critical thinking and groom
them to be mature managers and to allow
them the opportunity to progress further in
the organization.
The Group’s junior executive trainee
program is a comprehensive training
program that is designed to attract and
prepare high-performing fresh graduates
to acquire management techniques through
experiential learning by providing crossfunction exposure within the Group’s Fast
Moving Consumer Goods end-to-end
business operations.

Our employee sports and recreation club, DKSH
Fantree Club promotes a healthy work-life balance
by organizing sporting events and supports social
activities like festive celebrations, local trips and a
treasure hunt to foster a spirit of camaraderie and
instill a spirit of togetherness amongst employees.

Supporting local communities
The Group continued to demonstrate this
commitment to local communities through
active participation in various community
outreach programs and activities. These
initiatives include organizing a blood
donation drive in Johor, participating in a
charity sale to raise funds for a home for
the disadvantaged in Kuching, participating
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(continued)

Famous Amos raised funds by selling
Christmas charity packs at one of their new
outlet’s opening event and successfully
raised RM 12,000 from the public. All
proceeds raised were donated to Rumah
Hope.

The DKSH Fantree Club Alladdin Charity Run characterizes the values and attitude DKSH employees believe
in and live by – a ‘can do’ attitude, willpower, stamina and a determination to go the distance.

in the Terry Fox Run to raise cancer
awareness, organizing wellness campaigns
for employees throughout the year and
supporting philanthropic projects organized
by non-profit organizations.
Highlights of our community and employee
initiative projects in 2014 include:
DKSH Fantree Club Alladdin Charity Run
The DKSH Fantree Club Alladdin Charity
Run returned for its fourth year to provide
employees a unique opportunity to give
back to their communities by running and
raising funds for vital non-profit charitable
organizations.

and abandoned children in Klang and Bandar
Utama respectively; and Rumah Victory
Elderly Homes, a shelter for abandoned
elders in Jalan Kelang Lama.
Famous Amos spreads festive cheer
Famous Amos is always committed to
bringing smiles and spreading joy to
people, not only through its delicious freshly
baked cookies, but by giving back to the
community in meaningful ways especially
during the festive season. Famous Amos
organized its annual Christmas charity drive
to raise funds for Rumah Hope, a home for
underprivileged children in Petaling Jaya.

The management team and employees of
Famous Amos volunteered to take time off
from work to present the cheque from the
charity drive and delivered goodie bags filled
with stationeries and Famous Amos goodies
to the home. The children had a fun filled
day as they received Famous Amos goodies
bags filled with cookies and stationeries,
and in conjunction with the festive season,
the children received red packets and a
snack treat.
Disaster relief in the East Coast
The people in the areas we do business in
and a number of our employees have been
impacted by the floods in the East Coast
which took place at the end of 2014. DKSH
extended a helping hand to those affected
by the flood through several flood relief
initiatives for employees and in collaboration
with our clients.
Emergency flood relief financial assistance
was given to employees in our Kota Bharu
and Kuantan offices. In addition, DKSH
partnered with clients to contribute towards
flood recovery efforts through donation of
products and the transportation of goods

The five kilometer race around the Jalan
University, Petaling Jaya area where DKSH’s
main office is located was organized by
DKSH Malaysia Fantree Sports & Recreation
Club. Main sponsor, Alladdin Lighters the
Group’s in-house brand, had pledged to
donate RM 50 for every participant who
registered. The event attracted more than
600 runners, comprising mainly employees
who ran for a good cause. More than
RM 32,000 was raised from registration
fees and in-kind contribution from sponsors.
The funds raised from the run have benefited
three non-profit charitable organizations:
Persatuan Rumah KIDS and Rumah Amal
Suci Rohani which are homes for orphans

In its fifth year running, the Famous Amos team takes pride in their effort of making this CSR program a
meaningful one for the children of Rumah Hope.
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Employees attending the health talk and employees
participating in the blood donation drive.

DSKH Malaysia’s branch office in Johor Bahru
organized a public blood donation campaign in
collaboration with Hospital Sultan Ismail. The event
attracted 102 donors with 65 eligible donors,
including DKSH employees who donated blood to
support the cause.

Running for hope at the 2014 Terry Fox Run.
Together with over 6,000 Malaysians, DKSH Malaysia
employees participated in one of Malaysia’s most
anticipated and established events – the 2014 Terry
Fox Run to rally the cause of cancer prevention and
awareness.

for cleaning up efforts to the communities
in the affected areas.

Environment
We provide a safe and healthy workplace
and protect the environment
DKSH is committed to conducting its
business in an environmentally sustainable
manner by minimizing the impact of
its business on the environment, using
practices that are socially responsible and
economically sound.

• Using energy-efficient building materials.
Walls at our Healthcare distribution
center in Shah Alam are insulated with
thick rock wool and metal cladding for
better insulation and heat reflection,
reducing energy consumption. Its
rainwater harvesting system allows the
accumulation and deposition of rainwater
for reuse on-site.
• Rationalizing our customer delivery
frequency and schedule based on their
monthly average carton ordering volume
has reduced our carbon footprint.

Everyone in DKSH has showed great
commitment in helping our employees and
business partners as well as communities
resume their daily life and business through
uninterrupted support with much needed
goods and services during the disaster.
DKSH Consumer Goods Logistics
organizes Health and Awareness
Program week
DKSH Consumer Goods Logistics organized
a Health and Awareness Program week from
September 29 to October 3 in its Shah Alam
distribution center. The wellness campaign
aims to promote a healthy lifestyle and
create health awareness among its 400
employees.
The week’s highlights include a Body Mass
Index (BMI) analysis program to measure
employees’ BMI and to share its results; a
CPR training for the Emergency Response
Team conducted by Bomba; a blood
donation drive organized in collaboration
with the National Blood Center - 80 pints
of blood was successfully collected; and a
health education talk as well as body health
analysis.
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DKSH conducts its operations in compliance
with applicable environmental, health
and safety laws and regulations as well as
company standards to provide employees
with a safe, healthy and clean working
environment.
Some environmental initiatives in our
distribution centers include:
• Waste is segregated, wastage reduced
and disposal is managed. Organic waste
is sent to an environmental and waste
management center to be converted
to biomass and organic fertilizer while
packaging materials such as carton boxes
are reutilized or sent for recycling.
• Energy-saving initiatives such as installing
electrical timers and energy-saving
lighting. Our cold room compressors
have defrost timers with different cut-in
and cut-out settings to reduce energy
consumption and our carbon footprint.

Compliance statement
The Board is satisfied that the Company
had observed good governance practices
and in most circumstances, complied with
the principles and recommendations of the
Code.
This statement is made in accordance with
Board’s approval on May 11, 2015.
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Statement on risk management
and internal control
The Board of Directors (“the Board”)
are committed to a sound system of risk
management and internal controls. These
have and always will be an essential success
factor for the Group and are an integral part
of our organization’s culture. The Board is
therefore pleased to provide the following
statement outlining the respective activities
of the Group.
Board responsibility
The Board is responsible for the adequacy
and effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management processes and internal control
system to protect the assets of the Group
and to safeguard shareholders’ investments.
Risk management and internal controls are
embedded in the Group’s management
systems which range from the business
planning processes, the management of
client relationships, to the execution of the
Group’s daily business affairs.
The Group’s system of internal controls
is designed to manage and control risks
within an acceptable risk appetite, rather
than to eliminate risks altogether. Due to
the inherent limitations of internal controls,
the system can only provide reasonable but
not absolute assurance against material
misstatements, losses or fraud.
M a n a g e m e n t a s s i s t s t h e B o a rd i n
implementing and continuously fostering
the risk management and internal control
system of the Group. Management has
therefore established a regular risk review
and a Group risk register, as well as a
documented Internal Control system, which
is subject to reviews and tests. Management
also regularly evaluates and identifies the key
risks and establishes action plans to further
improve controls and reduce risks.
The Board has received reasonable assurance
from the Group Finance Director that the
Group’s risk management and internal
control system is operating adequately and
effectively, in all material aspects, during
the year under review and up to the date
of approval of this statement.

Risk management framework
The Group’s risk management framework
encompasses the following key elements:
(i) Risk register: The Group regularly
reviews its risk management system
and the related risk registers. This
risk management system includes
significant strategic, operational,
financial and compliance risks, as well
as clearly defined action plans. The
Board was briefed by Management
on the Risk Register 2014 and on
the regular risk reviews conducted by
Management;
(ii) Treasury: The Treasury department
follows strictly the DKSH Corporate
Treasury policy and is monitored by
the Corporate Treasury Center in
Singapore. The Group executes a
conservative financial risk policy and
hedges all foreign exchange risks; and
(iii) Insurance: The Group consciously
covers and transfers certain risks by
securing adequate insurance coverage.
Internal control system
The following internal control components
have been embedded to assist the Board to
maintain a sound system of internal controls
in the Group:
(i) Internal Control System (“ICS”):
The Group maintains a formally
documented ICS which focuses on
the most critical financial reporting
and operational risks. ICS has been
in place for seven years and has since
its beginning undergone regular
reviews and testing by Management,
as well as internal auditors, whilst
risks relevant to financial reporting
have been reviewed and assessed
by external auditors. Management
further provides assurance on the
adequacy and effectiveness of the
internal control system through annual
Management Certifications;
(ii) Policies and procedures: The Group has
in place various formally documented
policies and procedures, some of which
were updated during 2014;

(iii) To n e a t t h e t o p : T h e G ro u p ’s
management team actively enforces
good governance and internal controls
and further instils a culture of risk
management;
(iv) Code of Conduct: The Code of
Conduct was further enhanced during
2012. All management staff have
signed and acknowledged compliance
to the Code of Conduct. The Code of
Conduct is also an integral part of the
induction programs for new staff and
is communicated to all staff from time
to time;
(v) Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy:
this policy supplements the Group’s
Code of Conduct and outlines a clear
zero tolerance policy for bribery and
corruption. During 2014, staff also
received relevant training;
(vi) Limits of Authority: The Group Limits
of Authority which provide clarity on
authorities assigned at Corporate,
Business Unit, as well as country level
were reviewed and updated in 2014;
(vii) Fraud Policy: In line with the Group’s
fraud policy, the Audit Committee and
the management team review all fraud
cases and ensure that the Group’s zero
fraud tolerance policy is adhered to.
Formal reports are issued on all fraud
cases;
(viii) Insider Trading Policy: The Group has
established measures to eliminate
trading of shares during blocked
periods and for persons with insider
knowledge;
(ix) Financial Reporting: The monthly
and year-end financial reports are
provided to Management, business
managers and Finance department
for review and discussion as well as
the international DKSH Group of
Switzerland for scrutiny;
(x) Credit Control: Formalized credit
control procedures are in place and
reviewed regularly;
(xi) Inventory Management: Stringent
controls are in place for inventories,
which are further subject to regular
stock takes;

35

> DKSH Holdings (Malaysia) Berhad: Annual Report 2014

Statement on risk management
and internal control
(continued)

(xii) System access rights: Regular reviews
of system access rights and segregation
of duties have been carried out to
strengthen internal controls;
(xiii) Internal Audit: The Internal Audit
department, which has been in
place since the Company’s listing on
Bursa Malaysia in 1994, continues to
independently review key risks and
evaluate compliance with policies
and procedures as well as assess the
adequacy and effectiveness of internal
controls. Findings and corrective
measures are regularly reported to the
Audit Committee. The modus operandi
of Internal Audit is further explained on
page 38 of this Annual Report; and
(xiv) Organization Structure: The Board
provides direction and oversight
to the Group and Management
and is supported by established
Board Committees, namely the
Audit Committee and Nominating
Committee. Each Committee has
clearly defined terms of reference.
Responsibility for implementing the
Group’s strategies, operation and
day-to-day businesses is delegated
to the Group Finance Director and
Management. The organization
structure sets out clear segregation
of roles and responsibilities, lines of
accountability and limits of authority
to ensure effective and independent
stewardship.
Other elements of the Group’s risk
management and internal control
processes
(i) Business Continuity Planning: A
formalized business continuity plan is
established; and
(ii) ERP System: All operating units of
the Group run on a standardized and
integrated SAP platform with system
integrated controls.
Review of this statement by external
auditors
Pursuant to Paragraph 15.23 of the Main
Market Listing Requirements of Bursa
Malaysia Securities Berhad, the external
auditors have reviewed this Statement on
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Risk Management and Internal Control
for inclusion in the Annual Report of the
Company for the year ended December
31, 2014 and reported to the Board that
nothing has come to their attention that
causes them to believe that this statement is
inconsistent with their understanding of the
process adopted by the Board in reviewing
the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control system.
Conclusion
For the year under review, and up to the
date of approval of this statement, the Board
considers the risk management framework
and internal control system throughout the
Group as sound and adequate to safeguard
the shareholders’ investment, stakeholders’
interest and the Group’s assets. The Board
is satisfied that various initiatives and
reviews undertaken in 2014 have further
strengthened the effectiveness of the risk
management processes and the internal
control environment of the Group. There
were no significant control failures or
weaknesses that would result in material
misstatements, losses or fraud.
The Board together with Management will
continuously assess the suitability, adequacy
and effectiveness of the Group’s system of
risk management and internal controls and
will take corrective measures to enhance the
system, as and when necessary.
This statement is made in respect of the
financial year ended December 31, 2014
and in accordance with the Board’s approval
on May 11, 2015.
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The Audit Committee comprises three
members, all of whom are Non-Executive
Directors with two being Independent NonExecutive Directors. The Chairman of the
Audit Committee, James Armand Menezes,
an Independent Non-Executive Director, is
a Certified Public Accountant (CPA) and
Chartered Accountant (CA). All members
have more than 20 years of business
experience in various management, finance
and audit functions and are financially
literate.
Duties and responsibilities
The Audit Committee of DKSH Holdings
(Malaysia) Berhad was established by
the Board of Directors (“the Board”) in
September 1994. The specific responsibilities
of the Audit Committee are set out in its
own terms of reference, which was updated
and adopted in 2014, and include:
(i) A s s i s t a n c e i n e s t a b l i s h i n g a n
environment in which controls can
operate effectively;
(ii) Oversight of the Group’s systems
of financial reporting and internal
controls, and ensuring an early warning
system is in place;
(iii) Review of the Group’s procedures
to ensure compliance with all laws,
rules and regulations, directives and
guidelines established by relevant
regulatory bodies;
(iv) Assessment of the adequacy, quality,
and timeliness of management reports;
(v) Recommendation for the appointment
and remuneration of the external
auditors and the terms and scope of
the audit engagement;
(vi) Review of the audit scope and annual
planning, as well as the reports issued by
the external auditors, their evaluation
of the system of internal controls and
follow up on the implementation of
recommendations;

(vii) Review of the competency, adequacy
of resources, audit scope and annual
planning of the Inter nal Audit
department, as well as the reports,
audit findings and the follow-up on the
implementation of recommendations;
(viii) Review of the annual financial
statements and quarterly interim
results of the Company and the Group
before submission to the Board for
approval and to ensure that they are
prepared in a timely and accurate
manner complying with accounting
and regulatory requirements;
(ix) Review of related party transactions
and conflict of interest situations that
may arise within the Company and the
Group; and
(x) Consideration of other issues referred
to by the Board from time to time.
Summary of activities in 2014
In 2014, the Audit Committee conducted
its activities in line with the above described
responsibilities. This included:
(i) Review of the quarterly financial
results and annual audited financial
statements before recommending to
the Board for approval;
(ii) Review the results of the interim and
final audit by the external auditors
and the resolution of issues or areas
of concern highlighted in their report;
(iii) Review the external auditors’ scope of
work and audit plan for the financial
year 2014 and their proposed audit
fees;
(iv) Assessment of the adequacy and
effectiveness of the system of
internal controls, reporting and risk
management;
(v) Review, approval and monitoring of
the annual internal audit plan, scope
of work and adequacy of its resources;

(vi) Review of the internal audit reports and
the work performed by Internal Audit
including status updates of internal
audit recommendation;
(vii) Review and adopted the Internal Audit
Charter for the Company’s Internal
Audit department;
(viii) Review the Audit Committee’s
revised terms of reference before
recommending their approval to
the Board for adoption by the Audit
Committee;
(ix) Review results of ad-hoc investigation
audits performed by internal audit and
the corrective actions taken;
(x) Review the renewal of the 2014
Shareholders’ Mandate for recurrent
related party transactions of a revenue
and trading nature entered with DKSH
Holding Ltd and/or its subsidiaries and
Lembaga Tabung Angkatan Tentera
before recommending their approval
to the Board;
(xi) Receive quarterly updates on the
actual value of recurrent related party
transactions of a revenue and trading
nature entered into by the Company
and its subsidiaries and compliance
with the authority granted pursuant
to the 2014 Shareholders’ Mandate
obtained for recurrent related party
transactions; and
(xii) Review of the Audit Committee Report
and recommended their approval
to the Board for inclusion in the
Company’s 2013 Annual Report.
There were no restrictions of resources
or information to the Audit Committee
that would have impaired the effective
execution of the Audit Committee’s
responsibilities. Throughout the financial
year, the Chairman of the Audit Committee
has been in continuous contact with senior
management, as well as the internal and
external auditors.
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Four Audit Committee meetings were held
in 2014. Board members, the Group Finance
Director and the Internal Audit Manager
attended the meetings by invitation.
The details of attendance of each Audit
Committee member at the Committee’s
meetings during 2014 are set out in the
table below.
The external auditors attended two Audit
Committee meetings during the financial
year. At the meetings, the Audit Committee
had separate private sessions with the
external auditors without the presence of
any Executive Director and Management of
the Company to discuss relevant audit issues
and obtain feedback.
Internal Audit
The Audit Committee is supported by the
in-house Internal Audit department in the
discharge of its duties and responsibilities. The
Internal Audit function, which reports directly
to the Audit Committee, is independent
and conducts objective assessments of the
adequacy and effectiveness of the internal
controls, risk management and governance
processes established within the Group.
The objective, authority and responsibility
of the Internal Audit department as well
as the nature of assurance and consultancy
activities provided by the function are
described in the Internal Audit Charter. The
Audit Committee has reviewed the Charter
to ensure an appropriate structure, scope of
activities, access and reporting arrangements
are in place.

(continued)

The annual internal audit plan, which is
formulated on a risk-based approach,
is reviewed and approved by the Audit
Committee prior to the commencement of
the audits. The audit approach is to focus
on high risk business processes and to assess
the effectiveness of internal controls therein.
As a subsidiary of the international DKSH
Group of Switzerland, the Internal Audit
department receives occasional support,
training and resources from the Global
Internal Audit team, which is based in
Singapore. In the year under review, Internal
Audit has continued its collaborative efforts
with the Global Internal Audit team. This has
benefited audits and audit coverage and the
transfer of knowledge and best practices
from other DKSH world-wide operations
into the Malaysian operations.

(vii) Follow-up on implementation of
recommendations and/or corrective
actions by Management in addressing
issues based on the audit findings;
(viii) Developed a Risk Based Audit
Methodology and Plan, which included
coverage of branches nationwide; and
(ix) Performing of ad hoc consultation and
operational reviews as requested by the
Audit Committee and/or Management.
All internal auditors have relevant audit
background and experience. The total costs
incurred for the Internal Audit function
in respect of the financial year ended 31
December 2014 amounted to RM 311,500
(2013 : RM 212,000).

The internal audit activities carried out
during the year encompassed the following:
(i) Operational, financial and compliance
audits, as well as fraud investigations;
(ii) Audits of various branch offices located
throughout Malaysia;
(iii) Analytical reviews of the quarterly
financial statements of the Group;
(iv) Collaboration with external auditors on
certain key areas resulting in increased
leverage by the Group’s external
auditors;
(v) Collaboration with auditors from the
Global Internal Audit team on selected
key areas;
(vi) Enhancing the Internal Audit Charter;

Audit Committee : Composition and attendance at the Audit Committee meetings held in 2014
Name

Status

James Armand Menezes

Chairman, Independent Non-Executive Director

4/4

Michael Lim Hee Kiang

Independent Non-Executive Director

4/4

Datuk Haji Abdul Aziz bin Ismail

Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

4/4
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Statement of Directors’ responsibility
in respect of the audited financial statements

Pursuant to the Companies Act 1965 (“the Act”), the Directors are required to prepare financial statements for each financial year which
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group at the end of the financial year, and the results and cash
flows of the Company and the Group for the financial year.
The Directors are of the view that the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2014 of the Company and the Group have
been prepared in accordance with the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRS”), International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”), the requirements of the Act and the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. The Directors consider
that in preparing the financial statements of the Company and the Group for the year ended December 31, 2014, the Group has used
appropriate accounting policies, consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates.
The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Company and the Group keep accounting records which disclose, with reasonable
accuracy, the financial position of the Company and the Group and enable the Directors to ensure that the financial statements are in
compliance with the Act and in accordance with MFRS and IFRS. The Directors have general responsibility to take such steps that are
reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Company and the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report together with the audited financial statements of the Group and of the Company
for the financial year ended December 31, 2014.
Principal activities
The Company is principally an investment holding company. The principal activities of the Group are the provisioning of Market Expansion
Services, which ranges from marketing, to providing sales force, distribution and logistics, invoicing and credit control, handling of inventory
and returned goods and other value added services. These services are provided to consumer goods, healthcare and performance material
clients. The Group also operates retail outlets selling Famous Amos cookies.
There have been no significant changes in the nature of the principal activity during the financial year.
Results
							
Group
				 			
RM’000

Company
RM’000

Profit net of tax						
59,911

9,617

Profit attributable to owners of the parent						

9,617

59,911

There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year other than as disclosed in the financial statements.
In the opinion of the Directors, the results of the operations of the Group and the Company during the financial year were not substantially
affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature.
Dividends
The amount of dividends paid and declared by the Company since December 31, 2013 were as follows:
								
RM’000
In respect of the financial year ended December 31, 2013, as reported in the Directors’ Report for that financial year:
• a final single tier dividend of 9.5 sen per share, on 157,658,076 ordinary shares was paid on August 22, 2014

14,977

• a special single tier dividend of 13 sen per share, on 157,658,076 ordinary shares was paid on August 22, 2014

20,496

								
35,473

The Directors have recommended for shareholders’ approval, at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, a final single tier dividend of
9.5 sen per share amounting to RM14,977,517 on 157,658,076 ordinary shares. These financial statements do not reflect this proposed
final dividend. Such dividend, if approved by the shareholders, will be accounted for in the financial year ending December 31, 2015.
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Directors
The names of the Directors of the Company in office since the date of the last report and at the date of this report are:
Michael Lim Hee Kiang
James Armand Menezes
Datuk Haji Abdul Aziz Ismail
Alexander Stuart Davy
John Peter Clare
Jason Michael Nicholas McLaren (Appointed on February 26, 2015)
Lian Teng Hai (Appointed on February 26, 2015)
In accordance with Article 105 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Michael Lim Hee Kiang and Alexander Stuart Davy shall retire at
the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election as Directors.
In accordance with Article 101 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Jason Michael Nicholas McLaren and Lian Teng Hai who were
appointed Directors during the year, shall hold office until the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves
for election as Directors.
Directors’ benefits
Neither at the end of the financial year, nor at any time during that year, did there subsist any arrangement to which the Company was
a party, whereby the Directors might acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other
body corporate.
Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit (other than benefits included
in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by the Directors or the fixed salary of a full-time employee of the
Company as shown in Note 6 to the financial statements) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with any
Director or with a firm of which he is a member, or with a company in which he has a substantial financial interest other than as those
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
Directors’ interests
According to the register of Directors’ shareholdings, the interests of Directors in office at the end of the financial year in shares in the
ultimate holding company, the Company and its subsidiary during the financial year were as follows:
Number of ordinary shares of CHF 0.10 each
					
At			
At
					
1.1.2014
Acquired
Sold
31.12.2014
DKSH Holding Ltd
Alexander Stuart Davy				

5,000

–

5,000

–

Number of ordinary shares of RM1 each
					
At			
At
					
1.1.2014
Acquired
Sold
31.12.2014
DKSH Holdings (Malaysia) Berhad
Michael Lim Hee Kiang				

10,000

–

–

10,000
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Directors’ interests (continued)
Number of ordinary shares of B$1 each

		

					
At			
At
					
1.1.2014
Acquired
Sold
31.12.2014
DKSH (B) Sdn. Bhd.
John Peter Clare				

1

–

–

1

None of the other Directors in office at the end of the financial year had any interest in shares in the Company or its related corporations
during the financial year.
Other statutory information
(a) Before the statements of comprehensive income and statements of financial position of the Group and of the Company were made
out, the Directors took reasonable steps:
(i) to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of provision for doubtful
debts and satisfied themselves that there were no known bad debts and that adequate allowance had been made for doubtful
debts; and
(ii) to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to realize their value as shown in the accounting records in the ordinary
course of business had been written down to an amount which they might be expected so to realize.
(b) At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render:
(i) it necessary to write off any bad debts or the amount of the provision for doubtful debts in the financial statements of the Group
and of the Company inadequate to any substantial extent; and
(ii) the values attributed to the current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company misleading.
(c) At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances which have arisen which would render adherence to the
existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Group and of the Company misleading or inappropriate.
(d) At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this report or financial statements
of the Group and of the Company which would render any amount stated in the financial statements misleading.
(e) As at the date of this report, there does not exist:
(i) any charge on the assets of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year which secures the
liabilities of any other person; or
(ii) any contingent liability of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year.
(f) In the opinion of the Directors:
(i) no contingent or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within the period of twelve months
after the end of the financial year which will or may affect the ability of the Group or of the Company to meet their obligations
when they fall due; and
(ii) no item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature has arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and
the date of this report which is likely to affect substantially the results of the operations of the Group or of the Company for the
financial year in which this report is made.
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Auditors
The auditors, Ernst & Young, have expressed their willingness to continue in office.

Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the Directors dated March 30, 2015.

Michael Lim Hee Kiang

John Peter Clare
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pursuant to Section 169(15) of the Companies Act, 1965

We, Michael Lim Hee Kiang and John Peter Clare, being two of the Directors of DKSH Holdings (Malaysia) Berhad, do hereby state that,
in the opinion of the Directors, the accompanying financial statements set out on pages 47 to 115 are drawn up in accordance with
Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965
in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at December 31, 2014 and of
their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended.
Further to the Statement by Directors pursuant to Section 169(15) of the Companies Act, 1965, the information set out in Note 33 on
page 116 to the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Guidance on Special Matter No.1, Determination of
Realized and Unrealized Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements,
as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants.

Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the Directors dated March 30, 2015.

Michael Lim Hee Kiang

John Peter Clare

Statutory declaration
pursuant to Section 169(16) of the Companies Act, 1965

					

				
I, John Peter Clare, being the Director primarily responsible for the financial management of DKSH Holdings (Malaysia) Berhad, do solemnly
and sincerely declare that the accompanying financial statements set out on pages 47 to 116 are in my opinion correct, and I make this
solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.
						
			
Subscribed and solemnly declared by
the abovenamed John Peter Clare at
Petaling Jaya in the Selangor Darul Ehsan
on March 30, 2015
John Peter Clare		
						
				
Before me,						
				
						
S. Arokiadass, A.M.N
Commissioner of Oaths
No. B460
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Independent auditors’ report
to the members of DKSH Holdings (Malaysia) Berhad (Incorporated in Malaysia)

Report on the financial statements
We have audited the financial statements of DKSH Holdings (Malaysia) Berhad, which comprise statements of financial position as at 31
December 2014 of the Group and of the Company, and the statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and
statements of cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 47 to 115.
		
Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements
The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965
in Malaysia. The Directors are responsible for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with
approved standards on auditing in Malaysia. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on our judgement, including the assessment of risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the
financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Directors, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31
December 2014 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting
Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia.
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia, we also report the following:
(a) In our opinion, the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Act to be kept by the Company and its subsidiaries
have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.
(b) We have considered the financial statements and the auditors’ report of a subsidiary of which we have not acted as auditors, which
is indicated in Note 15 to the financial statements, being financial statements that have been included in the consolidated financial
statements.
(c) We are satisfied that the financial statements of the subsidiaries that have been consolidated with the financial statements of the
Company are in form and content appropriate and proper for the purposes of the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
and we have received satisfactory information and explanations required by us for those purposes.
(d) The auditors’ reports on the financial statements of the subsidiaries were not subject to any qualification and did not include any
comment required to be made under Section 174(3) of the Act.
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to the members of DKSH Holdings (Malaysia) Berhad (Incorporated in Malaysia) (continued)

Other reporting responsibilities
The supplementary information set out in Note 33 on page 116 is disclosed to meet the requirement of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.
The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the supplementary information in accordance with Guidance on Special Matter No.
1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad
Listing Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“MIA Guidance”) and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities
Berhad. In our opinion, the supplementary information is prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the MIA Guidance and the
directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.
Other matters
This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 174 of the Companies Act, 1965 in
Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for the content of this report.

Ernst & Young
AF: 0039
Chartered Accountants
Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
30 March 2015
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Statements of comprehensive income
for the year ended December 31, 2014

		

Group

Company

						
Restated
					2014
2013
				 Note
RM’000
RM’000

2014
RM’000

2013
RM’000

Continuing operations
Revenue			

4

5,339,481

5,085,623

16,151

146,908

Changes in inventories of finished goods				

76,772

14,002

–

–

Finished goods purchased				

(4,964,097)

(4,661,642)

–

–

Other income				
3,649

102,857

–

–

Net write-back of doubtful advances to a subsidiary			

–

–

–

6,989

5

(167,104)

(157,728)

–

–

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries				

–

8,640

–

24,620

Staff costs			

Impairment losses of investment in a subsidiary				

–

–

–

(6,994)

Warehousing and logistics expenses				

(58,483)

(56,584)

–

–

Net (allowance for)/write-back of impairment of doubtful debts			

(236)

204

–

–

Rental expenses				
(32,959)

(26,500)

–

–

(7,318)

–

–

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment				

(7,895)

Travelling and entertainment expenses				

(12,516)

(12,870)

–

–

Information technology and communication expenses			

(17,665)

(16,824)

–

–

Utilities, upkeep, repairs and maintenance costs				

(15,001)

(14,167)

–

–

Office expenses				

(3,942)

(4,042)

–

–

Other selling, advertising and promotional expenses			

(43,095)

(41,445)

–

–

Other expenses				
(13,853)

(17,278)

(485)

(504)

Finance costs			

7

(2,641)

(4,483)

(2,692)

(3,511)

Profit before tax from continuing operations			

8

80,415

190,445

12,974

167,508

Income tax expense			

9

(20,504)

(19,274)

(3,357)

(2,261)

Profit from continuing operations, net of tax				 59,911

171,171

9,617

165,247

Discontinued operation
Profit from discontinued operation, net of tax		
10

–

7,171

–

–

Profit net of tax				 59,911

178,342

9,617

165,247
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Group

Company

						
Restated
					2014
2013
				 Note
RM’000
RM’000

2014
RM’000

2013
RM’000

Other comprehensive income
Net loss on available-for-sale financial assets:
• Loss on fair value changes				

–

(4)

–

–

• Transfer to profit or loss upon disposal				

–

(30)

–

–

					 –

(34)

–

–

Currency translation differences				

8

18

–

–

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax			

8

(16)

–

–

Total comprehensive income for the year				 59,919

178,326

9,617

165,247

174,828

9,617

165,247

Profit attributable to:
Owners of the parent				

59,911

Non-controlling interests				–

3,514

–

–

					 59,911

178,342

9,617

165,247

174,812

9,617

165,247

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the parent				

59,919

Non-controlling interests				–

3,514

–

–

					 59,919

178,326

9,617

165,247

Earnings per share attributable to owners of the parent
• basic (sen)

11

38.00

110.89

–

–

Earnings per share from continuing operations attributable
to owners of the parent
• basic (sen)

11

38.00

106.34

–

–

Earnings per share from discontinued operation attributable
to owners of the parent
• basic (sen)

11

–

4.55

–

–

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Group

					2014
				 Note
RM’000

Company
2013
RM’000

2014
RM’000

2013
RM’000

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment			

12

19,582

20,110

–

–

Intangible assets			

13

2,629

3,334

–

–

Available-for-sale financial assets			
14

–

–

–

–

Investments in subsidiaries			

15

–

–

84,615

84,615

Deferred tax assets			

16

3,272

2,715

–

–

Advances to subsidiaries			

18

–

–

279,171

314,649

					 25,483

26,159

363,786

399,264

Current assets
Inventories			

17

473,889

397,325

–

–

Trade and other receivables			

18

901,338

848,334

536

322

Tax recoverable				
849

–

–

–

210

–

–

Derivative financial instruments			

23

79

Cash and bank balances			

19

93,923

111,995

51,257

51,632

					1,470,078

1,357,864

51,793

51,954

Total assets				1,495,561

1,384,023

415,579

451,218

157,658

157,658

157,658

157,658

Share premium				24,514

24,514

24,514

24,514

Equity and liabilities
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Share capital			

20

Available-for-sale reserve				–

–

–

–

68

60

–

–

291,393

266,955

165,628

191,484

					473,633

449,187

347,800

373,656

Non-controlling interests				–

–

–

–

Total equity				473,633

449,187

347,800

373,656

Foreign currency translation reserve				
Retained earnings			

21
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as at December 31, 2014 (continued)

		

Group

					2014
				 Note
RM’000

Company
2013
RM’000

2014
RM’000

2013
RM’000

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables			

22

997,141

877,636

396

419

Borrowings			

24

20,100

52,195

20,100

32,195

Income tax payable				

3,832

4,716

978

290

					
1,021,073

934,547

21,474

32,904

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings			

24

–

–

46,305

44,658

Provision for other liabilities			

25

855

289

–

–

855

289

46,305

44,658

					

Total liabilities				
1,021,928

934,836

67,779

77,562

Total equity and liabilities				1,495,561

1,384,023

415,579

451,218

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statements of changes in equity
for the year ended December 31, 2014

		

Attributable to owners of the parent

		

Non-distributable

Distributable

					
Foreign
					
currency
			Share
Share
translation
		
Note
capital
premium
reserve
			RM’000
RM’000
RM’000

Retained
earnings
RM’000

Total
equity
RM’000

Group
At January 1, 2014		157,658
Total comprehensive income		

24,514

60

266,955

449,187

–

–

8

59,911

59,919

–

–

–

(35,473)

(35,473)

Transactions with owners
Dividends for financial year ended
• December 31, 2013

26

Total transactions with owners
At December 31, 2014

		

–

–

–

(35,473)

(35,473)

157,658

24,514

68

291,393

473,633

Attributable to owners of the parent

		

Non-distributable

Distributable

						
Foreign
					
Available
currency			
Non			Share
Share
-for-sale translation
Retained		
controlling
		
Note
capital
premium
reserve
reserve
earnings
Total
interests
			RM’000
RM’000
RM’000
RM’000
RM’000
RM’000
RM’000

Total
equity
RM’000

Group
At January 1, 2013		157,658

24,514

34

42

108,562

290,810

18,055

308,865

–

–

(34)

18

174,828

174,812

3,514

178,326

16

–

–

–

–

1,696

1,696

–

1,696

• December 31, 2012

26

–

–

–

–

(18,131)

(18,131)

(3,969)

(22,100)

Disposal of subsidiaries

15

–

–

–

–

–

–

(17,600)

(17,600)

Total comprehensive income		
Transactions with owners
Disposal of revalued property
Dividends for financial year ended

Total transactions with owners		–

–

–

–

(16,435)

(16,435)

(21,569)

(38,004)

At December 31, 2013		157,658

24,514

–

60

266,955

449,187

–

449,187
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for the year ended December 31, 2014 (continued)

		

Non- distributable

Distributable

						
Share
						
premium on
					
Share
ordinary
				
Note
capital
shares
					RM’000
RM’000

Retained
earnings
RM’000

Total
RM’000

24,514

191,484

373,656

–

–

9,617

9,617

Dividends			
26

–

–

(35,473)

(35,473)

Total transactions with owners				

Company
At January 1, 2014 				157,658
Total comprehensive income				
Transactions with owners

–

–

(35,473)

(35,473)

At December 31, 2014				157,658

24,514

165,628

347,800

At January 1, 2013 				157,658

24,514

44,368

226,540

–

–

165,247

165,247

Dividends			
26

–

–

(18,131)

(18,131)

Total transactions with owners				

–

–

(18,131)

(18,131)

At December 31, 2013 				157,658

24,514

191,484

373,656

Total comprehensive income				
Transactions with owners

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Group

					2014
					RM’000

Company
2013
RM’000

2014
RM’000

2013
RM’000

59,919

174,812

9,617

165,247

7,895

7,494

–

–

Cash flows from operating activities
Total comprehensive income attributable to owners of the parent			
Adjustments for non-cash items:
Property, plant and equipment:
• depreciation
• written off

7

287

–

–

(244)

(99,798)

–

–

8,819

5,152

–

–

• net write-back of provision for slow moving

(299)

(137)

–

–

Net allowance for/(write-back of) impairment of doubtful debts			

236

(35)

–

–

Translation of currency differences				

(8)

(18)

–

–

• net gain on disposals
Inventories:
• written off

Net loss on available-for-sale financial assets:
• loss of fair value changes

–

4

–

–

• transfer to profit or loss upon disposal

–

30

–

–

Net fair value gain on available-for-sale financial assets
transferred from equity upon disposal 				

–

(30)

–

–

Interest income (Note c)				

(1,278)

(714)

(16,145)

(10,070)

Interest expense (Note b)				2,641

4,483

2,692

3,511

Dividend income (gross)				–

–

–

(136,831)

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries				

–

(8,640)

–

(24,620)

Net write-back of doubtful advances to a subsidiary			

–

–

–

(6,989)

Impairment losses of investment in a subsidiary				

–

–

–

6,994

Net unrealized foreign exchange losses/(gains)				

873

(460)

–

–

Unrealized derivative losses/(gains)				

131

(221)

–

–

Accruals for post-employment benefits obligation				

–

1,627

–

–
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for the year ended December 31, 2014 (continued)

		

Group

					2014
					RM’000

Company
2013
RM’000

2014
RM’000

2013
RM’000

985

976

–

–

20,504

19,274

3,357

2,261

–

2,517

–

–

Non-controlling interests				–

3,514

–

–

100,181

110,117

(479)

(497)

Inventories				
(85,084)

(20,283)

–

–

Receivables				
(53,240)

(76,480)

5

367

Cash flows from operating activities (continued)
Amortization of trademarks				
Income tax expense:
• continuing operations
• discontinued operation

Operating cash flows before changes in working capital			
Changes in working capital:

Payables				
123,869

85,780

24

(405)

Cash flows from operations				

85,726

99,134

(450)

(535)

Dividend received (net)				–

–

–

136,156

Interest received (Note c)				

1,278

714

15,926

9,783

Interest paid (Note b)				

(2,609)

(4,937)

(2,739)

(3,502)

Tax paid				(22,794)

(24,377)

(2,669)

(1,667)

Post-employment benefits obligation paid				

(5,102)

(6,958)

–

–

Net cash flows generated from operating activities			

56,499

63,576

10,068

140,235

Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment			

271

124,586

–

–

Proceed from disposal of available-for-sale financial assets			

–

70

–

–

Net cash inflows from disposal of subsidiaries				

–

6,862

–

30,600

Cash flows from investing activities

Incidental expenses incurred for the disposal of subsidiaries			

–

–

–

(40)

Additional investment in a subsidiary				

–

–

–

(7,200)

Purchase of intangible assets				

(280)

–

–

–

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (Note a)			

(7,002)

(14,671)

–

–

Net cash flows (used in)/generated from investing activities			

(7,011)

116,847

–

23,360

54

> DKSH Holdings (Malaysia) Berhad: Annual Report 2014

Statements of cash flows
for the year ended December 31, 2014 (continued)

		

Group

					2014
					RM’000

Company
2013
RM’000

2014
RM’000

2013
RM’000

(35,473)

(18,131)

(35,473)

(18,131)

–

(3,969)

–

–

Net repayment of external borrowings				

(20,000)

(108,054)

–

–

Net (repayment to)/advances from intercompanies			

(12,095)

7,560

(12,095)

7,560

Net advances from/(repayment to) subsidiaries				

–

–

37,125

(101,474)

Net cash flows used in financing activities				

(67,568)

(122,594)

(10,443)

(112,045)

Changes on cash and cash equivalents				(18,080)

57,829

(375)

51,550

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid to:
• owners of parent
• non-controlling interests

Currency translation differences				8

18

–

–

		
111,995

54,148

51,632

82

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note 19)			93,923

111,995

51,257

51,632

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

						
Note:
(a) The additions in property, plant and equipment were acquired by way of:
		

Group

Company

					2014
					RM’000

2013
RM’000

2014
RM’000

2013
RM’000

Cash				
7,002

14,671

–

–

Deferred payment				223

390

–

–

Provision for other liabilities				

566

–

–

–

Less: Payment made for previous year acquisition				

(390)

(171)

–

–

Additions (Note 12)				

7,401

14,890

–

–
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Note: (continued)
(b) A reconciliation of interest expenses and interest paid is as follows:
		

Group

Company

					2014
					RM’000

2013
RM’000

2014
RM’000

2013
RM’000

Interest paid				2,609

4,937

2,739

3,502

Deferred payment				 63

31

189

236

(31)

(485)

(236)

(227)

Interest expenses				2,641

4,483

2,692

3,511

					2014
					RM’000

2013
RM’000

2014
RM’000

2013
RM’000

Interest received				1,278

714

15,926

9,783

Deferred income				–

–

1,186

967

Less: Receipt for previous year interest income				

–

–

(967)

(680)

Interest income				 1,278

714

16,145

10,070

Less: Payment made for previous year interest expenses			

(c) A reconciliation of interest income and interest received is as follows:
		

Group

Company

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements
December 31, 2014

1. Corporate Information
The Company is a public limited company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia, and listed on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia
Securities Berhad.
The registered office and principal place of business of the Company are located at 74, Jalan University, 46200 Petaling Jaya, Selangor
Darul Ehsan.
The immediate and intermediate holding companies of the Company are DKSH Resources (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. and DKSH Holdings (Asia)
Sdn. Bhd. respectively, both of which are incorporated in Malaysia.
The ultimate holding company of the Company is DKSH Holding Ltd, a company incorporated in Switzerland and listed on the SIX Swiss
Exchange.
The Company is principally an investment holding company. The principal activities of the Group are the provisioning of Market Expansion
Services, which ranges from marketing, to providing sales force, distribution and logistics, invoicing and credit control, handling of inventory
and returned goods and other value added services. These services are provided to consumer goods, healthcare and performance material
clients. The Group also operates retail outlets selling Famous Amos cookies.
There have been no significant changes in the nature of the principal activity during the financial year.
The financial statements have been approved for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors on March 30, 2015.
					
2. Summary of significant accounting policies
2.1 Basis of preparation
The financial statements of the Group and the Company have been prepared in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards
(”MFRS”), International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia. These financial
statements also comply with the International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as disclosed in the accounting policies below.
The financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (”RM”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (RM’000) except
when otherwise indicated.
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Notes to the financial statements
December 31, 2014 (continued)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except as follows:
On January 1, 2014, the Group and the Company adopted the following amended MFRS mandatory for annual financial periods beginning
on or after January 1, 2014.
		
Description

Effective for annual periods
beginning on or after

Amendments to MFRS 132: Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

January 1, 2014

Amendments to MFRS 10, MFRS 12 and MFRS 127: Investment Entities

January 1, 2014

Amendments to MFRS 136: Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets

January 1, 2014

Amendments to MFRS 139: Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting

January 1, 2014

						
Adoption of the above amended MFRS did not have any effect on the financial performance or position of the Group and the Company
as discussed below:
Amendments to MFRS 132: Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
The amendments clarify the meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off” and “simultaneous realization and settlement”.
These amendments are to be applied retrospectively. These amendments have no impact on the Group, since none of the entities in the
Group has any offsetting arrangements.
Amendments to MFRS 10, MFRS 12 and MFRS 127: Investment Entities
These amendments provide an exception to the consolidation requirement for entities that meet the definition of an investment entity
under MFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and must be applied retrospectively, subject to certain transition relief. The exception
to consolidation requires investment entities to account for subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss. These amendments have no
impact on the Group, since none of the entities in the Group qualifies to be an investment entity under MFRS 10.
Amendments to MFRS 136: Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets
The amendments to MFRS 136 remove the requirement to disclose the recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit (CGU) to which goodwill
or other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives has been allocated when there has been no impairment or reversal of impairment of
the related CGU. In addition, the amendments introduce additional disclosure requirements when the recoverable amount is measured
at fair value less costs of disposal. These new disclosures include the fair value hierarchy, key assumptions and valuation techniques used
which are in line with the disclosure required by MFRS 13 Fair Value Measurements.
The application of these amendments has had no material impact on the disclosures in the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements.
Amendments to MFRS 139: Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting
These amendments provide relief from the requirement to discontinue hedge accounting when a derivative designated as a hedging
instrument is novated under certain circumstances. The amendments also clarify that any change to the fair value of the derivative
designated as a hedging instrument arising from the novation should be included in the assessment and measure of hedge effectiveness.
Retrospective application is required.
These amendments have no impact on the Group as the Group does not have any derivatives that are subject to novation.
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Notes to the financial statements
December 31, 2014 (continued)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.3 Standards issued but not yet effective
The standards and amendments that are issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the Group’s and the Company’s financial
statements are disclosed below. The Group and the Company intend to adopt these standards, if applicable, when they become effective.
		
Description

Effective for annual periods
beginning on or after

Amendments to MFRS 119: Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions

July 1, 2014

Annual Improvements to MFRSs 2010–2012 Cycle

July 1, 2014

Annual Improvements to MFRSs 2011–2013 Cycle

July 1, 2014

Annual Improvements to MFRSs 2012–2014 Cycle

January 1, 2016

Amendments to MFRS 101: Disclosure Initiatives

January 1, 2016

Amendments to MFRS 116 and MFRS 138: Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortization

January 1, 2016

Amendments to MFRS 127: Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements

January 1, 2016

Amendments to MFRS 10, MFRS 12 and MFRS 128: Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception

January 1, 2016

MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

January 1, 2017

MFRS 9 Financial Instruments

January 1, 2018

The Directors expect that the adoption of the above standards and amendments will have no material impact on the financial statements
in the period of initial application as discussed below:
Annual improvements to MFRSs 2010–2012 cycle
MFRS 3 Business Combinations
The amendments to MFRS 3 clarifies that contingent consideration classified as liabilities (or assets) should be measured at fair value through
profit or loss at each reporting date, irrespective of whether the contingent consideration is a financial instrument within the scope of
MFRS 9 or MFRS 139. The amendments are effective for business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after July 1, 2014.
MFRS 8 Operating Segments
The amendments are to be applied retrospectively and clarify that:
• an entity must disclose the judgments made by management in applying the aggregation criteria in MFRS 8, including a brief description
of operating segments that have been aggregated and the economic characteristics used to assess whether the segments are similar;
and
• the reconciliation of segment assets to total assets is only required to be disclosed if the reconciliation is reported to the chief operating
decision maker.
MFRS 124 Related Party Disclosures
The amendments clarify that a management entity providing key management personnel services to a reporting entity is a related party of
the reporting entity. The reporting entity should disclose as related party transactions the amounts incurred for the service paid or payable
to the management entity for the provision of key management personnel services.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.3 Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)
Annual improvements to MFRSs 2011–2013 cycle
MFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
The amendments to MFRS 13 clarify that the portfolio exception in MFRS 13 can be applied not only to financial assets and financial
liabilities, but also to other contracts within the scope of MFRS 9 (or MFRS 139 as applicable).
Annual improvements to MFRSs 2012–2014 cycle
MFRS 134 Interim Financial Reporting
MFRS 134 requires entities to disclose information in the notes to the interim financial statements ‘if not disclosed elsewhere in the interim
financial report’.
The amendment states that the required interim disclosures must either be in the interim financial statements or incorporated by crossreference between the interim financial statements and wherever they are included within the greater interim financial report (e.g., in the
management commentary or risk report). The other information within the interim financial report must be available to users on the same
terms as the interim financial statements and at the same time.
Amendments to MFRS 101: Disclosure Initiatives
The amendments to MFRS 101 include narrow-focus improvements in the following five areas:
•
•
•
•
•

Materiality
Disaggregation and subtotals
Notes structure
Disclosure of accounting policies
Presentation of items of other comprehensive income arising from equity accounted investments

The Directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of these amendments will have a material impact on the Group’s
and the Company’s financial statements.
Amendments to MFRS 116 and MFRS 138: Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortization
The amendments clarify that revenue reflects a pattern of economic benefits that are generated from operating a business (of which the
asset is part) rather than the economic benefits that are consumed through the use of an asset. As a result, a revenue-based method cannot
be used to depreciate property, plant and equipment and may only be used in very limited circumstances to amortize intangible assets.
The amendments are effective prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016, with early adoption permitted.
These amendments are not expected to have any impact to the Group as the Group has not used a revenue-based method to depreciate
its non-current assets.
Amendments to MFRS 127: Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements
The amendments will allow entities to use the equity method to account for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in
their separate financial statements. Entities already applying MFRS and electing to change to the equity method in its separate financial
statements will have to apply this change retrospectively. For first-time adopters of MFRS electing to use the equity method in its separate
financial statements, they will be required to apply this method from the date of transition to MFRS. The amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016, with early adoption permitted. These amendments will not have any impact on the
Company’s financial statements.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.3 Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)
MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
MFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model that will apply to revenue arising from contracts with customers. MFRS 15 will supersede the
current revenue recognition guidance including MFRS 118 Revenue, MFRS 111 Construction Contracts and the related interpretations
when it becomes effective.
The core principle of MFRS 15 is that an entity should recognize revenue which depict the transfer of promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.
Under MFRS 15, an entity recognizes revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.
Either a full or modified retrospective application is required for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017 with early adoption
permitted. The Directors anticipate that the application of MFRS 15 will have a material impact on the amounts reported and disclosures
made in the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements. The Group is currently assessing the impact of MFRS 15 and plans to adopt
the new standard on the required effective date.
MFRS 9 Financial Instruments
In November 2014, MASB issued the final version of MFRS 9 Financial Instruments which reflects all phases of the financial instruments
project and replaces MFRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and all previous versions of MFRS 9.
The standard introduces new requirements for classification and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. MFRS 9 is effective
for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early application permitted. Retrospective application is required, but
comparative information is not compulsory. The adoption of MFRS 9 will have an effect on the classification and measurement of the
Group’s financial assets, but no impact on the classification and measurement of the Group’s financial liabilities.
2.4 Economic entities in the Group
(a) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as at the reporting date. The
financial statements of the subsidiaries used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are prepared for the same reporting
date as the Company. Consistent accounting policies are applied to like transactions and events in similar circumstances.
The Company controls an investee if and only if the Company has all the following:
(i) Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee);
(ii) Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its investment with the investee; and
(iii) The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.
When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, the Company considers the following in assessing whether
or not the Company’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power over the investee:
(i) The size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;
(ii) Potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties;
(iii) Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(iv) Any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the relevant
activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.4 Economic entities in the Group (continued)
(a) Basis of consolidation (continued)
Subsidiaries are consolidated when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Company loses control of the
subsidiary. All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealized gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in full.
Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interests even if that results in a deficit balance.
Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted
for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes
in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. The resulting difference is recognized directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.
When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary and any non-controlling interest, is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. The subsidiary’s cumulative gain or
loss which has been recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is reclassified to the statement of comprehensive
income or where applicable, transferred directly to retained earnings. The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at
the date control is lost is regarded as the cost on initial recognition of the investment.
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the
consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included
in administrative expenses.
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognized at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes
in the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be an asset or liability, will be recognized in accordance with MFRS
139 either in profit or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it will not
be remeasured. Subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. In instances where the contingent consideration does not fall within
the scope of MFRS 139, it is measured in accordance with the appropriate MFRS.
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and the pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes
the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any
resulting gain or loss is recognized in statement of comprehensive income.
(b) Transactions with non-controlling interests
Non-controlling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets in subsidiaries not held by the Group and are presented
separately in statement of comprehensive income of the Group and within equity in the consolidated statements of financial position,
separately from parent shareholders’ equity. Transactions with non-controlling interests are accounted for using the entity concept method,
whereby, transactions with non-controlling interests are accounted for as transactions with owners. On acquisition of non-controlling
interests, the difference between the consideration and book value of the share of the net assets acquired is recognized directly in equity.
Gain or loss on disposal to non-controlling interests is recognized directly in equity.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.5 Intangible assets
(a) Goodwill
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount recognized for
non-controlling interests over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in
excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the gain is recognized in statement of comprehensive income.
After initial recognition, goodwill is tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those cash-generating units
or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the business combination in which the goodwill
arose. The accounting policy on impairment of non-financial assets is disclosed in Note 2.8.
Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal.
Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the relative values of the disposed operation and the portion of the cashgenerating unit retained.
(b) Trademarks
Acquired trademarks are shown at historical cost. Trademarks have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortization.
Amortization is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of trademarks over its estimated useful life of an average of
10 years. The accounting policy on impairment of non-financial assets is disclosed in Note 2.8.
2.6 Property, plant and equipment
All property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The
carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of comprehensive
income during the financial year in which they are incurred.
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of the assets, to their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, summarized as follows:
Buildings and renovations
Plant and machinery
Furniture, fittings and equipment
Motor vehicles

3 - 35 years
3 - 10 years
3 - 5 years
5 years
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.6 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Work-in-progress comprises buildings and renovations which are not completed at reporting date. Depreciation on work-in-progress
commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.
Residual values and useful lives of assets are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of the financial year.
At the end of the financial year, the Group assesses whether there is any indication of impairment. If such indications exist, an analysis is
performed to assess whether the carrying amount of the asset is fully recoverable. A write down is made if the carrying amount exceeds
the recoverable amount. The accounting policy on impairment of non-financial assets is disclosed in Note 2.8.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are included in other gains/(losses) from
operations.
2.7 Investments in subsidiaries
A subsidiary is an entity over which the Company has all the following:
(i) Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee);
(ii) Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its investment with the investee; and
(iii) The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.
Investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Where an indication of impairment exists, the carrying
amount of the investment is assessed and written down immediately to its recoverable amount.
On disposal of investments in subsidiaries, the difference between net disposal proceeds and the carrying amounts are recognized in the
statement of comprehensive income.
2.8 Impairment of non-financial assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example goodwill, are not subject to amortization and are tested annually for impairment.
Assets that are subject to amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there is separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of
the financial year.
The impairment loss is charged to statement of comprehensive income. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed. In respect of other
assets, any subsequent increase in recoverable amount is recognized in statement of comprehensive income.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
		
2.9 Leases
(a) As lessee
Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the leased item, are capitalized
at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Any
initial direct costs are also added to the amount capitalized. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction
of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged to
statement of comprehensive income. Contingent rents, if any, are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.
Leased assets are depreciated over the estimated useful life of the asset. However, if there is no reasonable certainty that the Group will
obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset is depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life and the lease term.
Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense in statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the lease
term. The aggregate benefit of incentives provided by the lessor is recognized as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a
straight-line basis.
(b) As lessor
Leases where the Group retains sustainability all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized over the lease
term on the same bases as rental income. The accounting policy for rental income is set out in Note 2.16.
2.10 Inventories
Inventories comprise raw materials, packaging materials and finished goods. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable
value.
Cost is principally determined on a weighted average basis and comprises cost of purchase, cost of conversion and other costs incurred
in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. It excludes borrowing costs.
Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the costs of completion and applicable variable
selling expenses.
2.11 Share capital
(a) Classification
Ordinary shares with discretionary dividends are classified as equity. Other shares are classified as equity and/or liability according to the
economic substance of the particular instrument.
Distribution to holders of a financial instrument classified as an equity instrument is charged directly to equity.
(b) Dividends distribution
Distributions to holders of an equity instrument is debited directly to equity, net of any related income tax benefit and the corresponding
liability is recognized in the period in which the dividends are approved.
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2.12 Income taxes
(a) Current tax
Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax
rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.
Current taxes are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income except to the extent that the tax relates to items recognized
outside the statement of comprehensive income, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.
(b) Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all temporary differences, except:
• where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and
• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures, where
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilized except:
• where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in
a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and
• in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures,
deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.
Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that
future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax assets to be utilized.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realized or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.
Deferred tax relating to items recognized outside the statement of comprehensive income is recognized outside the statement of
comprehensive income. Deferred tax items are recognized in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity and deferred tax arising from a business combination is adjusted against goodwill on acquisition.
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.13 Employee benefits
(a) Short term employee benefits
The Group recognizes a liability and an expense for bonuses and profit sharing, based on a formula that takes into consideration the profit
attributable to the Group’s shareholders after certain adjustments. The Group recognizes a provision where contractually obliged or where
there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.
Wages, salaries, paid annual leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits are accrued in the financial year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees of the Group.
(b) Post-employment benefits
National defined contribution plan
Companies incorporated in Malaysia contribute to the Employees Provident Fund, the national defined contribution plan. The Group’s
contributions are charged to the statement of comprehensive income. Once the contributions have been paid, the Group has no further
payment obligations.
Other defined contribution plan
The plan has been terminated in previous financial year. The Group accrued interest on the remaining accumulated balance annually, at
the current interest rate for savings accounts plus 1%. Once the interest were accrued, the Group had no further liabilities.
(c) Accruals for retrenchment benefits
Retrenchment benefits are payable whenever an employee’s employment is terminated before the normal retirement date or whenever an
employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognizes retrenchment benefits when it is demonstrably
committed to either terminate the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal
or to provide retrenchment benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 12
months after the end of the financial year are discounted to present value.
2.14 Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, bank balances, demand deposits, short
term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less (less bank overdrafts) that are readily convertible to known
amount of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Bank overdrafts are presented within borrowings in
current liabilities in the statements of financial position.
2.15 Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, when it is probable that
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and when a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. Where the
Group expects a provision to be reimbursed (for example, under an insurance contract), the reimbursement is recognized as a separate
asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. Provisions are not recognized for future operating losses.
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering
the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognized even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in
the same class of obligations may be small.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due
to passage of time is recognized as interest expense.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.15 Provisions (continued)
Onerous contract
The Group recognizes a provision for onerous contracts when the expected benefits to be derived from a contract are less than the
unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract.
Restructuring
Restructuring provisions mainly comprise lease termination penalties and employee termination payments and are recognized in the period
in which the Group becomes legally or constructively committed to payment. Future operating costs are not provided for.
Restoration cost
Provision for restoration cost is estimated cost of dismantling, removing or restoring the property, plant and equipment at the lease inception
date for operating leases with requirements to remove leasehold improvements at the end of the lease term.
2.16 Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably
measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable.
Revenue from sale of goods is recognized when significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods are transferred to the buyers, net
of sales taxes and discounts, and after eliminating sales within the Group.
Revenue from rendering of services is recognized upon performance.
Other revenue earned by the Group is recognized on the following basis:
Interest income
Rental and commission income
Dividend income

–
using the effective yield method.
–		as it accrues unless collectibility is in doubt.
–		when the entity’s right to receive payment is established.

2.17 Foreign currencies
(a) Functional and presentation currency
The individual financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (”the functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (”RM”),
which is also the Company’s functional currency.
(b) Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currencies of the Company and its subsidiaries and are recorded
on initial recognition in the functional currencies at exchange rates approximating those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date. Non-monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at historical cost are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items denominated in foreign currencies measured at fair value are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was determined.
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2.17 Foreign currencies (continued)
(b) Foreign currency transactions (continued)
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at the reporting date are recognized
in the statement of comprehensive income except for exchange differences arising on monetary items that form part of the Group’s net
investment in foreign operations, which are recognized initially in other comprehensive income and accumulated under foreign currency
translation reserve in equity. The foreign currency translation reserve is reclassified from equity to the statement of comprehensive income
of the Group on disposal of the foreign operation.
Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in the statement of comprehensive
income for the period except for the differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are
recognized directly in equity. Exchange differences arising from such non-monetary items are also recognized directly in equity.
(c) Foreign operations
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into RM at the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date and income and
expenses are translated at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. The exchange differences arising on the translation are taken
directly to other comprehensive income. On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount recognized in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under foreign currency translation reserve relating to that particular foreign operation is recognized in
the statement of comprehensive income.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of foreign operations are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
operations and are recorded in the functional currency of the foreign operations and translated at the closing rate at the reporting date.
2.18 Financial assets
Financial assets are recognized in the statements of financial position when, and only when, the Group and the Company become a party
to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.
When financial assets are recognized initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of financial assets not at fair value through
profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.
The Group and the Company determine the classification of their financial assets at initial recognition, and the categories include financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments and available-for-sale financial assets.
(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss if they are held for trading or are designated as such
upon initial recognition. Financial assets held for trading are derivatives (including separated embedded derivatives) or financial assets
acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near term.
Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value. Any gains or losses arising
from changes in fair value are recognized in the statements of comprehensive income. Net gains or net losses on financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss do not include exchange differences, interest and dividend income. Exchange differences, interest and dividend
income on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognized separately in the statements of comprehensive income as
part of other losses or other income.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss could be presented as current or non-current. Financial assets held primarily for trading
purposes are presented as current whereas financial assets not held primarily for trading purposes are presented as current or non-current
based on the settlement date.
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2.18 Financial assets (continued)
(b) Loans and receivables
Financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are classified as loans and receivables.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Gains and
losses are recognized in the statements of comprehensive income when the loans and receivables are derecognized or impaired, and
through the amortization process.
Loans and receivables are classified as current assets, except for those having maturity dates later than 12 months after the reporting date
which are classified as non-current.
(c) Held-to-maturity investments
Financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity are classified as held-to-maturity when the Group has the positive
intention and ability to hold the investment to maturity.
Subsequent to initial recognition, held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Gains
and losses are recognized in the statements of comprehensive income when the held-to-maturity investments are derecognized or impaired,
and through the amortization process.
Held-to-maturity investments are classified as non-current assets, except for those having maturity within 12 months after the reporting
date which are classified as current.
(d) Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are financial assets that are designated as available for sale or are not classified in any of the three
preceding categories.
After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value. Any gains or losses from changes in fair value of
the financial assets are recognized in other comprehensive income, except that impairment losses, foreign exchange gains and losses
on monetary instruments and interest calculated using the effective interest method are recognized in the statements of comprehensive
income. The cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to the statements
of comprehensive income as a reclassification adjustment when the financial asset is derecognized. Interest income calculated using the
effective interest method is recognized in the statements of comprehensive income. Dividends on an available-for-sale equity instrument are
recognized in the statements of comprehensive income when the Group and the Company’s right to receive payment is established.
Investments in equity instruments whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost less impairment loss.
Available-for-sale financial assets are classified as non-current assets unless they are expected to be realized within 12 months after the
reporting date.
A financial asset is derecognized when the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired. On derecognition of a financial
asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and any cumulative gain or
loss that had been recognized in other comprehensive income is recognized in the statements of comprehensive income.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace concerned. All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized or
derecognized on the trade date i.e., the date that the Group and the Company commit to purchase or sell the asset.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.19 Impairment of financial assets
The Group and the Company assess at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired.
(a) Trade and other receivables and other financial assets carried at amortized cost
To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets has been incurred, the Group and the Company
consider factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor and default or significant delay in
payments. For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are
subsequently assessed for impairment on a collective basis based on similar risk characteristics. Objective evidence of impairment for a
portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s and the Company’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number
of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit period and observable changes in national or local economic conditions that
correlate with default on receivables.
If any such evidence exists, the amount of impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The impairment loss is
recognized in the statements of comprehensive income.
The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of trade
receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a trade receivable becomes uncollectible,
it is written off against the allowance account.
If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset
does not exceed its amortized cost at the reversal date. The amount of reversal is recognized in the statements of comprehensive income.
(b) Unquoted equity securities carried at cost
If there is objective evidence (such as significant adverse changes in the business environment where the issuer operates, probability of
insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the issuer) that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at cost has been incurred, the
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment losses are not reversed in subsequent periods.
(c) Available-for-sale financial assets
Significant or prolonged decline in fair value below cost, significant financial difficulties of the issuer or obligor, and the disappearance
of an active trading market are considerations to determine whether there is objective evidence that investment securities classified as
available-for-sale financial assets are impaired.
If an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost (net of any principal payment
and amortization) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognized in the statements of comprehensive income,
is transferred from equity to the statements of comprehensive income.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments are not reversed in the statements of comprehensive income in the subsequent
periods. Increase in fair value, if any, subsequent to impairment loss is recognized in other comprehensive income. For available-for-sale
debt investments, impairment losses are subsequently reversed in the statements of comprehensive income if an increase in the fair
value of the investment can be objectively related to an event occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss in the statements of
comprehensive income.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.20 Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is presented in the statements of financial position when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realize the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.
2.21 Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial
liability.
Financial liabilities, within the scope of MFRS 139, are recognized in the statements of financial position when, and only when, the Group
and the Company become a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. Financial liabilities are classified as either
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss or other financial liabilities.
(a) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated upon
initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial liabilities held for trading include derivatives entered into by the Group and the Company that do not meet the hedge accounting
criteria. Derivative liabilities are initially measured at fair value and subsequently stated at fair value, with any resultant gains or losses
recognized in the statements of comprehensive income. Net gains or losses on derivatives include exchange differences.
(b) Other financial liabilities
The Group’s and the Company’s other financial liabilities include trade payables, other payables and loans and borrowings.
Trade and other payables are recognized initially at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs and subsequently measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest method.
Loans and borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest method. Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.
For other financial liabilities, gains and losses are recognized in statements of comprehensive income when the liabilities are derecognized,
and through the amortization process.
(c) Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities
Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured at their
fair value.
The method of recognizing the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and the
nature of the item being hedged. Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are classified as held for trading and accounted for
in accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2.18.
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is extinguished. When an existing financial liability is replaced
by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an
exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in
the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the statements of comprehensive income.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.22 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are capitalized as part of the cost of a qualifying asset if they are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of that asset. Capitalization of borrowing costs commences when the activities to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale
are in progress and the expenditures and borrowing costs are incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalized until the assets are substantially
completed for their intended use or sale.
All other borrowing costs are recognized in the statements of comprehensive income in the period they are incurred. Borrowing costs
consist of interest and other costs that the Group and the Company incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds.
2.23 Segment reporting
For management purposes, the Group is organized into operating segments based on their products and services which are independently
managed by the respective segment managers responsible for the performance of the respective segments under their charge. The segment
managers report directly to the management of the Company who regularly review the segment results in order to allocate resources to
the segments and to assess the segment performance. These segmental information are reviewed by the chief operating decision maker.
Additional disclosures on each of these segments are shown in Note 29, including the factors used to identify the reportable segments
and the measurement basis of segment information.
2.24 Financial guarantee contracts
A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs
because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due.
Financial guarantee contracts are recognized initially as a liability at fair value, net of transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
financial guarantee contracts are recognized as income in statement of comprehensive income over the period of the guarantee. If the
debtor fails to make payment relating to financial guarantee contract when it is due and the Group, as the issuer, is required to reimburse
the holder for the associated loss, the liability is measured at the higher of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
present obligation at the reporting date and the amount initially recognized less cumulative amortization.
2.25 Discontinued operation
A component of the Group is classified as a “discontinued operation” when the criteria to be classified as held for sale have been met or
it has been disposed of and such a component represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations or is part of
a single coordinated major line of business or geographical area of operations. A component is deemed to be held for sale if its carrying
amounts will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use.
Upon classification as held for sale, non-current assets and disposal groups are not depreciated and are measured at the lower of carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell. Any differences are recognized in statement of comprehensive income.

73

> DKSH Holdings (Malaysia) Berhad: Annual Report 2014

Notes to the financial statements
December 31, 2014 (continued)

3. Significant accounting judgments and estimates
The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the reporting date. However,
uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying
amount of the asset or liability affected in the future.
3.1 Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.
(a) Valuation of trademarks
The Group valued the trademarks using the premium pricing model and value-in-use method. Both valuations require significant judgment.
In making this judgment, the Group evaluates, among other factors, the price premium, discount rate and future use of the trademarks.
In making these key estimates and judgments, the Group takes into consideration assumptions that are mainly based on market condition
existing at the financial position dates and appropriate market and discount rates. These estimates are regularly compared with actual
market data and actual transactions entered into by the Group. More details are disclosed in Note 13 to the financial statements.
(b) Estimated impairment of goodwill
The Group tests goodwill for impairment annually in accordance with its accounting policy. More regular reviews are performed if events
indicate that this is necessary.
The recoverable amounts of cash generating units were determined based on the value-in-use calculations, where assumptions and
estimates have been used, based on future events which the Directors expect to take place and actions which management expects to
take. In making these key estimates and judgments, the Group takes into consideration assumptions that are mainly based on market
condition existing at the reporting date and appropriate market and discount rates. These estimates are regularly compared with actual
market data and actual transactions entered into by the Group. More details are disclosed in Note 13 to the financial statements.
(c) Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilized. This involves judgment regarding the future financial performance of the particular entity in which the deferred
tax asset has been recognized. More details are disclosed in Note 16 to the financial statements.
3.2 Critical judgment in applying the entity’s accounting policies
There were no significant judgments made by the management in the process of applying the Group’s and the Company’s accounting
policies that have significant effects on the amounts recognized in the financial statements.
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4. Revenue
		

Group

Company

						
Restated
					2014
2013
					RM’000
RM’000

2014
RM’000

2013
RM’000

Sale of goods				

5,313,228

5,058,372

–

–

Rendering of services				

26,253

27,251

–

–

Commission income				–

–

6

7

–

14,867

9,493

Interest income:
• subsidiaries

–

• related companies

–

–

–

8

• others

–

–

1,278

569

–

–

–

136,831

					5,339,481

5,085,623

16,151

146,908

Dividend income (gross):
• subsidiaries

5. Staff costs
			

Group

							
2014
							
RM’000

2013
RM’000

Salaries and bonus						
118,654

111,096

Post-employment benefits obligation:
• national defined contribution plan and social security contribution

19,924

16,398

–

1,627

Other employee benefits						
28,526

28,607

							
167,104

157,728

• other defined contribution plan

Included in staff costs are Directors’ remuneration as disclosed in Note 6.
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6. Directors’ remuneration
The details of remuneration received/receivable by the Directors of the Group and the Company for the financial year are as follows:
		

Group

					2014
					RM’000

Company
2013
RM’000

2014
RM’000

2013
RM’000

167

162

155

150

1,180

1,148

–

–

Non-executive Directors:
• fees

Executive Director:
• salaries and bonus

204

201

–

–

					1,384

• other employee benefits

1,349

–

–

					1,551

1,511

155

150

2013
RM’000

2014
RM’000

2013
RM’000

352

675

–

–

7. Finance costs
		

Group

					2014
					RM’000

Company

Interest expense:
• bankers’ acceptances
• promissory notes

–

732

–

–

• revolving credit

249

446

–

–

• term loans

815

1,452

–

–

• advances from holding companies

933

975

933

975

–

–

1,516

2,423

242

96

242

96

50

107

1

17

					2,641

4,483

2,692

3,511

• subsidiaries
• related company
• others
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8. Profit before tax from continuing operations
The following items have been included in arriving at profit before tax from continuing operations:
		

Group

Company

						
Restated
					2014
2013
					RM’000
RM’000
Auditors’ remuneration				450

2014
RM’000

2013
RM’000

445

90

87

7,318

–

–

Property, plant and equipment:
• depreciation
• written off

7,895
7

287

–

–

(244)

(333)

–

–

–

(99,465)

–

–

Incidental cost from disposal of properties				

–

2,198

–

–

Amortization of trademarks				

985

976

–

–

• other net gain on disposals
• gain on disposal of properties

Net foreign exchange losses/(gains):
• realized

52

334

–

–

• unrealized

873

(477)

–

–

Unrealized derivative losses/(gains)				

131

(221)

–

–

8,819

5,152

–

–

Inventories:
• written off
• net write-back of provision for slow moving

(299)

(137)

–

–

Rental income				
(275)

(126)

–

–

Ancillary charges				–

(43)

–

–

9,180

10,028

–

–

24,054

16,472

–

–

–

–

(14,867)

(9,493)

Rental expenses:
• other related party
• others
Interest income:
• subsidiaries
• related companies

–

(8)

–

(8)

(1,278)

(668)

(1,278)

(569)

Compensation from suppliers				

(859)

(851)

–

–

Net allowance for/(write-back of) impairment of doubtful debts			

236

(204)

–

–

Net write-back of doubtful advances to a subsidiary			

–

–

–

(6,989)

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries				

–

(24,620)

• others

–

(8,640)

Net fair value gain on available-for-sale financial assets transferred from
equity upon disposal				

–

(30)

–

–

Impairment losses of investment in a subsidiary				

–

–

–

6,994

Management fees paid to a related company				

3,925

4,192

–

–

77

> DKSH Holdings (Malaysia) Berhad: Annual Report 2014

Notes to the financial statements
December 31, 2014 (continued)

9. Income tax expense
		

Group

					2014
					RM’000

Company
2013
RM’000

2014
RM’000

2013
RM’000

20,989

20,631

3,291

2,248

72

175

66

13

					21,061

20,806

3,357

2,261

Malaysian income tax - continuing operations:
• Current year
• Underprovision in prior years

Deferred tax - continuing operations (Note 16):
• Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences

387

(1,361)

–

–

• Overprovision in prior years

(944)

(171)

–

–

					
(557)

(1,532)

–

–

19,274

3,357

2,261

Income tax attributable to:
• Continuing operations
• Discontinued operation (Note 10)
Total income tax expense				

20,504
–

2,517

–

–

20,504

21,791

3,357

2,261

Domestic income tax is calculated at the Malaysian statutory tax rate of 25% (2013: 25%) of the estimated assessable profit for the year.
Taxation for other jurisdiction is calculated at the rate prevailing in the respective jurisdiction. Companies in Brunei are taxed where for the
first BND100,000 of the chargeable income, only 25% is taxable, the next BND150,000 only 50% is taxable and 100% is taxable for any
remaining balance. The income tax rate applicable to the subsidiary, DKSH (B) Sdn. Bhd. in Brunei is 18.5% (2013: 20%).
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9. Income tax expense (continued)
A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the statutory income tax rate to income tax expense at the effective
income tax rate of the Group and of the Company is as follows:
		

Group

Company

					2014
					RM’000

2013
RM’000

2014
RM’000

2013
RM’000

Profit before tax from continuing operations				

80,415

190,445

12,974

167,508

Profit before tax from discontinued operation (Note 10)			

–

9,688

–

–

Profit before tax				

80,415

200,133

12,974

167,508

Taxation at Malaysian statutory tax rate of 25% (2013: 25%)			

20,104

50,033

3,244

41,877

Different tax rate in other country				

(18)

18

–

–

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes				

1,344

1,399

47

59

Income not subject to tax				

–

(29,725)

–

(39,688)

Utilization of previously unrecognized deferred tax assets			

(54)

(9)

–

–

Deferred tax assets not recognized				

–

71

–

–

Underprovision of income tax in prior years				

72

175

66

13

Overprovision of deferred tax in prior years				

(944)

(171)

–

–

Income tax expense				

20,504

21,791

3,357

2,261

10. Discontinued operation
On August 30, 2013, the Company announced the decision of its Board of Directors to dispose of the entire 51% equity interest in DKSH
Transport Agencies (M) Sdn. Bhd. and its subsidiary, Macro Consolidators (M) Sdn. Bhd. (“DKSH TA Group”), which were previously reported
in the logistics services segment. Following the completion of the disposal on October 29, 2013, the results of DKSH TA Group up to the
date of disposal were presented separately on the income statements as “profit from discontinued operation, net of tax”.
Statement of comprehensive income disclosures
The results of DKSH TA Group up to the date of disposal, October 29, 2013 were as follows:
								
2013
								
RM’000
Revenue 							
18,305
Expenses 							
(8,617)
Profit before tax from discontinued operation 							

9,688

Income tax expense (Note 9)							
(2,517)
Profit from discontinued operation, net of tax							

7,171
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10. Discontinued operation (continued)
Included in the profit before tax of the discontinued operation were:
								
2013
								
RM’000
Auditors’ remuneration							
35
Depreciation of plant and equipment							
176
Other interest income							
(38)
Rental of land and buildings							
298
Net unrealized foreign exchange losses							
17
Net allowance for impairment of doubtful debts							

169

Staff costs:
• Salaries and bonus

5,096

• Post-employment benefits obligation: National defined contribution plan and social security contribution

748

Other employee benefits							
520

Statement of cash flows disclosures
The cash flows attributable to the DKSH TA Group up to the date of disposal, October 29, 2013 were as follows:
								
2013
								
RM’000
Operating							
7,621
Investing							
(40)
Financing							
11,600
Net cash inflows							
19,181

11. Earnings per share - Basic
The earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the financial year attributable to the owners of the parent by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the financial year.
			

Group

							
2014
							
RM’000

2013
RM’000

Profit net of tax from continuing operations attributable to owners of the parent				

59,911

167,657

Profit net of tax from discontinued operation attributable to owners of the parent				

–

7,171

Profit net of tax attributable to owners of the parent					

59,911

174,828

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (‘000)					

157,658

157,658
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11. Earnings per share - Basic (continued)
			

Group

							
2014
							
sen

2013
sen

Basic earnings per share for:
38.00

106.34

Profit from discontinued operation						–

Profit from continuing operations 						

4.55

Profit for the year						
38.00

110.89

There are no shares in issuance which have a dilutive effect to the earnings per share of the Group.
12. Property, plant and equipment
			
Buildings		
Furniture,		
Work			
and
Plant and
fittings and
Motor
in			 renovations
machinery
equipment
vehicles
progress
Group		RM’000
RM’000
RM’000
RM’000
RM’000

Total
RM’000

At December 31, 2014

Cost
At January 1, 2014		28,999

18,196

69,110

2,190

90

118,585

Additions		 134

407

5,496

–

1,364

7,401

(1,508)

(157)

(213)

–

(1,878)

Disposals		

–

Reclassification		112

–

422

–

(534)

–

Written off		 (372)

(42)

(2,207)

–

–

(2,621)

At December 31, 2014		28,873

17,053

72,664

1,977

920

121,487

At January 1, 2014		25,993

13,355

57,296

1,831

–

98,475

Charge for the year		1,184

1,044

5,524

143

–

7,895

(1,508)

(141)

(202)

–

(1,851)

Accumulated depreciation

Disposals		

–

Written off		 (366)

(42)

(2,206)

–

–

(2,614)

At December 31, 2014		26,811

12,849

60,473

1,772

–

101,905

Net carrying amount		 2,062

4,204

12,191

205

920

19,582
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12. Property, plant and equipment (continued)
			
Buildings		
Furniture,		
Work		
Leasehold
and
Plant and
fittings and
Motor
in		
land
renovations
machinery
equipment
vehicles
progress
Group (continued)
RM’000
RM’000
RM’000
RM’000
RM’000
RM’000

Total
RM’000

At December 31, 2013

Cost
At January 1, 2013

27,675

43,450

15,241

74,270

3,248

62

163,946

Additions

–

645

704

7,047

181

6,313

14,890

Disposals

(27,675)

(15,405)

(15)

(59)

(1,235)

–

(44,389)

–

–

–

(2,347)

–

–

(2,347)

Disposal of subsidiaries
Reclassification

–

1,635

2,984

1,666

–

(6,285)

–

Written off

–

(1,326)

(718)

(11,467)

(4)

–

(13,515)

At December 31, 2013

–

28,999

18,196

69,110

2,190

90

118,585

8,253

35,419

13,222

65,893

2,849

–

125,636

266

1,658

653

4,550

191

–

7,318

Accumulated depreciation
At January 1, 2013
Charge for the year:
• continuing operations
• discontinued operation
Disposals

–

–

–

176

–

–

176

(8,519)

(9,827)

(15)

(35)

(1,205)

–

(19,601)

Disposal of subsidiaries

–

–

–

(1,826)

–

–

(1,826)

Written off

–

(1,257)

(505)

(11,462)

(4)

–

(13,228)

At December 31, 2013

–

25,993

13,355

57,296

1,831

–

98,475

Net carrying amount

–

3,006

4,841

11,814

359

90

20,110
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13. Intangible assets
							
Group
						
Goodwill
Trademarks
						RM’000
RM’000

Total
RM’000

Cost:
At January 1, 2013					

3,600

8,213

11,813

Disposal (Note 15)					
(3,600)

–

(3,600)

–

8,213

8,213

Addition					–

280

280

–

8,493

8,493

At January 1, 2013					

–

3,903

3,903

Amortization during the year					

–

976

976

At December 31, 2013					

–

4,879

4,879

Amortization during the year					

–

985

985

At December 31, 2014					

–

5,864

5,864

At December 31, 2014					

–

2,629

2,629

At December 31, 2013					

–

3,334

3,334

At December 31, 2013					

At December 31, 2014					

Accumulated amortization and impairment losses:

Net carrying amount:

Impairment tests for goodwill
In the previous year, the goodwill of RM 3,600,000 was allocated to the logistics segment of the Group.
Recoverable amount based on value-in-use
The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by the Directors covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated
using the estimated growth rates. The growth rate does not exceed the long term average growth rate for the relevant CGUs.
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13. Intangible assets (continued)
Valuation of trademarks
Alladdin’s trademark
The valuation of trademark is determined based on the premium pricing model.
The key assumptions involved in the value-in-use calculation are as follows:
• A period of 2.5 (2013: 3.5) years based on the remaining life of the trademark;
• Revenue and operating profits were based on the current year’s results;
• Growth rate of 1.1% (2013: 3.7% declining growth rate as a result of continuing competitive pressure from the market players); and
• Pre-tax weighted average cost of capital of 10.40%, at 1.5% risk premium (2013: pre-tax weighted average cost of capital of 7.69%,
at 1.5% risk premium).
Based on the above key assumptions, the recoverable amount for the Alladdin’s trademark based on the value-in-use calculation was
higher than the carrying value of the trademark. Thus, no impairment is recognized for the financial year.
The sensitivity of the recoverable amount based on changes to the discount rate and growth rate is as follow:
• if the discount rate increases by 81% (2013: 8%) with all other variables remain constant, the trademark will be impaired by RM 16,000
(2013: RM 47,000); and
• if the growth rate decreases by 43% (2013: 15%) with all other variables remain constant, the trademark will be impaired by RM 47,000
(2013: RM 6,000).
Eva’s trademark
The valuation of the trademark is based a value-in-use method and the key assumptions involved are as follows:
• A period of 9.7 years based on the remaining life of the trademark;
• Revenue were based on the current year’s results;
• Growth rate of 20% for the first 5 years and 15% thereafter; and
• Pre-tax weighted average cost of capital of 10.40%.
Based on the above key assumptions, the recoverable amount for the Eva’s trademark based on the value-in-use calculation was higher
than the carrying value of the trademark. Thus, no impairment is recognized for the financial year.
The sensitivity of the recoverable amount based on changes to the discount rate and growth rate is as follows:
• if the discount rate increases by 53% with all other variables remain constant, the trademark will be impaired by RM 2,600.
• fluctuation of the growth rate with all other variables remain constant will not have any significant impact to the impairment of the
trademark.
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14. Available-for-sale financial assets
			

Group

							
2014
							
RM’000

2013
RM’000

Club memberships
At January 1						–

74

Decrease in fair value recognized in other comprehensive income					

–

(4)

Disposals						–

(70)

At December 31						–

–

Unquoted investments comprise golf club memberships that have no fixed maturity date. These investments are classified as available-forsale financial assets and as such are recorded at fair value with the gain or loss arising as a result of changes in fair value recorded directly
in equity. Accumulated fair value changes are recycled to the statements of comprehensive income on disposal, or when the investment
is impaired.
Fair value for available-for-sale investments are determined by reference to an active market.
15. Investments in subsidiaries
			

Company

							
2014
							
RM’000

2013
RM’000

Non-current assets
Unquoted shares at cost						
91,909

91,909

Less: Accumulated impairment losses						
(7,294)

(7,294)

							
84,615

84,615

Movement in unquoted shares accounts:
At January 1						
91,909

90,649

Disposals						–

(5,940)

Additional investment						–

7,200

At December 31						
91,909

91,909

In prior year, the subsidiary company, DKSH Logistics Services Sdn. Bhd. had increased its share capital by RM 7,200,000 and was all
subscribed by the Company, DKSH Holdings (Malaysia) Berhad.
In the previous year, the Company had disposed of its entire 51% equity interest in DKSH Transport Agencies (M) Sdn. Bhd. and its subsidiary,
Macro Consolidators (M) Sdn. Bhd. which amounted to RM 5,940,000.
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15. Investments in subsidiaries (continued)
		
		
Name of Company

Proportion (%) of ownership
Country of
incorporation

2014
%

2013
%

DKSH Malaysia Sdn. Bhd.
Malaysia
100
100
					

Principal activities
Provision of Market Expansion Services for consumer
goods, healthcare and performance material clients.

Held through DKSH Malaysia Sdn. Bhd.:
• DKSH Management
Malaysia Sdn. Bhd.

Malaysia

100

100

Dormant.

DKSH Marketing
Services Sdn. Bhd.

Malaysia

100

100

Dormant.

DKSH Distribution
Malaysia
100
100
Malaysia Sdn. Bhd.				

Provision of Market Expansion Services for healthcare
clients.

Held through DKSH Distribution Malaysia Sdn. Bhd.:
• DKSH (B) Sdn. Bhd.*
		

Negara Brunei
100
100
Darussalam			

Provision of Market Expansion Services for consumer
goods and healthcare clients.

DKSH Logistics Services Sdn. Bhd.

Malaysia

100

100

Dormant.

DKSH Central Services
Malaysia Sdn. Bhd.

Malaysia

100

100

Provision of estate management services.

The Famous Amos
Chocolate Chip Cookie
Corporation (M) Sdn. Bhd.

Malaysia

100

100

Manufacture and sale of chocolate chip cookies.

* Audited by a member firm of Ernst & Young.
Disposal of subsidiaries
On August 30, 2013, the Company announced the decision of its Board of Directors to dispose of the entire 51% equity interest in DKSH
Transport Agencies (M) Sdn. Bhd. and its subsidiary, Macro Consolidators (M) Sdn. Bhd. (“DKSH TA Group”), which were previously
reported in the logistics services segment.
The Company entered into a Sale and Purchase Agreement with Delta Express (M) Sdn. Bhd. for the disposal of its 51% equity interest in
DKSH TA Group for a total consideration of RM 30,600,000. Upon completion of the disposal, DKSH TA Group ceased to be a subsidiary
of the Company.
The disposal of the DKSH TA Group was completed on October 29, 2013.
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15. Investments in subsidiaries (continued)
Disposal of subsidiaries (continued)
The disposal had the following effects on the financial position of the Group as at October 29, 2013.
								
Group
								
RM’000
Property, plant and equipment							
521
Trade and other receivables							
24,364
Deferred tax assets							
248
Cash and bank balances							
23,738
Trade and other payables							
(12,000)
Income tax payables							
(951)
Net assets disposed							
35,920
Less: Non-controlling interests							
(17,600)
								
18,320
Disposal proceeds							
(30,600)
Attributable goodwill (Note 13)							
3,600
Incidental expenses							
40
Gain on disposal to the Group							

(8,640)

Cash inflow arising on disposals:
Cash consideration							
30,600
Cash and cash equivalents of subsidiaries disposed						

(23,738)

Net cash inflow on disposal							
6,862

16. Deferred tax
			

Group

							
2014
							
RM’000

2013
RM’000

At January 1 						
2,715

(430)

Recognized in statements of comprehensive income:
• continuing operations (Note 9)

557

1,532

• discontinued operation

–

165

Recognized in statements of changes in equity						

–

1,696

Disposal of subsidiaries						–

(248)

At December 31						
3,272

2,715
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16. Deferred tax (continued)
The components and movements of deferred tax liabilities and assets during the financial year prior to offsetting are as follows:
Group							
Recognized in
								
statement of
			
Recognized in statement		 Recognized in			 comprehensive
		
As at
of comprehensive income		 statement of		
As at
income
		
January
Continuing Discontinued
changes in
Disposal of
December
Continuing
		
1, 2013
operations
operation
equity
subsidiaries
31, 2013
operations
		
RM’000
RM’000
RM’000
RM’000
RM’000
RM’000
RM’000

As at
December
31, 2014
RM’000

Deferred tax liabilities:
Revaluation reserve
Property, plant
and equipment
		
Offsetting
		

(4,936)

3,240

–

1,696

–

–

–

–

(863)

15

17

–

27

(804)

1,027

223

(5,799)

3,255

17

1,696

27

(804)

1,027

223

680					
804		
(223)
(5,119)					–		–

Deferred tax assets:
Receivables

614

(263)

70

–

(98)

323

(35)

288

Inventories

1,032

(34)

–

–

–

998

(75)

923

Other payables

3,723

(1,426)

78

–

(177)

2,198

(360)

1,838

(1,723)

148

–

(275)

3,519

(470)

3,049

		

5,369

Offsetting

(680)					
(804)		
223

		

4,689 					
2,715		
3,272
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16. Deferred tax (continued)
			

Group

							
2014
							
RM’000

2013
RM’000

Presented after appropriate offsetting as follows:
Deferred tax assets						
3,272

2,715

Deferred tax liabilities						–

–

							
3,272

2,715

Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the following items:
			

Group

							
2014
							
RM’000

2013
RM’000

Other deductible temporary differences						
1,031

1,202

Unutilized capital allowances						
109

198

Unabsorbed business losses						
10,892

10,920

							
12,032

12,320

Deferred tax assets had not been recognized where it is not probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences can be utilized.
17. Inventories
			

Group

							
2014
							
RM’000

2013
RM’000

At cost:
Raw materials 						
4,604

4,327

Packaging materials						
2,577

3,062

Finished goods						
466,708

389,936

							
473,889

397,325

During the year, the amount of inventories recognized as an expense in cost of sales of the Group was RM 4,887,325,000
(2013: RM 4,647,640,000).

89

> DKSH Holdings (Malaysia) Berhad: Annual Report 2014

Notes to the financial statements
December 31, 2014 (continued)

18. Trade and other receivables
		

Group

					2014
					RM’000

Company
2013
RM’000

2014
RM’000

2013
RM’000

Third parties				904,560

854,015

–

–

Less: Allowance for impairment of doubtful debts				

(14,435)

(14,199)

–

–

					890,125

839,816

–

–

Deposits				
9,004

6,695

2

2

Prepayments				1,499

1,354

–

–

Sundry receivables				229

253

–

–

–

533

319

Current
Trade receivables

Other receivables

Amounts due from:
• fellow subsidiaries

–

• related companies

481

216

1

1

					
11,213

8,518

536

322

					901,338

848,334

536

322

Non-current
Advances to subsidiaries				

–

–

279,171

314,649

Total trade and other receivables 				

901,338

848,334

279,707

314,971

(1,354)

–

–

Add: Cash and bank balances (Note 19)				

Less: Prepayments				
(1,499)
93,923

111,995

51,257

51,632

Total loans and receivables 				

993,762

958,975

330,964

366,603
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18. Trade and other receivables (continued)
(a) Trade receivables
Credit terms of trade receivables range from payment in advance to 90 days (2013: payment in advance to 90 days). They are recognized
at their original invoice amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition.
Ageing analysis of trade receivables
The ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables is as follows:
			

Group

							
2014
							
RM’000

2013
RM’000

Neither past due nor impaired						

773,657

741,859

Less than three months past due but not impaired 					

116,468

97,957

Impaired						
14,435

14,199

							
904,560

854,015

Receivables that are neither past due nor impaired
Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are creditworthy debtors with good payment records with the Group.
Receivables that are past due but not impaired
As at December 31, 2014, the Group’s trade receivables of RM 116,468,000 (2013: RM 97,957,000) were past due their contractual
payment date but not impaired. These relate to a number of external parties where there are no expectations of default.
Receivables that are impaired
The Group’s trade receivables that are impaired at the reporting date and the movement of the allowance accounts used to record the
impairment are as follows:
			

Group

							
2014
							
RM’000
Trade receivables - nominal amounts						

2013
RM’000

14,435

14,199

Less: Allowance for impairment						
(14,435)

(14,199)

							–

–

Movement in allowance accounts:
At January 1						
14,199

14,567

Allowance for impairment						
1,451

1,929

Amounts written off						–
Write-back of allowance for impairment						

(21)

(1,215)

(2,133)

Disposal of subsidiary						–

(143)

At December 31						
14,435

14,199
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18. Trade and other receivables (continued)
(a) Trade receivables (continued)
Trade receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the reporting date relate to debtors that are in significant financial
difficulties and have defaulted on payments.
Credit risk management with respect to trade receivables is disclosed in Note 30(d) to the financial statements.
The currency exposure profile of net trade receivables is as follows:
			

Group

							
2014
							
RM’000

2013
RM’000

Trade receivables
Ringgit Malaysia						
877,962

825,911

US Dollar						
36

1,549

Singapore Dollar						–

110

Brunei Dollar						
12,127

12,246

							
890,125

839,816

(b) Related party balances
The amounts receivable from fellow subsidiaries and related companies are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable within 30 to
90 days (2013: 30 to 90 days).
The currency exposure profile of related party balances is as follows:
		

Group

Company

					2014
					RM’000

2013
RM’000

2014
RM’000

2013
RM’000

Ringgit Malaysia				191

137

534

319

Brunei Dollar				–

–

–

1

US Dollar				41

79

–

–

Euro					
143

–

–

–

Singapore Dollar				
106

–

–

–

216

534

320
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18. Trade and other receivables (continued)
(b) Related party balances (continued)
Advances to subsidiaries are unsecured and carry interest rates which range between 4.55% to 5.00% (2013: 3.85% to 4.20%) per annum.
These advances are not intended to be recalled, in full or in part, within the next twelve months from the reporting date.
Movement in allowance for impairment on advances to a subsidiary:
			

Company

							
2014
							
RM’000

2013
RM’000

At January 1						–

6,989

Write-back of allowance for impairment						

–

(6,989)

At December 31						–

–

19. Cash and bank balances
		

Group

Company

					2014
					RM’000

2013
RM’000

2014
RM’000

2013
RM’000

Deposits with licensed banks				40,907

51,800

40,700

51,600

Cash on hand and at banks				

53,016

60,195

10,557

32

Cash and bank balances				

93,923

111,995

51,257

51,632

Ringgit Malaysia				91,894

108,522

51,257

51,632

Singapore Dollar				279

208

–

–

Brunei Dollar				
827

1,820

–

–

US Dollar				213

385

–

–

Euro					642

872

–

–

Swiss Franc				6

179

–

–

Australian Dollar				
62

9

–

–

					93,923

111,995

51,257

51,632

The currency exposure profile of deposits, bank and cash balances is as follows:

Deposits with licensed banks have an average day to maturity period of 1 day (2013: 2 days) and weighted average effective interest rate
per annum at reporting date is 3.00% (2013: 2.89%).
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20. Share capital
		

Number of shares

					2014
					
’000

Amount
2013
’000

2014
RM’000

2013
RM’000

Authorized share capital:
Ordinary shares of RM1 each at January 1/December 31 			

499,180

499,180

499,180

499,180

Redeemable cumulative preference shares of RM0.01 each at January 1/December 31 		

82,000

82,000

820

820

							
500,000

500,000

Issued and fully paid:
Ordinary shares of RM1 each at January 1/December 31 			

157,658

157,658

157,658

157,658

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and entitled to one vote per share at meetings
of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.
21. Retained earnings

The Company may distribute dividends out of its retained earnings as at December 31, 2014 under the single tier system.		
						
					
22. Trade and other payables
		

Group

					2014
					RM’000

Company
2013
RM’000

2014
RM’000

2013
RM’000

782,379

–

–

Accruals				50,964

52,788

206

200

Sundry payables				35,101

35,394

–

–

41

30

41

30

• immediate holding company

1

28

1

28

• subsidiaries

–

–

127

148

6,243

7,017

21

13

					92,350

95,257

396

419

Current
Trade payables
Third parties				904,791

Other payables

Amounts due to:
• intermediate holding company

• related companies
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22. Trade and other payables (continued)
		

Group

Company

					2014
					RM’000

2013
RM’000

2014
RM’000

2013
RM’000

Total trade and other payables				

997,141

877,636

396

419

Add: Loans and borrowings (Note 24)				

20,100

52,195

66,405

76,853

Total financial liabilities carried at amortized cost				

1,017,241

929,831

66,801

77,272

The currency exposure profile of payables is as follows:
			

Group

							
2014
							
RM’000

2013
RM’000

Trade payables
Ringgit Malaysia						
826,266

691,591

US Dollar						
31,207

46,928

Euro							
34,245

37,370

Swiss Franc						
70

204

Brunei Dollar						
370

391

Singapore Dollar						
3,855

1,241

Australian Dollar						
6,409

2,887

Japanese Yen						
2

72

Thai Baht						
2,170

1,546

New Zealand Dollar						
152

–

Sterling Pound						
45

149

							
904,791

782,379

		

Group

					2014
					RM’000

Company
2013
RM’000

2014
RM’000

2013
RM’000

Ringgit Malaysia				5,973

6,639

190

219

Swiss Franc				
58

287

–

–

Thai Baht				
96

149

–

–

US Dollar				
84

–

–

–

Intercompany payables

Japanese Yen				
74

–

–

–

					6,285

7,075

190

219
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22. Trade and other payables (continued)
			

Group

							
2014
							
RM’000

2013
RM’000

Sundry payables
Ringgit Malaysia						
34,839

35,260

Brunei Dollar						
262

134

							
35,101

35,394

The average credit terms of payables are as follows:
			
			

Group/Company
Average credit terms

							
2014
Trade payables						

2013

0 to 180 days

0 to 180 days

Sundry payables						
30 days

30 days

Intercompany payables						
Payable within
							 30 to 120 days

Payable within
30 to 120 days

The amounts payable to intermediate holding company, immediate holding company, subsidiaries and related companies are unsecured
and non-interest bearing.
23. Derivative financial instruments
		
						
Contract value
						RM’000

Group
Fair value
RM’000

Assets
RM’000

13,868

13,947

(79)

18,250

18,460

(210)

2014
Current assets:
Forward foreign exchange contracts at fair value through profit or loss			

2013
Current assets:
Forward foreign exchange contracts at fair value through profit or loss			

The Group’s derivative financial instruments relate to forward foreign exchange contracts which are entered into in currencies other than
the Group’s functional currency to manage exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates on specified transactions.
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23. Derivative financial instruments (continued)
At December 31, 2014, the settlement dates on open forward contracts ranged between 1 and 4 months (2013: 1 and 4 months).
The foreign currency amounts to be received and contractual exchange rates of the Group’s outstanding contracts are as follows:
At December 31, 2014
				Currency
				
to be
Hedged item			
received

Currency
to be
paid

RM’000
equivalent

Contractual
rate

Trade payables:
EUR 370,000			

EUR

MYR

1,558

1EUR=RM4.2120

USD 2,427,295			

USD

MYR

8,462

1USD=RM3.4862

CHF 171,660			

CHF

MYR

656

1CHF=RM3.8225

AUD 110,000			

AUD

MYR

316

1AUD=RM2.8684

THB 20,332,000			

THB

MYR

2,124

1THB=RM0.1045

SGD 290,000			

SGD

MYR

752

1SGD=RM2.5923

						
13,868

At December 31, 2013
				Currency
				
to be
Hedged item			
received

Currency
to be
paid

RM’000
equivalent

Contractual
rate

Trade payables:
EUR 220,000			

EUR

MYR

975

1EUR=RM4.4332

USD 4,788,436			

USD

MYR

15,562

1USD=RM3.2499

CHF 260,000			

CHF

MYR

924

1CHF=RM3.5529

AUD 90,000			

AUD

MYR

271

1AUD=RM3.0124

SGD 200,000			

SGD

MYR

518

1SGD=RM2.5915

						
18,250

The fair value of outstanding forward contracts of the Group at the reporting date are at favourable net position of RM 79,000
(2013: RM 210,000).
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24. Borrowings
		

Group

					2014
					RM’000

Company
2013
RM’000

2014
RM’000

2013
RM’000

20,000

–

–

9,622

9,922

9,622

Current
Term loans				–
Advances from:
• intermediate holding company
• immediate holding company

9,922
178

6,923

178

6,923

10,000

15,650

10,000

15,650

					20,100

52,195

20,100

32,195

–

–

46,305

44,658

Total loans and borrowings				20,100

52,195

66,405

76,853

• related company

Non-current
Advances from subsidiaries				

Bankers’ acceptances, revolving credit, promissory notes and term loans are unsecured.
Advances from intermediate holding company and immediate holding company bear interest which ranges between 4.55% to 5.00%
(2013: 3.85% to 4.20%) per annum.
Advances from related company bear interest which ranges between 2.75% to 2.95% (2013: 2.75%). These advances are unsecured
and are repayable on demand.
Advances from subsidiaries are deposits of excess cash placed with the Company and bear interest which ranges between 3.15% to 3.30%
(2013: 3.15%) per annum. These advances are unsecured and are not repayable within the next 12 months.
Weighted average year end effective interest rates
			

Group

							
2014
							
%

2013
%

Term loans						–

4.30

The remaining maturities of loans and borrowings as at December 31, 2014:
		

Group

					2014
					RM’000

Company
2013
RM’000

2014
RM’000

2013
RM’000

Within one year				

20,100

52,195

20,100

32,195

Between one and five years				

–

–

46,305

44,658

Total					20,100

52,195

66,405

76,853
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25. Provision for other liabilities
			

Group

							
2014
							
RM’000

2013
RM’000

Provision for other liabilities:
• property restoration cost

855

289

The amount represents a provision for property restoration cost upon expiry of lease term.
26. Dividends
Dividends paid in respect of ordinary shares for the financial year are as follows:
		
		

Group and Company
2014

2013

					
Gross		
Gross
					
dividend
Amount of
dividend
					
per share
dividends
per share
					
Sen
RM’000
Sen

Amount of
dividends
RM’000

Final dividend for financial year ended December 31, 2013 paid on August 22, 2014:
• single tier

9.50

14,977

–

–

13.00

20,496

–

–

–

–

9.00

14,189

Special dividend for financial year ended December 31, 2013 paid on August 22, 2014:
• single tier
Final dividend for financial year ended December 31, 2012 paid on August 22, 2013:
• single tier
Special dividend for financial year ended December 31, 2012 paid on August 22, 2013:
• single tier
Dividends in respect of the year				

–

–

2.50

3,942

22.50

35,473

11.50

18,131

The Directors have recommended for shareholders’ approval, at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, a final single tier dividend of
9.5 sen per share amounting to RM 14,977,517 on 157,658,076 ordinary shares. These financial statements do not reflect this proposed
final dividend. Such dividend, if approved by the shareholders, will be accounted for in the financial year ending December 31, 2015.
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27. Commitments and financial guarantees
(a) Capital commitments
Capital expenditures not provided for in the financial statements are as follows:
			

Group

							
2014
							
RM’000

2013
RM’000

Property, plant and equipment:
Authorized by the Directors and contracted for						

1,723

847

Authorized by the Directors and not contracted for					

20,946

–

							
22,669

847

(b) Non-cancellable operating lease commitments
The Group entered into non-cancellable operating lease agreements for the use of office premises, warehouses, outlets and certain office
equipment.
The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:
			

Group

							
2014
							
RM’000

2013
RM’000

Payable within one year						
23,682

16,629

Payable after one year but not later than five years					

56,785

55,108

Payable after five years						
15,408

19,202

							
95,875

90,939

On February 19, 2014, the subsidiary, DKSH Malaysia Sdn. Bhd., entered into an agreement to lease with Jelas Puri Sdn. Bhd. pertaining
to lease of office space together with the fittings therein located at the Ascent for a period of fifteen years and four months commencing
from the Date of Possession.
(c) Financial guarantees
As at December 31, 2014, the Group provided guarantees of RM 47,019,000 (2013: RM 49,910,000) for the purpose of bank guarantees
on the trading operations of the Group.
The Group has assessed the financial guarantee contracts and concluded that the guarantees are more likely not to be called upon by the
respective parties and accordingly not recognized as financial liability as at December 31, 2014.
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28. Significant related party transactions
In addition to related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following significant transactions between the
Group and related parties took place at terms agreed between the parties during the financial year:
		

Group

					2014
					RM’000

Company
2013
RM’000

2014
RM’000

2013
RM’000

(a) Sales of goods and services:
Sale of services:
• related companies (goods)

2,331

1,567

–

–

• a related company (rental)

275

126

–

–

• a related company (ancillary)

–

43

–

–

• related companies (information technology charges)

103

116

–

–

• related companies (human resource charges)

446

369

–

–

					3,155

2,221

–

–

14,867

9,493

Others (interest):
• subsidiaries

–

–

• a related company

–

8

–

8

					–

8

14,867

9,501

–

–

–

136,831

					3,155

2,229

14,867

146,332

Others (dividend):
• subsidiaries

(b) Purchase of goods and services:
Purchase of services:
• related companies (goods)

58,660

58,501

–

–

3,925

4,192

–

–

12,057

11,705

–

–

9,180

10,028

–

–

					83,822

84,426

–

–

• a related company (management fee and regional audit)
• a related company (information technology charges)
• other related party (rental)

Others (interest):
• immediate holding company

469

600

469

600

• intermediate holding company

464

375

464

375

• a related company

242

96

242

96

–

–

1,516

2,423

					1,175

1,071

2,691

3,494

					84,997

85,497

2,691

3,494

• subsidiaries
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28. Significant related party transactions (continued)
(c) Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of Directors and other members of key management during the year are as follows:
		

Group

					2014
					RM’000

Company
2013
RM’000

2014
RM’000

2013
RM’000

167

162

155

150

6,367

7,742

–

–

Non-executive Directors:
• fees
Salaries and bonus				
Post-employment benefits obligation:
• national defined contribution plan and social security contribution

662

704

–

–

Other employees benefits				

756

740

–

–

					7,785

9,186

–

–

The related parties of the Group and the Company are as follows:
Related parties

Relationships

DKSH Holding Ltd.

Ultimate holding company

DKSH Holdings (Asia) Sdn. Bhd.

Immediate holding company of DRSB

DKSH Resources (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. (“DRSB”)

Immediate holding company

DKSH Marketing Services Sdn. Bhd.

Subsidiary

DKSH Distribution Malaysia Sdn. Bhd.

Subsidiary

DKSH (B) Sdn. Bhd.

Subsidiary

DKSH Logistics Services Sdn. Bhd.

Subsidiary

DKSH Central Services Malaysia Sdn. Bhd.

Subsidiary

DKSH Malaysia Sdn. Bhd.

Subsidiary

DKSH Management Malaysia Sdn. Bhd.

Subsidiary

The Famous Amos Chocolate Chip Cookie Corporation (M) Sdn. Bhd.

Subsidiary

DKSH Corporate Shared Services Center Sdn. Bhd.

Related company				

Bio-Life Marketing Sdn. Bhd.

Related company				

DKSH Datacare Technologies Sdn. Bhd.

Related company			
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28. Significant related party transactions (continued)
The related parties of the Group and the Company are as follows: (continued)
Related parties

Relationships

DKSH Luxury & Lifestyle (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd.

Related company				

DKSH Switzerland Ltd.

Related company				

DKSH Vietnam Co. Ltd.

Related company				

DKSH South East Asia Pte. Ltd. (SG Division)

Related company				

DKSH Singapore Pte. Ltd.

Related company				

DKSH International AG

Related company				

DKSH Management Ltd.

Related company				

DKSH Hong Kong Ltd.

Related company				

Siber Hegner Ltd.

Related company				

DKSH Technology Sdn. Bhd.

Related company				

DKSH Smollan Field Marketing (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd.

Related company				

Lembaga Tabung Angkatan Tentera

Other related party				

Subsidiary refers to companies within the listed Group of DKSH Holdings (Malaysia) Berhad.
Related company refers to companies outside the listed Group of DKSH Holdings (Malaysia) Berhad and companies under the Group of
DKSH Holding Ltd.
Other related party refers to a substantial shareholder of DKSH Holdings (Malaysia) Berhad which is a body corporate established under
the Tabung Angkatan Tentera Act 1973.
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29. Segmental information
The Group is organized into three main business segments:
• Marketing and distribution services
• Logistics services
• Others
All the major operations of the Group are carried out in Malaysia. Accordingly, the segment reports as presented below had been reviewed
by the chief operating decision maker.
(a) Primary reporting format - business segments
				 Marketing and
				 distribution
				services
				Continuing
				operations
				RM’000

Logistics
services
Continuing
operations
RM’000

Others		 Group
Continuing		Continuing
operations
Eliminations
operations
RM’000
RM’000
RM’000

At December 31, 2014
Revenue
Segment revenue 			2,399,072

2,879,263

61,146

–

5,339,481

Intersegment revenue			
739

–

–

(739)

–

Revenue			2,399,811

2,879,263

61,146

(739)

5,339,481

22,445

851

–

83,056

Results
Segment results			59,760

Finance costs							
(2,641)
Income tax expense							
(20,504)
Profit for the financial year							
59,911
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29. Segmental information (continued)
(a) Primary reporting format - business segments (continued)
				 Marketing and
				 distribution
				services
				RM’000

Logistics
services
RM’000

Others
RM’000

Eliminations
RM’000

Group
RM’000

626,909

19,557

–

1,383,596

At December 31, 2014
Net assets
Segment assets			737,130

Unallocated assets							
111,965
Total assets							
1,495,561
Segment liabilities			(377,551)

(523,644)

(3,596)

–

(904,791)

Unallocated liabilities							
(117,137)
Total liabilities							
(1,021,928)

Other information
Capital expenditure			1,590

1,435

4,376

–

7,401

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment			

2,087

2,273

3,535

–

7,895

Amortization of trademarks			
985

–

–

–

985

Segment assets consist primarily of property, plant and equipment, inventories and trade receivables. Segment liabilities comprise only
trade payables. Capital expenditure comprises additions to property, plant and equipment (Note 12).
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29. Segmental information (continued)
(a) Primary reporting format - business segments (continued)
			 Marketing and
			
distribution
			
services
			Continuing
			operations
			RM’000

Logistics services		
Continuing
Discontinued
operations
operation
RM’000
RM’000

Others		
Group
Continuing		Continuing
operations
Eliminations
operations
RM’000
RM’000
RM’000

At December 31, 2013
Revenue
2,272,376

2,751,295

18,305

61,952

(18,305)

5,085,623

Intersegment revenue		
394

Segment revenue 		

–

–

–

(394)

–

Revenue		2,272,770

2,751,295

18,305

61,952

(18,699)

5,085,623

Results
Segment results		61,414

19,804

9,688

105,070

(9,688)

186,288

–

8,640

–

–

–

8,640

			61,414

28,444

9,688

105,070

(9,688)

194,928

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries		

Finance costs							
(4,483)
Income tax expense							
(19,274)
Profit for the financial year							
171,171
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29. Segmental information (continued)
(a) Primary reporting format - business segments (continued)
				 Marketing and
				 distribution
				services
				RM’000

Logistics
services
RM’000

Others
RM’000

Eliminations
RM’000

Group
RM’000

538,834

17,601

–

1,257,251

At December 31, 2013
Net assets
Segment assets			700,816

Unallocated assets							
126,772
Total assets							
1,384,023
Segment liabilities			(328,556)

(451,354)

(2,469)

–

(782,379)

Unallocated liabilities							
(152,457)
Total liabilities							
(934,836)

Other information
Capital expenditure			2,419

8,381

4,090

–

14,890

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment			

2,455

1,571

3,468

–

7,494

Amortization of trademarks			
976

–

–

–

976

						
				
Segment assets consist primarily of property, plant and equipment, inventories and trade receivables. Segment liabilities comprise only
trade payables. Capital expenditure comprises additions to property, plant and equipment (Note 12).
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29. Segmental information (continued)
(a) Primary reporting format - business segments (continued)
			

Group

							
2014
							
RM’000

2013
RM’000

Unallocated assets mainly consists of:
Trademarks						
2,629
Cash on hand and at banks						

3,334

53,016

60,195

Deposits with licensed bank						
40,907

51,800

Other receivables						
11,213

8,518

Deferred tax assets						
3,272

2,715

Others						
928

210

							
111,965

126,772

Unallocated liabilities mainly consists of:
Accruals and sundry payables						
(86,065)

(88,182)

Short term borrowings						–

(20,000)

Intercompany advances						
(20,100)

(32,195)

Intercompany balances						
(6,285)

(7,075)

Others

(4,687)

(5,005)

							
(117,137)

(152,457)

						

(b) Secondary reporting format - geographical segments
Although the Group has an operation in Negara Brunei Darussalam, there is no disclosure of this operation as a separate geographical
segment as the revenue contributed by this foreign incorporated company is not material to constitute an independent geographical
segment as stipulated under MFRS 8: Operating Segments.
(c) Disposal of subsidiaries
Inter-segment revenues and inter-segment results are eliminated on consolidation. The amounts relating to the disposal of DKSH Transport
Agencies (M) Sdn. Bhd. and its subsidiary, Macro Consolidators (M) Sdn. Bhd. which were previously reported in the logistics services
segment have also been excluded to arrive at amounts shown in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income as they are presented
separately in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income under “profit from discontinued operation, net of tax” in prior year.
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30. Financial risk management objectives and policies
The activities of the Group and the Company expose the Group to a variety of financial risks, in the areas of interest rate risk, foreign
currency risk, liquidity risk and credit risk. The Group’s overall financial risk management objective is to ensure that the Group and the
Company are adequately protected. Financial risk management involves risk reviews, monitoring of the compliance of internal control
systems and adherence to DKSH Holding Ltd. Group’s financial risk management policies.
(a) Interest rate risk
Interest rate exposures arise from the Group’s and the Company’s borrowings. They are managed through the use of a mixture of fixed
and floating rate debts.
At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the interest-bearing financial instruments is as below:
		

Group

					2014
					RM’000

Company
2013
RM’000

2014
RM’000

2013
RM’000

–

20,000

–

–

20,100

32,195

66,405

76,853

					20,100

52,195

66,405

76,853

Financial liabilities:
• Fixed rate instruments
• Floating rate instruments

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s and the Company’s financial instruments will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates.
The Group’s and the Company’s investments in financial assets are mainly short term in nature and they are not held for speculative
purposes but have been mostly placed in fixed deposits. The information on maturity dates and effective interest rates of financial assets
are disclosed in Note 19.
Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments
The Group and the Company do not account for any fixed rate instruments at fair value through profit or loss. Therefore, a change in
interest rates at the reporting date would not affect the statement of comprehensive income.
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30. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
(a) Interest rate risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis for floating rate instruments
A change of 20% in interest rates at the reporting date would result in the profit before tax to be higher/(lower) by the amounts shown
below. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.
		

Group

					2014
					RM’000

Company
2013
RM’000

2014
RM’000

2013
RM’000

Floating rate instruments (denominated in RM):
• 20% increase

(39)

(61)

(152)

(146)

• 20% decrease

39

61

152

146

(b) Foreign currency risk
The Group is exposed to transactional currency risk primarily through sales, purchases and payments on behalf that are denominated in
a currency other than the functional currency to which they relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily United States Dollar
(USD), Brunei Dollar (BND), Euro (EUR), Swiss Franc (CHF), Australian Dollar (AUD), Thai Baht (THB), Sterling Pound (GBP), Singapore Dollar
(SGD) and Japanese Yen (JPY).
The net unhedged financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group that are not denominated in its functional currency are as follows:
								
Note
Trade and other receivables							
18 (a)
Due from related companies							
18 (b)
Cash and bank balances							
19
Trade and other payables							
22
Due to related companies							
22
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30. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
(b) Foreign currency risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group’s profit net of tax to a reasonably possible change in the USD, BND, EUR,
CHF, AUD, THB, GBP, SGD and JPY exchange rates against the respective functional currencies of the Group entities, with all other variables
held constant.
			

Group

							
2014
							
Profit net
							
of tax
							
RM’000
USD/RM

BND/RM

EUR/RM

CHF/RM

AUD/RM

• strengthened 5%

GBP/RM

SGD/RM

JPY/RM

85

• weakened 5%

(38)

(85)

• strengthened 5%

455

708

• weakened 5%

(455)

(708)

• strengthened 5%

(14)

(15)

• weakened 5%

14

15

• strengthened 5%

(2)

(4)

• weakened 5%

2

4

• strengthened 5%

(1)

(5)

• weakened 5%
THB/RM

38

2013
Profit net
of tax
RM’000

1

5

• strengthened 5%

(85)

(6)

• weakened 5%

85

6

• strengthened 5%

–

(3)

• weakened 5%

–

3

• strengthened 5%

(25)

(18)

• weakened 5%

25

18

• strengthened 5%

(3)

–

• weakened 5%

3

–

(c) Liquidity risk
The Group and the Company manage operating cash flows and the availability of funding so as to ensure that all refinancing, repayment
and funding needs are met. As part of its overall liquidity management, the Group maintains sufficient levels of cash to meet its working
capital requirements. The Company relies on the distribution of dividends and interest income from subsidiaries to meet its working capital
requirements.
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30. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
(c) Liquidity risk (continued)
The table below analyses the Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity profile based on the remaining period in
the statement of financial position to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted
cash flows. Balances due within 12 months approximate their carrying amounts as the impact of discounting is insignificant.
Analysis of undiscounted financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities
							
Between
						
Less than
one to five
						
one year
years
Group					RM’000
RM’000

Total
RM’000

2014
Trade and other payables					

997,141

–

997,141

Borrowings					
20,295

–

20,295

Derivatives - settled net					

13,868

–

13,868

						
1,031,304

–

1,031,304

–

877,636

2013
Trade and other payables					

877,636

Borrowings					
53,314

–

53,314

Derivatives - settled net					

18,250

–

18,250

						
949,200

–

949,200

							
Between
						
Less than
one to five
						
one year
years
Company					RM’000
RM’000

Total
RM’000

2014
Trade and other payables					

396

–

396

Borrowings					20,295

46,870

67,165

						20,691

46,870

67,561

419

–

419

Borrowings					32,501

45,083

77,584

						32,920

45,083

78,003

2013
Trade and other payables					
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30. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
(d) Credit risk
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables. The Group trades only with recognized and creditworthy third parties.
It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. Since the Group trades
only with recognized and creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for collateral.
The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, arises from default of the counterparty,
with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these financial assets.
The Group does not have any significant exposure to any individual customer or counterparty nor does it have any major concentration
of credit risk related to any financial assets.
(e) Fair values
The carrying amounts of the following financial assets and liabilities approximate their fair values due to the relatively short term maturity of
these financial instruments: deposits, cash and bank balances, receivables and payables (including amounts due to/from group companies)
and short term borrowings.
Fair value hierarchy
The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method.
• Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
• Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices)
or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).
• Level 3: Inputs for asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
								
Level 2
Group							
RM’000
2014
Derivative financial instruments							
13,868
2013
Derivative financial instruments							
18,250

The fair values of derivative financial instruments are determined based on the quoted market price of similar derivatives as they are
not traded on an active market. These derivatives are classified as Level 2 financial instruments in accordance with MFRS 7 “Financial
Instruments: Disclosures” classification hierarchy.
The Group does not have any financial instruments classified as Level 1 and Level 3 as at December 31, 2014 and 2013.
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31. Capital management
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to maintain an optimal capital structure in order to support its business via a
mixture of equity and its debt obligation in adherence to DKSH Holding Ltd. Group’s financial risk management policies.
The Group optimizes the overall capital management performance through improvement in the cash flows. The Group’s cash flows
management focuses on inventories, receivables and payables by ensuring that it has sufficient liquidity to meet its obligations. No significant
changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013.
		

Group

Company

					2014
					RM’000

2013
RM’000

2014
RM’000

2013
RM’000

Loans and borrowings 				20,100

52,195

66,405

76,853

(111,995)

(51,257)

(51,632)

Less: Cash and bank balances				

(93,923)

(Surplus cash)/net debt				

(73,823)

(59,800)

15,148

25,221

Equity attributable to the owners of the parent				

473,633

449,187

347,800

373,656

Total capital				473,633

449,187

347,800

373,656

Total capital and net debt				

399,810

389,387

362,948

398,877

% of net debt to total capital and net debt				

–

–

4%

6%

The gearing ratio is not governed by the MFRS and its definition and calculation may vary from one group/company to another.
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32. Comparatives
Certain comparative amounts as at December 31, 2013 were restated to conform to current year’s presentation to better reflect the nature
of the financial statements. The restatement of 2013 amounts does not have any impact on the financial results or the earnings per share
for previous financial year.
Statements of comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2013
						
As
						
previously
						
stated
						RM’000

Reclassi-fication
RM’000

As
restated
RM’000

Revenue					
5,079,177

6,446

5,085,623

Other income					
109,303

(6,446)

102,857

Reclassi-fication
RM’000

As
restated
RM’000

Segment report for the year ended December 31, 2013
						
As
						
previously
						
stated
						RM’000
Revenue
• Marketing and distribution services

2,266,970

5,406

2,272,376

• Logistics services - continuing operations

2,750,255

1,040

2,751,295

• Logistics services - discontinued operation

18,305

–

18,305

• Others

61,952

–

61,952

• Eliminations

(18,305)

–

(18,305)

Total Revenue					
5,079,177

6,446

5,085,623
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33. Supplementary explanatory note on disclosure of realized and unrealized profits
The breakdown of the retained profits of the Group and of the Company into realized and unrealized profits is presented in accordance
with the directive issued by Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad dated March 25, 2010 and prepared in accordance with Guidance on Special
Matter No. 1, Determination of Realized and Unrealized Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities
Berhad Listing Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants.
		

Group

					2014
					RM’000

Company
2013
RM’000

2014
RM’000

2013
RM’000

275,418

285,715

165,628

191,484

2,513

2,402

–

–

					277,931

288,117

165,628

191,484

Consolidation adjustments				
13,462

(21,162)

–

–

Total retained profits as per financial statements				

266,955

165,628

191,484

Total retained profits of the Company and its subsidiaries
• Realized
• Unrealized

291,393

The determination of realized and unrealized profits above is solely for complying with the disclosure requirements as stipulated in the
directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and should not be applied for any other purposes.			
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Authorized share capital:		
Issued and paid-up share capital:		
Class of shares:		
Voting rights:		

RM 500,000,000
RM 157,658,076 divided into 157,658,076 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each
Ordinary shares of RM 1.00 each
One vote per ordinary share

Analysis by size of shareholdings (as per the Record of Depositors)
		
Size of holdings		

No. of
holders

% of
holders

No. of
shares held

% of
issued shares

Less than 100		

72

3.30

634

Negligible

100 to 1,000		

1,144

52.41

997,289

0.63

1,001 to 10,000		

753

34.49

2,802,800

1.78

10,001 to 100,000		

157

7.19

4,916,400

3.12

100,001 to less than 5% of issued shares		

55

2.52

23,767,677

15.07

5% and above of issued shares		

2

0.09

125,173,276

79.39

Total		 2,183

100.00

157,658,076

100.00

Directors’ Interests in Shares in the Company (as per the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings)

		
		
Michael Lim Hee Kiang		

Direct interest
No. of
% of
shares held
issued shares

Deemed interest
No. of
% of
shares held
issued shares

10,000

0.01

–

–

James Armand Menezes 		–

–

–

–

Datuk Haji Abdul Aziz bin Ismail 		

–

–

–

–

Alexander Stuart Davy 		–

–

–

–

Jason Michael Nicholas McLaren		–

–

–

–

John Peter Clare 		–

–

–

–

Lian Teng Hai		–

–

–

–

Directors’ Interests in Shares in a Related Corporation (as per the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings)

		
DKSH (B) Sdn Bhd - Subsidiary		
John Peter Clare 		

Direct interest
No. of
% of
shares held
issued shares
1

Negligible

Deemed interest
No. of
% of
shares held
issued shares
–

–

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors had any interest in shares of the Company or its related corporation.
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Analysis of shareholdings
as at April 30, 2015 (continued)

Shareholdings of Substantial Shareholders in the Company (as per the Register of Substantial Shareholders)

		
Name		

Direct interest
No. of
% of
shares held
issued shares

Deemed interest
No. of
% of
shares held
issued shares

DKSH Resources (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd		

117,155,076

74.31

–

–

Lembaga Tabung Angkatan Tentera		

8,018,200

5.09

–

–

					
Name				

No. of
shares held

% of
issued shares

1.

DKSH Resources (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd				

117,155,076

74.31

2.

Lembaga Tabung Angkatan Tentera				

8,018,200

5.09

3.

Citigroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd				
Employees Provident Fund Board (F Templeton)

3,147,300

1.99

4.

HSBC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd				
HSBC (M) Trustee Bhd for Affin Hwang Select Opportunity Fund (3969)

2,336,700

1.48

5.

HSBC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd				
HSBC (M) Trustee Bhd for AMB Value Trust Fund (4249)

2,288,000

1.45

6.

Citigroup Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd				
Exempt An for Citibank New York (Norges Bank 9)

1,360,500

0.86

7.

Citigroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd				
Employees Provident Fund Board

1,227,500

0.78

8.

Wong Lok Jee @ Ong Lok Jee				

712,000

0.45

9.

HSBC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd				
HSBC (M) Trustee Bhd for Affin Hwang Select Asia (Ex Japan) Quantum Fund (4579)

699,300

0.44

10. HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd				
Exempt An for Bank Lombard Odier & Co Ltd

660,000

0.42

11. HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd				
CACEIS BK FR for HMG Globetrotter

594,100

0.38

12. HSBC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd				
HSBC (M) Trustee Bhd for Manulife Investment Al-Faid (4389)

586,000

0.37

13. HSBC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd				
HSBC (M) Trustee Bhd for Manulife Investment Al-Fauzan (5170)

559,000

0.35

14. HSBC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd				
HSBC (M) Trustee Bhd for RHB-OSK Private Fund - Series 3

540,000

0.34

Top 30 largest shareholders (as per the Record of Depositors)
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Analysis of shareholdings
as at April 30, 2015 (continued)

Top 30 largest shareholders (as per the Record of Depositors) (continued)
					
Name				

No. of
shares held

% of
issued shares

15. CIMB Group Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd				
CIMB Commerce Trustee Berhad - AMB Smallcap Trust Fund

520,300

0.33

16. DB (Malaysia) Nominee (Asing) Sdn Bhd				
Deutsche Bank AG Singapore for DCG Asia Value Master Fund

517,200

0.33

17. HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd				
HSBC-FS I for Asean Growth Fund (Manufacturers L)

512,800

0.32

18. HSBC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd				
HSBC (M) Trustee Bhd for Pertubuhan Keselamatan Sosial (UOB AMM6939-406)

498,000

0.32

19. Cartaban Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd				
TMF Trustees Malaysia Berhad for RHB-OSK Private Fund - Series 6

337,000

0.21

20. Maybank Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd				
Maybank Trustees Berhad for Manulife Investment Value Fund (950290)

331,400

0.21

21. Maybank Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd				
Maybank Trustees Berhad for Manulife Investment Balanced Fund (910170)

301,400

0.19

22. HSBC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd				
HSBC (M) Trustee Bhd for Manulife Investment Progress Fund (4082)

273,800

0.17

23. HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd				
HSBC-FS I for Asean Growth Fund (Manulife CB)

254,700

0.16

24. HSBC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd				
HSBC (M) Trustee Bhd for RHB-OSK Dana Kidsave

248,200

0.16

25. Maybank Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd				
Maybank Trustees Berhad for RHB-OSK Dynamic Fund (200188)

231,700

0.15

26. HSBC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd				
HSBC (M) Trustee Bhd for Manulife Investment Growth Fund (4074)

229,700

0.15

27. Amanahraya Trustees Berhad				
Amittikal

229,300

0.15

28. Citigroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd				
Kumpulan Wang Persaraan (Diperbadankan) (KNGA SML CAP FD)

220,000

0.14

29. Cartaban Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd				
SSBT Fund C021 for College Retirement Equities Fund

212,200

0.13

30. HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd				
Exempt An for Credit Suisse (SG BR-TST-Asing)

210,000

0.13

Total				
145,011,376

91.98
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

Notice is hereby given that the TwentyThird Annual General Meeting (“23rd
AGM”) of DKSH Holdings (Malaysia) Berhad
(231378-A) (“the Company”) will be held
on Thursday, June 25, 2015 at 10.00 a.m.
at the Ballroom 2, Level 2, Pullman Kuala
Lumpur Bangsar, No.1 Jalan Pantai Jaya,
Tower 3, 59200 Kuala Lumpur to transact
the following businesses:
Agenda
As Ordinary Business:
1. To receive the Audited Financial
Statements of the Company for the
financial year ended December 31, 2014
and the Reports of the Directors and
Auditors thereon.
2. To approve the payment of a final single
tier dividend of 9.5 sen per share for
the financial year ended December 31,
2014.
Ordinary Resolution 1
3. To approve the payment of Directors’
fees of RM 154,603 for the financial year
ended December 31, 2014.
Ordinary Resolution 2
4. To re-elect Michael Lim Hee Kiang who
retires pursuant to Article 105 of the
Company’s Articles of Association.
Ordinary Resolution 3
5. To re-elect Alexander Stuart Davy who
retires pursuant to Article 105 of the
Company’s Articles of Association.
Ordinary Resolution 4
6. To elect Jason Michael Nicholas McLaren
pursuant to Article 101 of the Company’s
Articles of Association.
Ordinary Resolution 5
7. To elect Lian Teng Hai pursuant to
Article 101 of the Company’s Articles
of Association.
Ordinary Resolution 6
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8. To re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young
as Auditors of the Company for the
financial year ending December 31,
2015 and to authorize the Directors to
fix their remuneration.
Ordinary Resolution 7
As Special Business:
To consider and if thought fit, to pass with
or without modifications, the following
Resolutions:
9. Proposed Mandate I for Recurrent
Related Party Transactions of a
Revenue or Trading Nature
“THAT, subject to the provisions of
the Main Market Listing Requirements
of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad,
approval be and is hereby given to
the Company and/or its subsidiaries
(“DKSH Group”) to enter into all
arrangements and/or transactions
involving the interests of Directors, major
shareholders or persons connected with
the Directors and/or major shareholders
of DKSH Group (“Related Parties”) as
specified in Section 2.5(a) of the Circular
to Shareholders dated May 29, 2015
(“Proposed Mandate I”) provided that
such arrangements and/or transactions
are:
(i) recurrent transactions of a revenue
or trading nature;
(ii) necessary for the day-to-day
operations; and
(iii) carried out in the ordinary course
of business on normal commercial
terms which are consistent with
DKSH Group’s normal business
practices and policies, on terms not
more favorable to Related Parties
than those generally available to the
public and are not to the detriment
of the minority shareholders of the
Company.

AND THAT such authority conferred by
the shareholders of the Company upon
passing of this resolution pertaining to
the Proposed Mandate I will continue to
be in force until:
(i) the conclusion of the next Annual
General Meeting of the Company,
unless by a resolution passed at that
meeting, the authority is renewed;
or
(ii) the expiration of the period within
which the next Annual General
Meeting is required to be held
pursuant to Section 143(1) of the
Companies Act 1965 (“Act”) (but
must not extend to such extensions
as may be allowed pursuant to
Section 143(2) of the Act); or
(iii) until the authority is revoked or
varied by a resolution passed by the
shareholders in a general meeting,
whichever is the earlier.
AND THAT the Directors of the Company
be and are hereby empowered to
complete and to do all such acts and
things, including executing all such
documents as may be required, as they
may consider expedient or necessary to
give effect to this resolution.”
Ordinary Resolution 8
10. Proposed Mandate II for Recurrent
Related Party Transactions of a
Revenue or Trading Nature
“THAT, subject to the provisions of
the Main Market Listing Requirements
of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad,
approval be and is hereby given to
the Company and/or its subsidiaries
(“DKSH Group”) to enter into all
arrangements and/or transactions
involving the interests of Directors, major
shareholders or persons connected with
the Directors and/or major shareholders
of DKSH Group (“Related Parties”) as
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specified in Section 2.5(b) of the Circular
to Shareholders dated May 29, 2015
(“Proposed Mandate II”) provided that
such arrangements and/or transactions
are:
(i) recurrent transactions of a revenue
or trading nature;
(ii) necessary for the day-to-day
operations; and
(iii) carried out in the ordinary course
of business on normal commercial
terms which are consistent with
DKSH Group’s normal business
practices and policies, on terms not
more favorable to Related Parties
than those generally available to the
public and are not to the detriment
of the minority shareholders of the
Company.
AND THAT such authority conferred by
the shareholders of the Company upon
passing of this resolution pertaining to
the Proposed Mandate II will continue
to be in force until:
(i) the conclusion of the next Annual
General Meeting of the Company,
unless by a resolution passed at that
meeting, the authority is renewed;
or
(ii) the expiration of the period within
which the next Annual General
Meeting is required to be held
pursuant to Section 143(1) of the
Companies Act 1965 (“Act”) (but
must not extend to such extensions
as may be allowed pursuant to
Section 143(2) of the Act); or
(iii) until the authority is revoked or
varied by a resolution passed by the
shareholders in a general meeting,
whichever is the earlier.

AND THAT the Directors of the Company
be and are hereby empowered to
complete and to do all such acts and
things, including executing all such
documents as may be required, as they
may consider expedient or necessary to
give effect to this resolution.”
Ordinary Resolution 9
11. To transact any other business of an
Annual General Meeting for which due
notice shall have been given.
Notice of Dividend Entitlement and
Payment Dates
Notice is also hereby given that subject
to the approval of members at the 23rd
AGM of DKSH Holdings (Malaysia) Berhad
(231378-A) (“the Company”) to be held
on Thursday, June 25, 2015, a final single
tier dividend of 9.5 sen per share in respect
of the financial year ended December 31,
2014 will be paid on August 20, 2015 to
shareholders whose names appear in the
Record of Depositors of the Company
maintained by Bursa Malaysia Securities
Berhad on July 22, 2015.
A Depositor shall qualify for entitlement to
the dividend in respect of:
(i) shares transferred into the Depositor’s
securities account before 4.00 p.m on
July 22, 2015 for transfers; and
(ii) shares bought on Bursa Malaysia
Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”)
on a cum entitlement basis according
to the Rules of Bursa Securities.

By order of the Board

Chew Ann Nee (MAICSA 7030413)
Andre’ Chai P’o-Lieng (MAICSA 7062103)
Company Secretaries
Petaling Jaya
May 29, 2015

(continued)

Notes:
1. A member of the Company entitled to
attend and vote at a general meeting of
the Company is entitled to appoint not
more than two (2) proxies to attend, vote
and speak on such member’s behalf. A
proxy may but need not be a member
of the Company and the provisions of
Section 149(1)(b) of the Companies Act
1965 shall not apply to the Company.
There shall be no restriction as to the
qualification of the proxy.
2. Where a member of the Company is
an exempt authorized nominee which
holds ordinary shares in the Company
for multiple beneficial owners in one (1)
securities account (“Omnibus Account”),
there is no limit to the number of proxies
which the exempt authorized nominee
may appoint in respect of each Omnibus
Account it holds.
3. The instrument appointing a proxy shall:
(i) in the case of an individual, be
signed by the appointer or by his/
her attorney; and
(ii) in the case of a corporation, be
either under its common seal or
under the hand of an officer or
attorney duly authorised.
4. Where a member appoints more than
one (1) proxy, the appointment shall
be invalid unless the member specifies
the proportion of the shareholdings to
be represented by each proxy in the
instrument appointing the proxies.
5. The instrument appointing the proxy
must be deposited at the office of the
office of the Company’s Share Registrar,
Tricor Investor Services Sdn Bhd at Level
17, The Gardens North Tower, Mid Valley
City, Lingkaran Syed Putra, 59200 Kuala
Lumpur, not less than 48 hours before
the time appointed for holding the
meeting or adjourned meeting or in the
case of a poll, not less than 24 hours

121

> DKSH Holdings (Malaysia) Berhad: Annual Report 2014

Notice of Annual General Meeting

before the time appointed for the taking
of the poll; otherwise the instrument of
proxy shall not be treated as valid and
person so named shall not be entitled
to vote in respect thereof. Only original
copies of the duly executed form of
proxy are acceptable.
6. The lodging of a form of proxy does not
preclude a member from attending and
voting in person at the meeting should
the member subsequently decide to do
so.
7. For the purpose of determining members
who shall be entitled to attend the 23rd
AGM, only the Company’s members
whose names appear in the Record of
Depositors of the Company maintained
by Bursa Malaysia Depository Sdn Bhd on
June 18, 2015 shall be entitled to attend
the said meeting or appoint proxies to
attend, vote and speak on their behalf.
Explanatory Notes
1. Audited Financial Statements and
the Reports of the Directors and
Auditors thereon
The Audited Financial Statements for
the financial year ended December 31,
2014 and the Reports of the Directors
and Auditors thereon will be laid before
the Company at the 23rd AGM for
consideration of the members pursuant
the Companies Act 1965. There is no
requirement for the members to approve
them and hence, the matter will not be
put forward for voting.
2. Re-election of Directors who retire
by rotation pursuant to Article 105
Michael Lim Hee Kiang and Alexander
Stuart Davy are due for retirement
at this Annual General Meeting and
being eligible, have offered themselves
for re-election as Directors of the
Company. The Board has considered the
assessment of the two retiring Directors
who are Independent Directors and is
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satisfied that both will continue to bring
to bear their knowledge, experience
and skills and contribute effectively to
the Board’s discussions, deliberations
and decisions and that they continue
to fulfil the criteria for independence
as prescribed in the Main Market
Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia
Securities Berhad.
3. Election of Directors pursuant to
Article 101
Jason Michael Nicholas McLaren and
Lian Teng Hai who were appointed
as Directors of the Company by the
Board on February 26, 2015 and being
eligible, have offered themselves for
election pursuant to Article 101 of
the Company’s Articles of Association.
Their appointments were based
on the Nominating Committee’s
recommendation after considering
relevant criteria such as their experience,
qualifications and potential contributions
including the needs of the Board namely,
the Board composition, size, structure,
balance, mix of skills and competencies.
The Board has considered and supports
their election.
4. Re-appointment of Auditors
Messrs Ernst & Young (“EY”), the
auditors of the Company have expressed
their willingness to continue in office
as auditors of the Company for the
financial year ending December 31,
2015. The Board has approved the
Audit Committee’s recommendation
that they be retained having considered
relevant feedback on their experience,
performance and independence.
5. Proposed Mandate I for Recurrent
Related Party Transactions of a
Revenue or Trading Nature
The proposed Ordinary Resolution
8, if passed, will renew the authority
obtained at the last Annual General
Meeting in 2014 and allow DKSH Group
to enter into recurrent related party

(continued)

transactions with DKSH Holding Ltd and
its subsidiaries involving the interests of
Directors, major shareholders or persons
connected with the Directors and/or
major shareholders of DKSH Group,
which are of a revenue or trading nature
and necessary for DKSH Group’s day-today operations.
6. Proposed Mandate II for Recurrent
Related Party Transaction of a
Revenue or Trading Nature
The proposed Ordinary Resolution 9, if
passed, will renew the authority obtained
at the last Annual General Meeting in
2014 and allow DKSH Group to enter
into recurrent related party transactions
with Lembaga Tabung Angkatan Tentera
involving the interests of Directors, major
shareholders or persons connected with
the Directors and/or major shareholders
of DKSH Group, which are of a revenue
or trading nature and necessary for
DKSH Group’s day-to-day operations.
Further information on the Proposed
Mandate I and Proposed Mandate II is
set out in the Circular to Shareholders
dated May 29, 2015 which is despatched
together with the Company’s Annual
Report 2014.
Statement accompanying notice of
Twenty-Third Annual General Meeting
(pursuant to Paragraph 8.27(2) of the
Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa
Malaysia Securities Berhad)
The individuals who are standing for election
as Directors are as follows:
(i) Jason Michael Nicholas McLaren
(ii) Lian Teng Hai
The profiles of the individuals are set out in
the Directors’ profiles on pages 19 and 20
of this Annual Report and details of their
interests in the shares of the Company are
set out on page 117 of this Annual Report.

Proxy Form
for the Twenty-Third Annual General Meeting

DKSH Holdings (Malaysia) Berhad
(Company No. 231378-A)
No. of Shares held:

CDS Account No.:

I/We ____________________________________________________________________________________________________________
(full name and in capital letters)

NRIC (new and old)/Passport/Company No.: ________________________________ of ________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
(full address)

being a member of DKSH Holdings (Malaysia) Berhad, hereby appoint _________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________ NRIC No. (new and old): ________________________________
(full name as per NRIC and in capital letters)

of ______________________________________________________________________________________________________________
(full address)

and/or ____________________________________________________ NRIC No. (new and old): ________________________________
(full name as per NRIC and in capital letters)

of ______________________________________________________________________________________________________________
(full address)

or failing him/her, the Chairman of the Meeting as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Twenty-Third Annual General
Meeting of the Company to be held at Ballroom 2, Level 2, Pullman Kuala Lumpur Bangsar, No. 1 Jalan Pantai Jaya, Tower 3, 59200
Kuala Lumpur on Thursday, June 25, 2015 at 10.00 a.m. or at any adjournment thereof. I/We indicate with an “X” in the spaces below
how I/we wish my/our vote to be cast:
No.
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.

Resolutions

For

Against

To approve the payment of a final single tier dividend of 9.5 sen per share for the
financial year ended December 31, 2014.
To approve the payment of Directors’ fees.
To re-elect Michael Lim Hee Kiang as Director of the Company.
To re-elect Alexander Stuart Davy as Director of the Company.
To elect Jason Michael Nicholas McLaren as Director of the Company.
To elect Lian Teng Hai as Director of the Company.
To re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young as Auditors of the Company.
To approve the renewal of the Proposed Mandate I for Recurrent Related Party
Transactions of a revenue or trading nature.
To approve the renewal of the Proposed Mandate II for Recurrent Related Party
Transactions of a revenue or trading nature.

✄

Subject to the abovestated voting instruction, my/our proxy/proxies may vote or abstain from voting on any resolutions as he/she may
think fit.
The proportions of my/our shareholdings to be
represented by my/our proxies are as follows:
First Proxy
__________________________________________________________
No. of shares: __________________________
Signature of Member/Common Seal (if Member is a Corporation)
Percentage: __________________________ %
Second Proxy
Dated this _____________ day of ___________________ , 2015.
No. of shares: __________________________
Percentage: __________________________ %

Notes:
1. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a general meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint not more than two (2) proxies
to attend, vote and speak on such member’s behalf. A proxy may but need not be a member of the Company and the provisions of Section 149(1)
(b) of the Companies Act 1965 shall not apply to the Company. There shall be no restriction as to the qualification of the proxy.
2. Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorized nominee which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple beneficial owners
in one (1) securities account (“Omnibus Account”), there is no limit to the number of proxies which the exempt authorized nominee may appoint
in respect of each Omnibus Account it holds.
3. The instrument appointing a proxy shall:
(i) in the case of an individual, be signed by the appointer or by his/her attorney; and
(ii) in the case of a corporation, be either under its common seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.
4. Where a member appoints more than one (1) proxy, the appointment shall be invalid unless the member specifies the proportion of the shareholdings
to be represented by each proxy in the instrument appointing the proxies.
5. The instrument appointing the proxy must be deposited at the office of the office of the Company’s Share Registrar, Tricor Investor Services Sdn
Bhd at Level 17, The Gardens North Tower, Mid Valley City, Lingkaran Syed Putra, 59200 Kuala Lumpur, not less than 48 hours before the time
appointed for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting or in the case of a poll, not less than 24 hours before the time appointed for the taking
of the poll; otherwise the instrument of proxy shall not be treated as valid and person so named shall not be entitled to vote in respect thereof.
Only original copies of the duly executed form of proxy are acceptable.
6. The lodging of a form of proxy does not preclude a member from attending and voting in person at the meeting should the member subsequently
decide to do so.
7. Only the Company’s members whose names appear in the Record of Depositors on June 18, 2015 shall be entitled to attend the said meeting or
appoint proxies to attend, vote and speak on their behalf.

Fold this flap for sealing

Then fold here

Affix
Stamp

The Share Registrar of
DKSH Holdings (Malaysia) Berhad (231378-A)
Tricor Investor Services Sdn Bhd
Level 17, The Gardens North Tower
Mid Valley City, Lingkaran Syed Putra
59200 Kuala Lumpur
Malaysia
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Making
business
partners grow

Resilient
Unique
Scalable

As the No. 1 of Market Expansion Services provider in Malaysia,

Well-diversified, unique and scalable, our business is resilient and difficult to replicate,

we help companies to grow their business in new and existing markets.

resulting in strong barriers to entry and exit. Our diversity is broad in terms of industries,
markets, products, services and business partners serviced and forms the foundation of
our continuing sustainable and profitable growth. The majority of our products we
handle are close to the daily needs of the people in the markets where we are active,
contributing to the resilience of our business model.
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